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Cover Image:  
The Melbourne Brain Centre, 
officially opened on 17 October 
2011, is the largest neuroscience 
research centre in the southern 
hemisphere. 

Across three sites, it hosts  
700 staff investigating a broad 
range of conditions affecting the 
brain, including multiple sclerosis, 
stroke, Alzheimer’s disease, 
Parkinson’s disease, trauma, 
depression and anxiety, epilepsy 
and motor neuron disease. 

Home to University of Melbourne 
neuroscientists, the Florey 
Neuroscience Institutes, the 
Mental Health Research Institute, 
and partnering with Royal 
Melbourne Hospital and Austin 
Health, the $225 million complex 
is playing a key role in attracting 
leading scientists to Australia 
and retaining talented Australian 
researchers on home turf.

Sculptor Christine O’Loughlin’s Cultural  
Rubble (1993) graces the façade of The Ian 
Potter Museum of Art at the University of 
Melbourne, creating a dynamic juxtaposition 
with other Swanston Street architectural styles.

printed on  
recycled paper
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CHANCELLOR’S LETTER

The Hon Peter Hall MLC 
Minister for Higher Education and Skills  
2 Treasury Place 
EAST MELBOURNE Vic 3002

13 April 2012

Dear Minister

In accordance with the requirements of 
regulations under the Financial Management 
Act 1994, it gives me great pleasure to  
submit for your information and presentation  
to Parliament the Annual Report of the 
University of Melbourne for the year ending  
31 December 2011. The report was approved 
by the University of Melbourne Council at its  
meeting on 14 March 2012.

2011 marked another milestone for the 
University of Melbourne. The graduate 
offering was extended this year to include 
all professional degree programs. Students 
were welcomed for the first time into new 
graduate programs for Medicine, Dental 
Surgery, Veterinary Science, Physiotherapy and 
Optometry. After the first cohort of students 
graduated from new generation undergraduate 
degrees in 2010, many of them moved into 
graduate professional degrees at the University.

The University of Melbourne’s research 
excellence was reinforced in 2011, with the 
Excellence in Research for Australia results 
indicating that 99 per cent of research at 
the University is at or above world standard. 
Underpinning these results has been a 
remarkable performance from researchers 
across all faculties, schools, campuses and 
partners in affiliated institutes. 

Sound management in recent years has 
ensured the University’s strong financial 
position in 2011. I believe Melbourne is 
well placed to continue delivering dynamic 
teaching and learning, world-class research 
and meaningful community engagement in 
the coming years. 

The membership of Council reflects a 
balanced representation of expertise and 
interests so that it may most effectively deal 
with the many educational, business and 
other matters which regularly come before it.

In my first year as Chancellor it was my 
pleasure to lead the Council in its work.  
I look forward to the opportunity to contribute 
further to the University’s success in 2012. 

Yours sincerely 

ElizabEth alExandEr aM 
Chancellor

Chancellor’s letter_1



The University of 
Melbourne is committed 
to being one of the finest 
universities in the world.
As a fine academic institution, Melbourne honours 
its traditional promise to uphold the scholarly values 
of intellectual freedom, honesty, openness and rigour.

As a fine research institution, Melbourne seeks 
to harness the strength, breadth and depth of its 
research to help meet global challenges.

As a fine teaching institution, Melbourne aims 
to attract the brightest student cohorts from 
the widest range of backgrounds, offering an 
outstanding educational experience.

As a public-spirited institution, Melbourne declares 
its intention to make research, student learning, 
and engagement serve public ends. This includes 
taking up pressing societal problems in research, 
producing graduates prepared for responsibility, 
and promoting inquiry and open debate based on 
evidence and reason.

As an internationally engaged institution, Melbourne 
undertakes to work with overseas colleagues 
and students to meet global challenges with 
intelligence, ingenuity, and respect for humanity.

As a university with a strong sense of place, 
Melbourne reaffirms the unique virtues of its 
campus locale, where face-to-face teaching 
remains the norm, where scholars gather from 
across the globe, and where learning communities 
embrace evolving technologies.

Melbourne is a place where great teachers lead 
talented students to open their minds, share wisdom 
and face the great unknowns: a place where each 
new generation can define a future that it values.

THE MELBOURNE viSiON

Image: South Lawn, Parkville campus

The University of Melbourne honours its traditional 
promise to uphold the scholarly values of intellectual 
freedom, honesty, openness and rigour.
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Introduction and overview
2011 was a remarkably successful year for the 
University of Melbourne.

Sustained research and teaching achievements 
culminated in Melbourne being recognised as the 
leading Australian university in the three most 
cited international rankings. Taken together, these 
rankings provide strong endorsement of Melbourne’s 
performance and of the new direction charted by the 
University’s Growing Esteem strategy. 

rEsEarCh and rEsEarCh training
Performance on a number of key research indicators 
confirms the University as a research leader both 
nationally and in the global arena. 

Early in 2011 the Excellence in Research for Australia 
results rated over 99 per cent of Melbourne’s 
research as at or above world standard. University 
of Melbourne research was found to account for 
an astonishing 18 per cent of all Australian research 
output classified as well-above world standard.

Internationally, a series of important rankings 
reinforced the University’s research strength, 
reflecting particularly high standing in the Asia-
Pacific region. Melbourne claimed the top position 
in Australia and a ranking of 60 worldwide in the 
prestigious, research-based Shanghai Jiao Tong 
academic rankings for 2011. These rankings 

also placed the University at number four in the 
Asia-Pacific region. World University Rankings by 
Subject published for the first time this year by 
Quacquarelli Symonds highlight the University’s 
outstanding disciplinary strength. They place 
Melbourne as the Australian leader in many 
subjects across a broad range of disciplines,  
and in the top 20 in the world for most. 

As a public-spirited university, Melbourne is 
concerned to ensure its research benefits society 
in practical ways. Five interdisciplinary research 
institutes established in 2009 provide the focus for 
applying research expertise to key societal issues 
and challenges. 

The institutes provide not only world-class facilities 
but also leadership in areas of strategic importance 
at local and international levels.

2011 was particularly productive for the Melbourne 
Energy Institute. Funding secured during the year 
supports a diverse set of programs in energy 
technology, economics and policy. The new Centre 
for Geological Carbon Storage, a direct geothermal 
energy pilot demonstration program and the Zero 
Carbon Australia project all offer scope for Australia 
to reduce its carbon footprint.

The development of partnerships with external 
organisations is pivotal to the University’s ability 
to extend and share the reach of its knowledge. 
In 2011 a maturing partnership with IBM saw the 
historic opening at the University of IBM’s first 
Australian Global Research and Development 
Laboratory. IBM and University researchers work 
together at the new facility on smarter resource 
and natural disaster management, as well as on 
a project to translate life sciences research into 
clinical applications. During the year a long-standing 
partnership with the CSIRO identified health 
sciences, materials science and water as key 
themes for future research collaboration.

Melbourne’s research capacity has been boosted 
by the completion of significant capital works.  
The $160 million Melbourne Brain Centre at Parkville, 
its partner $44 million Melbourne Brain Centre 
at the Austin Hospital and the new $34.2 million 
Centre for Neural Engineering were all officially 
opened during the year. Each will bring together 
leading neuroscientists to enhance understanding 
and treatment of neurological disorders such as 
Alzheimer’s and Parkinson’s diseases. 

AT A gLANCE

Across campus, wonderful new teaching and 
learning spaces provide flexible, technologically 
advanced environments to support the changing 
ways in which students learn and interact.
Image: The wooden inspiration wall welcomes students, staff, and visitors to the new 
Graduate School of Education building officially opened in Queensberry Street in 2011.
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Internationally, Melbourne participates in 
the sharing of knowledge in many ways – 
through international networks and some 
223 bilateral agreements with universities 
around the world. Long-standing links with 
Timor-Leste were formalised during the year 
through a memorandum of understanding 
with Timor-Leste’s national university, 
Universidade Nacional Timor Lorosa’e. 

Despite a national downturn in international 
education, Melbourne was able to maintain 
international numbers in 2011. The international 
student population of approximately 11 800 
enrolments represented over 28 per cent of 
the University’s total teaching load. 

2011 was an active year for alumni. Over  
18 000 alumni joined in the life of the University 
– mentoring, volunteering, teaching, providing 
internships and employment, and attending 
a rich program of events and reunions. 
Celebrations for the 125th anniversary of 
Dookie Agricultural College and the 150th 
anniversary of the Melbourne School of 
Engineering provided special opportunities 
for alumni to reconnect with the University. 
The year also witnessed the formation of the 
inaugural Alumni Council following a highly 
anticipated election. Having met for the first 
time in December, the Council will tackle a 
comprehensive agenda in 2012. 

The University’s generous external community 
contributed more than $32 million in 2011.

Funding
In the face of challenging global and domestic 
financial and operating environments, 2011 
saw a solid financial result for the University 
of Melbourne. The potential of a second global 
financial crisis applied greater pressure on both 
revenues and costs. While the University’s

 revenues have historically withstood economic 
cycles and a fluctuating Australian dollar, 
the sustained nature of current conditions is 
unprecedented. Increased competition from 
emerging higher education markets added to 
the uncertainty.

Despite these difficulties, Melbourne’s 
commitment to prudent, responsible and 
sustainable financial management, coupled 
with long-term financing and investment 
strategies, saw the University end the year 
with a reasonably robust financial base.  
The University recorded an accounting surplus 
of $88 million and retained its Standard and 
Poors credit rating of AA+. 

It was particularly heartening that in a climate 
which required some universities to reduce 
staff, Melbourne was able to recruit a 
significant number of additional professional 
and academic staff to support a growing 
research and graduate profile. These included 
welcome new academic appointments to 
strengthen offerings in Arts.

nEw ChanCEllor
In April the University bid farewell to 
Chancellor Alex Chernov AO QC as he 
stepped down to become Governor of Victoria. 
An energetic member of Council for two 
decades, his wise and considered advice as 
Chancellor will be greatly missed.

The University welcomes Elizabeth Alexander 
as its 21st Chancellor.

outlook
The pace of change in the higher education 
policy environment is set to continue in 2012, 
with many of the changes to the funding and 
regulatory environment promised in 2011 
moving towards implementation. While the 
Federal Government’s removal of the cap 
on student places will see an increase in the 
number of places offered by many universities 
in 2012, the impact on Melbourne will be 
limited by the University’s decision to maintain 
numbers at their current level. Of greater 
relevance will be the effect of quality assurance 
and accreditation requirements introduced 
by the new Tertiary Education Quality and 
Standards Agency (TEQSA) when it begins 
regulatory functions in 2012. So too will be 
the much anticipated government response to 
the final report of the Higher Education Base 
Funding Review. 

The University of Melbourne will continue 
to advocate for changes to national higher 
education policy settings towards a framework 
that gives universities the autonomy to decide 
their own future and the capacity to deliver 
research and education equal to the best in the 
world. 

In 2012, once again, the University of 
Melbourne will work to fulfil the ambition to 
be one of the finest universities in the world. 

ProFEssor glyn davis 
vice-Chancellor

To ensure the University maintains its 
research momentum, a research commission 
was established in 2010, charged with 
developing a research strategy for the next 
decade. Under the leadership of new Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor (Research), Professor Jim 
McCluskey, the Research Commission has 
considered every aspect of the University’s 
research and research training efforts. 
Responses to a discussion paper released for 
consultation in November will inform a white 
paper early in 2012.

lEarning and tEaChing
In 2008 the University embarked on a journey 
to introduce a new model of education.  
It elected to separate undergraduate degrees 
from intensive graduate-level professional 
education so that students could benefit from 
both breadth and focus.

2011 marked an important milestone in  
the rollout of the new model, with the first 
cohort of New Generation degree students 
completing their bachelor degrees. Of these, 
72 per cent applied for further study at 
Melbourne. This strong graduate demand, 
combined with a 21 per cent increase in 
undergraduate Victorian Tertiary Admissions 
Centre (VTAC) applications for 2012, provide 
encouraging signs that the new degrees 
resonate with students.

The University was also encouraged by the 
continued success of measures to increase 
the number of students from disadvantaged 
backgrounds studying at the University. 

Undergraduate offers to disadvantaged students 
increased by almost 10 per cent, representing 
some 28 per cent of all undergraduate offers. 

At the undergraduate level, four of 
Melbourne’s six new generation degrees 
proved again to be among the 10 most 
popular courses in the VTAC system. 
Measures of student satisfaction indicate 
the new degrees are also delivering 
on expectations. The 2011 Melbourne 
Experience survey recorded satisfaction with 
the quality of the curriculum at Melbourne 
as high and rising, with student satisfaction 
levels above those recorded prior  
to the introduction of the new degrees.

Year by year, education at Melbourne is 
shifting to the graduate level. With the 
first intake of students into new graduate 
programs for Dental Surgery, Medicine, 
Optometry, Physiotherapy and Veterinary 
Science in 2011, all key professional 
programs are now offered at the graduate 
level. Several new masters degrees in 
Engineering and Science were also offered 
for the first time in 2011, with other 
programs developed during the year to 
commence in 2012. By 2014 the University 
will have transformed from a predominantly 
undergraduate university to a university more 
evenly balanced between undergraduate and 
graduate education. 

Across the campus, the stock of wonderful 
new teaching and learning spaces continues 
to grow to meet the needs of the University’s 
changing student population. These spaces 
provide flexible, technologically advanced 
environments, configured to support the 
changing ways today’s students learn and 
interact. Important new facilities for the 
Melbourne Graduate School of Education, the 
Melbourne School of Land and Environment 
and the Melbourne Graduate School of 
Science were opened in 2011. The year also 
saw significant renewal of library spaces. In 
particular, refurbishment of the ground floor 
of the iconic Baillieu Library opened up more 
study space and allowed for innovative new 
ways for library staff to work with students. 

It was gratifying during the year to see plans 
to strengthen the Victorian College of the 
Arts come to fruition. Both the Victorian 
and Federal Governments delivered on 
promises to increase funding. Extensive 
curriculum development in the Faculty of the 

Victorian College of the Arts and Melbourne 
Conservatorium of Music will see a flagship 
Bachelor of Fine Arts offered for the first 
time in 2012, along with a Master of Music 
(Opera Performance) and Master of Music 
(Performance Teaching).

EngagEMEnt
Engagement is a core University activity 
capturing the interaction between the 
University and its many communities within 
Australia and beyond. Along with a mandate 
to build strong knowledge partnerships, the 
University’s engagement strategy directs a 
focus on community outreach, international 
programs, interaction with alumni and 
advancement activity.

Each year Melbourne encourages the 
community to debate key public issues 
through a series of conferences, seminars, 
lectures and other wide-ranging public 
programs. In 2011, the University’s second 
biennial Festival of Ideas proved a resounding 
success. A prominent international guest list 
explored the theme ‘The Pursuit of Identity: 
Landscape, History and Genetics’, drawing 
more than 8000 visitors to the campus.  
A further 6000 people followed the festival  
by live web streaming in 15 countries.

Community links were strengthened in other 
ways through new agreements with the newly 
formed Kaiela Institute in the Goulburn Valley 
and with the Carlton community.

We will continue to advocate for changes to national higher education 
policy that will give universities the autonomy to decide their own future 
and deliver research and education equal to the best in the world.

AT A gLANCE
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Image: Internationally acclaimed Indigenous soprano 
Deborah Cheetham stars in the premiere of  
Pecan Summer, Australia’s first Indigenous opera. 
Picture © Jorge de Araujo 

My aim is for the  
Wilin Centre to 
continue to shine  
a light on Indigenous 
achievement and 
artistic expression.
Deborah Cheetham 
Head of the Wilin Centre for Indigenous 
Arts, Faculty of the VCA and MCM

In September 2011, internationally acclaimed 
Indigenous soprano Deborah Cheetham 
was appointed Head of the Wilin Centre for 
Indigenous Arts.

An intrinsic and important part of the Faculty of 
the VCA and MCM, the Wilin Centre supports 
the Faculty’s Indigenous students and plays a 
central role in encouraging students, staff and 
the public to celebrate and engage with diverse 
Indigenous arts and communities.

Ms Cheetham is a world-renowned operatic 
singer and actor, the author of acclaimed play 
White Baptist Abba Fan, and composer and 
director of Australia’s first Indigenous opera 
Pecan Summer. Since her debut in 1997  
Ms Cheetham has performed throughout 
Australia as well as in the United States, 
Europe, the United Kingdom and New Zealand.

Ms Cheetham’s depth and breadth of 
experience has informed new Wilin Centre 
policy and program benchmarks and opened 
up a range of artistic prospects for Indigenous 
students. Already, current students and alumni 
from the VCA and MCM have joined the Pecan 
Summer cast. 

Professor Barry Conyngham, Dean of the 
Faculty of the VCA and Music, identifies  
Ms Cheetham as “an inspirational role model 
to aspiring Indigenous performers”.

For Ms Cheetham, her new role is both a 
challenge and an honour. “The Wilin Centre 
is a vibrant hub for Indigenous arts practice,” 
she says. “My aim is for it to continue to shine 
a light on Indigenous achievement and assist 
Indigenous men and women find pathways to 
their chosen field of artistic expression.”

A VOICE FOR INDIGENOUS ARTSFIVE-YEAR STATISTICS

CATEGORY 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Median ENTER 94.7 93.9 94.1 93.9 93.1

Student enrolments (EFTSL)

Total load (EFTSL)  34,677  35,474  35,886  36,619  36,856 (est) 

Research higher degree  3,141  3,167  3,175  3,216  3,119 

Postgraduate coursework  5,947  6,742  7,402  8,289  9,735 

Undergraduate  25,589  25,565  25,309  25,114  24,002 

% Female enrolment 55.9% 55.3% 54.3% 55.2% 55.0%

International load (EFTSL)  9,385  9,895  10,130  10,143  10,161 

% International 27.1% 27.9% 28.2% 27.7% 27.6%

DEEWR funded including RTS  n/a  21,678  22,342  22,887  23,104 

Award completions

Research higher degree (excl Higher Doct) 732 720 775 727 776 (est)

Graduate Coursework  4,471  4,512  4,993  4,440  6,155 

Undergraduate  7,995  8,038  8,231  7,726  8,566 

Total  13,198  13,270  13,999  12,893  15,497 

Staff (FTE) (at 31 March, including casuals and excluding TAFE)

Academic (all)  3,250  3,326  3,375  3,405  3,417 

Professional (all)  3,804  3,964  3,993  3,913  4,210 

Total  7,054  7,289  7,368  7,318  7,627 

Student:staff ratio 

T&R faculty staff 17.7 18.1 17.7 18.4 18.7

All academic faculty staff 10.8 10.8 10.8 10.9 11.0

Research expenditure ($ million) 562 (est) 708.8 738.0 (est) 812.9 844.0 (est)

Research performance indicators

Research income ($ million) 309.0 382.5 337.0 357.0 375.2 (est)

Research publications  3,909  4,317  4,456  4,271 4,300 (est)

Research load (EFTSL)  3,141  3,167  3,186  3,216  3,119 

Research completions (eligible)* 732 720 775 727 776

Financial data ($ million)

Total income  1,511.9  1,530.6  1,570.2  1,700.5 1,800.4

Total Expenditure (Excl Income Tax)  1,353.8  1,776.3  1,552.9  1,642.8 1,711.5

Net result before income tax  158.1 –254.7  17.3  57.7 88.9

Net result after income tax  157.7 –245.7  17.3  57.6 88.9

Sources of income (%)

Australian Government recurrent financial assistance** 21.0 22.4 23.1 22.2 22.4

Other Australian Government financial assistance*** 17.3 24.0 19.6 21.1 22.6

HECS-HELP (Government and student payments) 7.1 7.6 7.9 7.7 7.5

State Government financial assistance 2.0 3.3 2.7 3.4 2.5

Fees and charges and other income 31.6 32.8 32.1 32.7 33.2

Investment income 16.7 5.5 9.6 6.4 7.3

Grants, donations and bequests 4.3 4.4 5.0 6.5 4.5

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

* Eligible completions means those included in RTS formula, excludes Higher Doctorates by publication.

** Includes funding for the Commonwealth Grants Scheme, Joint Research Engagement Program, Research Training Scheme, Research Infrastructure Block Grants and 
Sustainable Research Excellence in Universities.

*** Includes FEE-HELP

A voice for Indigenous arts_98_Five-year statistics



CounCil aPPointEEs

Mr ross 
McPhErson 
LLB (Hons) Melb. LLM 
Lond. FAIM FAICD 
Appointed 1 January 
2010. Fields of 
experience: Law, 

business and media. Executive Chairman, 
McPherson Media Group. Member of the 
Board of McPherson Newspapers Pty Ltd and 
subsidiary companies, including Waterwheel 
Press Pty Ltd. Convenor of FoodBowl 
Unlimited Inc. Chair of Goulburn Valley Health 
Foundation. Member of the Global Foundation 
Inc Advisory Council. Director of the Pacific 
Area Newspaper Publishers’ Association.  
No significant financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

dr virginia 
Mansour 
MBBS Melb.  
PhD Monash 
Appointed 9 July  
2007. Re-appointed  
1 January 2011.  

Field of experience: Medical research and 
research ethics. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

thE hon JustiCE 
John EriC 
MiddlEton 
LLB (Hons) Melb.  
BCL (Hons) Oxon. 
Appointed 9 January 
2011. Field of 

experience: Law. Appointed as Justice of the 
Federal Court of Australia in 2006, Deputy of 
the Australian Competition Tribunal in 2009. 
Presidential Member of the Administrative 
Appeals Tribunal in 2010. Director, National 
Judicial College of Australia. Board member,  
The Victorian Bar Foundation.  
No significant financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

Mr Martyn MyEr 
ao 
AO BEng Swinburne 
MEngSc Monash 
MScM MIT 
Appointed 17 February  
2009. Field of 

experience: Business and not-for-profit. 
President of The Myer Foundation. Chairman 
of The Myer Family Company Holdings Ltd. 
Director of the Cranlana Programme. Chairman 
of CogState Ltd. Board Member of the 
Melbourne Theatre Company. Founding Council 
member of the Royal Institution of Australia. 
No significant financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

Ms Eda ritChiE 
GDipBus Monash  
AMusA  
First appointed  
13 September 2004. 
Re-appointed  
1 January 2009.  

Field of experience: Business and community. 
Trustee of RE Ross Trust. Director of 
Melbourne University Publishing Ltd,  
Hillview Quarries Pty Ltd, Moyne Health, and 
Port Fairy Spring Music Festival. Chair of the  
VCA Foundation. Board member of IPMOA.  
No significant financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 30 June 2012

thE hon david 
whitE 
BCom BA MBA Melb.  
FCPA 
First appointed 1 March 
2000. Re-appointed  
1 January 2009.  

Field of experience: Accounting and 
government. Previously a member of Victorian 
State Parliament holding a Ministerial Portfolio.  
No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 30 June 2012

thrEE PErsons ElECtEd by 
and FroM thE staFF oF thE 
univErsity. 

ElECtEd by thE ProFEssors 
ProFEssor glEnn 
bowEs  
MBBS PhD Monash 
GradCertMgt Monash  
FRACP 
Elected 1 January 
2008. Re-elected 

1 January 2010. Field of experience: 
Development of child and adolescent health 
policy at state and national levels. Director of 
the Board of Management, Mentone Grammar 
School. President of the Board of Directors, 
Lord Somers Camp and Power House. Board 
Chair of Northern Health. No directorships or 
significant financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 30 June 2012

ElECtEd by thE aCadEMiC staFF, 
othEr than ProFEssors

dr FrEdErik 
vErvaEt 
PhD Ghent 
Elected 1 January 
2010. Field of 
experience: Education, 
humanities, ancient 

history. Member of the Classical Association  
of Victoria. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 30 June 2012

ElECtEd by thE ProFEssional staFF
Ms Marian 
sChoEn 
BA LLB Tas. MAA 
UNSW LLM Melb. 
MTEM Melb.  
Elected 1 January 
2011. Field of 

experience: Law, public sector and university 
administration. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2013

two PErsons ElECtEd by and 
FroM thE studEnts EnrollEd  
at thE univErsity For a  
two-yEar tErM oF oFFiCE 

Mr Joshua 
andErson 
Elected to Council by 
and from all students. 
No directorships or 
significant financial 
interests declared.  

Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

Mr MiChaEl 
griFFith 
BA LLB (Hons) Melb. 
Elected to Council  
by and from  
students enrolled  
in a higher degree.  

No directorships or significant financial 
interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

COUNCiL MEMBERSHiP 2011

Council is the governing body of the University of Melbourne and has oversight of 
the entire direction and superintendence of the University. Council was appointed 
pursuant to the Melbourne University Act 1958 and continued from 1 July 2010 
under the terms of the new University of Melbourne Act 2009.

Mr riChard bolt 
BElectEng SAIT 
MPubPol&Man 
Monash 
Appointed  
9 November 2011. 
Field of experience: 

Business and government. Secretary, 
Department of Education and Early Childhood 
Development. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared.  
Term of office ended 31 December 2011

JustiCE susan 
CrEnnan  
AC (Deputy Chancellor) 
BA Melb. LLB Syd. 
PGDipArts Melb. 
First appointed 2003. 
Re-appointed 5 May 

2009. Field of experience: Law. Appointed to 
the High Court of Australia in November 2005. 
Served as a Commissioner of the Human Rights 
and Equal Opportunity Commission. First female 
president of the Australian Bar Association.  
No significant financial interests declared. 
Term of office expiring 30 June 2012

Mr robErt 
Johanson 
(Deputy Chancellor) 
BA LLM Melb.  
MBA Harv. 
Appointed 6 March 
2007. Elected Deputy 

Chancellor 8 April 2011. Field of experience: 
Banking and finance. Chairman of Bendigo and 
Adelaide Bank Limited. Director of Rural Bank 
Ltd, Grant Samuel Group Pty Ltd, and The 
Robert Salzer Foundation Ltd. No significant 
financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

JudgE irEnE 
lawson 
LLB Melb. 
Appointed 23 October 
2001. Re-appointed 
15 April 2008. Field of 
experience: Law and 

government. No directorships or significant 
financial interests declared.  
Term of office ended 30 June 2011

Mr tony PEakE 
BBus RMIT FCA 
Appointed 5 May 2009. 
Field of experience: 
Business and 
government. Managing 
Partner Melbourne at 

PwC. Director of Melbourne Festival. Director 
of Methodist Ladies’ College. Chairman of MU 
Student Union Limited. Advisor to Trustees of 
Marian and EH Flack Trust. In relation to financial 
interests, refer to p39 of Financial Statements.  
Term of office expiring 30 June 2012

Mr John wilson 
BCom (Hons) Melb. 
CA CPA FFin 
Appointed 23 March  
2010. Field of 
experience: Business 
and accounting.  

Non-Executive Director of the Royal Victorian 
Eye and Ear Hospital and Chairman of the 
Hospital’s Audit Committee. No significant 
financial interests declared.  
Term of office expiring 31 December 2012

CounCil aPPointEEs

thE ChanCEllor (from 8 April 2011)

Ms ElizabEth alExandEr  
AM BCom Melb. FAICD FCA FCPA  
Appointed to Council 2 October 2004.  
Re-appointed 15 April 2008. Elected Deputy 
Chancellor 1 January 2011. Elected Chancellor 
8 April 2011. Field of experience: Business and 
accounting. Chair of Dexus Wholesale Property 

Ltd and a director of the Dexus Property Group and Medibank.  
Chair of CSL Ltd until 20 October 2011. National President of the 
Winston Churchill Memorial Trust. First female National President  
of CPA Australia and the Australian Institute of Company Directors.   
In relation to financial interests refer to p39 of Financial Statements.

thE viCE-ChanCEllor

ProFEssor glyn davis  
AC BA NSW PhD ANU FASSA FIPAA 
Appointed Vice-Chancellor on 10 January 
2005. Chair of Universitas 21, Chair of 
Universities Australia. Director of the Australia 
and New Zealand School of Government 
and the Grattan Institute. Member of the 

Supervisory Board of the Menzies Centre for Australian Studies 
(London). Ex-officio member of the University’s companies and 
controlled entities. No significant financial interests declared. 

thE ChanCEllor (to 7 April 2011)

thE hon alEx ChErnov  
AO QC BCom LLB (Hons) Melb. 
Appointed to Council 1 January 1982. Elected 
Deputy Chancellor 8 March 2004, re-elected  
1 January 2008. Elected Chancellor 10 January 
2009 until 31 December 2010. Re-elected 
Chancellor 1 January 2011. Resigned 7 April 2011. 

Positions held: Chair of the Victorian Bar. President of the Law Council of 
Australia. Vice-President of Law Asia. Member of Council of Presbyterian 
Ladies’ College. Chair of Australian Motor Sport Court of Appeal.  
Judge of the Court of Appeal of the Victorian Supreme Court. Conducts 
Mediations and Arbitrations. No significant financial interest declared.

PrEsidEnt oF thE aCadEMiC board

ProFEssor ron sloCoMbE 
BVSc (Hons) Melb. MS Michigan State U  
PhD Michigan State U Dip ACVP MACVS 
Appointed ex-officio member of Council  
1 January 2011 as the elected President of the 
Academic Board for a term of office ending 
on 31 December 2011. Director of University 

College Council. No significant financial interests declared.
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ChiEF FinanCial oFFiCEr
The Chief Financial Officer 
superintends  
and manages the finances and 
financial reporting obligations 
of the University in accordance 
with the policies of Council,  
the law, and applicable 
accounting  
standards and practices.

univErsity sECrEtary
The University Secretary 
is secretary to Council and 
Senior Executive and has 
responsibility for the official 
records and  
other duties as defined in the 
Statutes.

dEans
The Deans are appointed 
by Council and are the most 
senior officers in faculties and 
graduate schools. They are 
responsible for the execution 
of University and local policies 
in relation to education, 
research and administration 
of their faculty or graduate 
school and are accountable  
for their financial affairs.

sEnior ExECutivE
Senior Executive is the 
University’s  
principal management 
committee.

The Committee exercises 
authorities in relation to 
matters delegated to it by 
the Vice-Chancellor. Its 
membership comprises the 
Vice-Chancellor, President of 
the Academic Board and other 
senior officers with significant 
program or budget division 
accountability and associated 
authorities,  
including Deans.

The Committee is responsible 
for overseeing the 
development of University 
planning and budgeting and for 
monitoring performance and 
plans against budgets.  
Its activities and decisions are 
reported, where appropriate, 
to Council through  
the Vice-Chancellor and to 
the Academic Board through 
the President of the Academic 
Board.

deputy vice-Chancellor 
(university affairs) 
Professor warren bebbington

deputy vice-Chancellor 
(research) 
Professor James McCluskey

senior vice-Principal 
Mr ian Marshman

Chief Financial Officer

University Secretary
Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Graduate Research)

Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Research)

Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Research Collaboration)

Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Research Partnerships)

* Structure as at 31 December 2011

Provost
The Provost is the senior 
academic officer of the 
University and a Deputy Vice-
Chancellor and has responsibility 
for achieving the University’s 
objectives within the context 
of the University’s Growing 
Esteem strategy. 

The Provost is responsible 
for the coordination and 
superintendence of all academic 
programs and student services 
and provides leadership 
to Deans so as to foster 
collaboration and promote 
congruence with the goals of 
the University.

dEPuty viCE-
ChanCEllors,  
Pro viCE-ChanCEllors
Deputy Vice-Chancellors 
and Pro Vice-Chancellors 
exercise leadership and 
general superintendence 
over the particular areas 
of the University indicated 
by their titles. The elected 
President and Vice-President 
of the Academic Board are 
appointed by Council as Pro 
Vice-Chancellors with specific 
responsibilities in relation to 
academic governance and 
quality assurance of academic 
programs.

sEnior viCE-PrinCiPal
The Senior Vice-Principal 
is accountable to the Vice-
Chancellor and Council for 
the overall management and 
administration of the University, 
including financial and physical 
resources, human resources, 
business affairs, legal matters 
and  
strategic planning.

SENiOR OffiCERS*

vice-Chancellor and Principal 
Professor glyn davis  

deputy vice-Chancellor 
(global Engagement) 
Professor susan Elliott

Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(International)

Provost and deputy 
vice-Chancellor 
Professor John dewar

Pro Vice-Chancellor 
(Participation and 
Engagement)

deputy vice-Chancellor 
(academic) 
Professor Philippa Pattison

viCE-ChanCEllor and 
PrinCiPal
The Vice-Chancellor and 
Principal is the Chief Executive 
Officer of the University. 
Appointed by Council, the 
Vice-Chancellor is responsible 
for the effective management 
and administration of the 
University and may exercise 
any of the powers of Council 
necessary for, or incidental to, 
the proper administration of 
the University.
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othEr sEnior oFFiCErs
head of university services 
Ms linlEy Martin 
BSc Adel. MSc Adel. DipCompSc Adel. 
(until 8 August 2011)

Chief Financial officer 
Mr allan tait  
BSocSci (Hons) Birm. ACA ACE&W

Chief Marketing officer 
Mr PatriCk FrEEland-sMall 
BA GDipAppPsych Monash MAPsS GAICD 
FAMI

vice Principal (advancement) 
Ms suE CunninghaM 
BA Hons Middx, MA Oxon 
(from 18 July 2011)

Executive director (admissions) 
Ms CarMEl MurPhy 
BBus (Acct) RMIT

Executive director (Finance and Planning) 
Mr MiChaEl bEaton-wElls 
BA LLB Melb. MMktg MBS 
(to 4 October 2011)

Executive director (human resources) 
Ms louisE doylE 
BEc (Hons) ANU 
(from 2 May 2011)

Executive director (information 
technology) and Chief information officer 
Mr sEndur kathirgaManathan 
BSc BEng RMIT MBA Monash

Executive director (legal services) 
Ms savEria diMasi  
BA(Econ) (Hons) LLB LLM Melb 

Executive director  
(Property and Campus services) 
Mr ChristoPhEr whitE 
BArch RMIT

Executive director (research) 
dr david Cookson 
BSc (Hons) PhD Monash

Executive director (student services)  
and academic registrar 
Mr nEil robinson 
BA (Hons) Sussex MBA RMIT

Executive director (Melbourne 
Engagement and Partnerships office) 
Mr JErry dE la harPE 
BComm LLB Melb. AFAIM AIAMA

general Counsel 
Mr ChristoPhEr PEnMan 
LLB Syd LLM Lond. GDipNatRes Melb.

university librarian 
Mr PhiliP kEnt 
BA MBA UQ GDipLibSc QIT AALIA

university secretary 
dr ChristoPhEr stEwardson  
BA PhD Melb.

Old Quadrangle, Parkville campus

SENiOR OffiCERS

sEnior lEadErshiP
vice-Chancellor and Principal 
ProFEssor glyn davis aC 
BA NSW PhD ANU FASSA FIPAA

Provost and deputy vice-Chancellor 
ProFEssor John dEwar 
BCL MA Oxon PhD Griff.

deputy vice-Chancellor (academic)  
ProFEssor PhiliPPa Pattison 
BSc PhD Melb. FASSA 
(from 17 May 2011)

deputy vice-Chancellor  
(global Engagement) 
ProFEssor susan Elliott 
MB BS MD Melb. FRACP

deputy vice-Chancellor (research) 
ProFEssor PEtEr rathJEn 
BSc (Hons) Adel. DPhil Oxon. 
(to 28 March 2011)

ProFEssor JaMEs MCCluskEy  
BMedSci MBBS MD W Aust. 
(from 27 March 2011)

deputy vice-Chancellor (university affairs) 
ProFEssor warrEn bEbbington 
MA Queens MMus MPhil PhD CUNY

senior vice-Principal 
Mr ian MarshMan 
BA (Hons) Melb. LLM ANU

Pro vice-Chancellor and  
President of the academic board 
ProFEssor ron sloCoMbE 
BVSc (Hons) Melb. MS PhD Michigan State U 
Dip ACVP MAICD MACVS 

Pro vice-Chancellor and deputy President 
of the academic board 
ProFEssor ruth FinChEr 
BA (Hons) Melb. MA McMaster PhD Clark 
FASSA

Pro vice-Chancellor (graduate research) 
ProFEssor riChard strugnEll 
BSc PhD Monash FASM

Pro vice-Chancellor (international) 
ProFEssor siMon Evans 
BSc Syd LLB Syd PhD Camb.

Pro vice-Chancellor  
(learning and teaching)  
ProFEssor PhiliPPa Pattison 
BSc PhD Melb. FASSA 
(to 16 May 2011)

Pro vice-Chancellor  
(Participation and Engagement)  
ProFEssor riChard JaMEs 
BSc Melb. DipEd Melb. SC MEd DEd Melb.

Pro vice-Chancellor (research) 
ProFEssor lyn yatEs 
BA Melb. MEd La Trobe DipEd Melb.

Pro vice-Chancellor  
(research Collaborations) 
ProFEssor ElizabEth sonEnbErg 
BSc PhD Monash GDipCompSci Melb.

Pro vice-Chancellor  
(research Partnerships) 
ProFEssor JaMEs MCCluskEy 
BMedSc MB BS MD WAust. FRACP FRCPA 
(to 26 March 2011)

ProFEssor Mark hargrEavEs  
BSc Melb. MA BallSU PhD Melb. 
(from 24 September 2011)

dEans
Faculty of architecture, building  
and Planning 
ProFEssor toM kvan 
MA Camb. MArch Calif. PhD Open (UK) AHKIA 
AAIA

Faculty of arts 
ProFEssor Mark ConsidinE 
BA PhD Melb.

Faculty of business and Economics  
ProFEssor MargarEt abErnEthy 
BEc PhD La Trobe

Melbourne graduate school  
of Education 
ProFEssor FiEld riCkards 
BSc MEd Manc. PhD Melb.

Melbourne school of Engineering 
ProFEssor ivEn MarEEls 
ir (electro-mechanical engineering) Ghent  
PhD ANU FIEAust CPEng SMIEEE

Melbourne school of land  
and Environment 
ProFEssor riChard roush 
BSc UC Davis PhD UC Berkeley

Melbourne law school 
ProFEssor MiChaEl CroMMElin ao  
BA LLB (Hons) Qld. LLM PhD Br. Col. 
(to 31 January 2011)

ProFEssor Carolyn Evans 
BA LLB Melb. PhD Oxon. 
(from 1 February 2011)

Faculty of Medicine, dentistry  
and health sciences 
ProFEssor JaMEs angus 
BSc PhD Syd. FAA

Faculty of science 
ProFEssor robErt saint 
BSc (Hons) PhD Adel.

Faculty of veterinary science 
ProFEssor kEnnEth hinChCliFF 
BVSc Melb. PhD Ohio DACVIM

Faculty of the victorian College of the arts 
and Melbourne Conservatorium of Music 
ProFEssor barry ConynghaM aM 
MA (Hons) Syd. DMus Melb. 
(from 28 February 2011)
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Changes in academic  
and professional leaders 
in 2011
Elizabeth A Alexander AM became the 21st 
Chancellor of the University of Melbourne, succeeding 
Alex Chernov AO QC following his appointment as 
Victoria’s 28th Governor. Ms Alexander has served on 
the University Council since 2004 and previously held 
the position of Deputy Chancellor.

Professor John Dewar, Provost since September 
2009, announced his resignation to take up the 
position of Vice-Chancellor of La Trobe University. 
Professor Margaret Sheil, Chief Executive Officer 
of the Australian Research Council, has been 
apppointed Provost and will commence in the 
position in late April 2012. 

Professor James McCluskey was appointed Deputy 
Vice-Chancellor (Research) following the appointment 
of Professor Peter Rathjen as Vice-Chancellor of the 
University of Tasmania. 

Professor Philippa (Pip) Pattison, formerly Pro  
Vice-Chancellor (Academic), was appointed  
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic). 

Professor Keith Nugent was appointed Assistant 
Vice-Chancellor (Major Projects). Professor Bruce 
Singh was appointed Assistant Vice-Chancellor 
(MDHS Projects). 

Professor Barry Conyngham AM commenced his 
appointment as Dean of the Faculty of the Victorian 
College of the Arts and Melbourne Conservatorium 
of Music in February 2011. 

Ms Sue Cunningham was appointed Vice-Principal 
(Advancement). Ms Cunningham was previously 
Director of Development at Oxford University. 

Ms Louise Doyle commenced as Executive Director, 
Human Resources in May 2011. 

In 2011 Lin Martin (Head of University Services) and 
Michael Beaton-Wells (Executive Director, Finance 
and Planning) departed the University. 

viCE-ChanCEllor’s FEllows
The Hon John Brumby, Mr Petro Georgiou,  
Professor Daryl Le Grew AC and Professor Barry 
McGaw AO commenced as Vice-Chancellor’s 
Fellows in January 2011. The fellowships provide 
outstanding individuals with an opportunity to 
engage in academic life and to work on projects of 
value to the University and the wider community.

High-achieving staff
australian rEsEarCh CounCil (arC) 
australian laurEatE FEllowshiPs
Professor Peter Hall (Department of Mathematics 
and Statistics), Professor David Studdert 
(Melbourne Law School and School of Population 
Health) and Professor Stuart Wyithe (School of 
Physics) have been awarded prestigious ARC 
Australian Laureate Fellowships to further their 
research in their respective fields. Professor Hall’s 
research looks to develop new methods in modern 
statistical science, Professor Studdert is developing 
techniques to use caseload data from medico-legal 
agencies to monitor and address risks to health, and 
Professor Wyithe’s research explores the formation 
of the first galaxies. 

national hEalth and MEdiCal rEsEarCh 
(nhMrC) CounCil australia FEllowshiP
Professor Ashley Bush (Mental Health Research 
Institute) was awarded one of six prestigious NHMRC 
Australia Fellowships for his groundbreaking work in 
the diagnosis and treatment of Alzheimer’s disease. 
The fellowship recognises research excellence of 
global significance. 

national hEalth and MEdiCal rEsEarCh 
CounCil (nhMrC) ExCEllEnCE awards
Professor Alan Cowman (Walter and Eliza Hall 
Institute of Medical Research) was granted the 2011 
NHMRC Research Fellowship Achievement Award 
for his research into the pathogenesis of malaria.  
Dr Katherine Kedzierska (Department of Microbiology 
and Immunology) won a Level 2 Biomedical 
Achievement Award for her work on immunity to 
seasonal and pandemic influenza viruses. Associate 
Professor Murat Yucel (Melbourne Neuropsychiatry 
Centre) was awarded a Level 2 Clinical Achievement 
Award for his work on the neural, psychological,  
and pharmacological underpinnings of impulsivity  
and compulsivity.

national hEalth and MEdiCal rEsEarCh 
CounCil (nhMrC) rECognition
University researchers Professor Suzanne Garland 
(Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology) and 
Dr Anthony White (Department of Pathology) were 
recognised in the NHMRC publication, 10 of the 
Best Research Projects 2010 (announced in 2011). 
Professor Garland was acknowledged for her research 
into infectious disease in reproductive health and 
Dr White for his research into neurodegeneration in 
Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease and motor 
neuron disease.

2011 was a landmark year for VCA Master of Visual Arts student Ben McKeown. 
In March he was announced winner of the prestigious Deadly Art Award in 
Victoria’s Indigenous Art Awards, and in May oversaw the installation of the 
Australian Tapestry Workshop’s transformation of his image Spring Street End  
at the State Library of Victoria.

OUR PEOPLE
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PREMIER’S AWARD FOR HEALTH  
AND MEDICAL RESEARCH
Dr Wen Qiu (Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre) 
won the Premier’s Award for Health and 
Medical Research for her groundbreaking 
investigation into how breast and ovarian 
cancers spread.

YOUNG TALL POPPY AWARD
Dr Yin Paradies (Melbourne School of 
Population Health) won one of the prestigious 
Young Tall Poppy Awards for his work on 
social epidemiology.

ICAAC YOUNG INVESTIGATOR AWARD
Dr Benjamin Howden (Honorary Associate 
Professor, Department of Microbiology and 
Immunology) won the American Society 
for Microbiology’s 2011 ICAAC Young 
Investigator Award in recognition of his 
investigation into the problems caused by 
common bacteria strains.

EXCELLENCE IN RESEARCH AND 
TEACHING
Associate Professor Angela Paladino 
(Department of Managing and Marketing) 
was the first non-American to be recognised 
by the US Academy of Marketing Science for 
excellence in research and teaching.

AMERICAN PHYSICAL SOCIETY 
FELLOWSHIPS
Professor Min Chong and Professor Joseph 
Klewicki (Department of Mechanical 
Engineering) were elected as Fellows of the 
American Physical Society (APS).

SCOPUS YOUNG RESEARCHER AWARD
Dr Saffron O’Neill (Melbourne School of Land 
and Environment and National Climate Change 
Adaptation Research Facility) was named the 
United Kingdom Scopus Young Researcher for 
Social Science, awarded by Elsevier and the 
UK/US Fulbright Commission. 

AUSTRALIAN SOCIETY FOR  
LIMNOLOGY MEDAL
Professor Barb Downes (Melbourne School 
of Land and Environment) was awarded the 
Australian Society for Limnology Medal for her 
research into freshwater ecology. 

MARIE CURIE FELLOWSHIP
Dr Hugh Smith (Melbourne School of Land 
and Environment) was awarded the highly 
competitive Marie Curie Fellowship by the 
European Union under the 7th Framework 
Programme for his project ‘Quantifying 
sources and residence times of contaminated 
sediment in human-impacted river basins: an 
integrated approach’.

AUSTRALIAN LEADERSHIP AWARD
Ms Belinda Collins (Senior Development 
Manager in the Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry 
and Health Sciences) won an Australian 
Leadership Award for her advocacy and 
leadership in global health. 

INSTITUTE OF ELECTRICAL AND 
ELECTRONICS ENGINEERS’ (IEEE)  
SCALE 2011 INTERNATIONAL AWARD
Suraj Pandey, Letizia Sammut, Andrew 
Melatos and Rajkumar Buyya, from the 
CLOUDS Lab at the Department of Computer 
Science and Software Engineering and the 
Astrophysics Group in the School of Physics, 
won the Institute of Electrical and Electronics 
Engineers’ SCALE 2011 International Award 
with a cloud computing platform that 
will help map unexplored frontiers of the 
cosmos. The team developed the Cloudbus 
Workflow Engine to analyse data for the 
Laser Interferometer Gravitational-Wave 
Observatory (LIGO), one of the world’s 
largest physics projects. 

Dr Wen Qiu won the 2011 Premier’s Award for Health and Medical Research for her groundbreaking 
investigation into how breast and ovarian cancers spread.

VICTORIA PRIZE AND VICTORIA FELLOWS
The 2011 Victoria Prize was awarded to Professor 
Andreas Strasser (Walter and Eliza Hall 
Institute of Medical Research), who has been 
working in cancer research for over 20 years. 
Mr Liang Chen, Dr Brett Paterson and Ms Jaclyn 
Pearson received Victoria Fellowships.

WOMEN IN SCIENCE FELLOWSHIP
Dr Georgina Such (Melbourne School of 
Engineering) was awarded one of three 
national L’Oréal Australia For Women in 
Science Fellowships. The fellowships assist 
women scientists in the early stages of their 
profession to consolidate their careers and 
rise to leadership positions. Dr Such will use 
the $20 000 award to further her research into 
drug delivery which targets cancer cells. 

WOODWARD MEDAL
Associate Professor Sarah Biddulph 
(Melbourne Law School) and Professor Peter 
Stuckey (School of Computer Science and 
Software Engineering) are the winners of the 
2010 Woodward Medal (announced in 2011). 
Associate Professor Biddulph received the 
Woodward Medal in Humanities and Social 
Sciences for her book Legal Reform and 
Administrative Detention Powers in China. 
Professor Stuckey received the Woodward 
Medal in Science and Technology for his article 
‘Propagation via lazy clause generation’.

The 2011 Medals, announced in early 2012, 
went to Professor Ary Hoffmann (Department 
of Genetics and Zoology), Professor Ivan 
Marusic (Department of Mechanical 
Engineering) and Dr Vincente Pérez de 
León (Department of Spanish at the School 
of Languages and Linguistics). Professors 
Hoffmann and Marusic received the 
Woodward Medals in Science and Technology 
for their contributions to genetics research 
and knowledge about turbulence respectively. 
Dr Pérez de León was awarded the Medal in 
Humanities and Social Sciences for his book 
Cervantes y el cuarto misterio (Cervantes and 
the Fourth Mystery).

ALAN WALSH MEDAL FOR PHYSICS
Associate Professor Robert Scholten was 
awarded the prestigious Alan Walsh Medal for 
Service to Industry by the Australian Institute 
of Physics. 

AUSTRALIAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCE 
AWARDS FOR SCIENTIFIC EXCELLENCE
Dr Bryan Fry (Department of Biochemistry 
and Molecular Biology, Bio21 Institute) was 
awarded the Fenner Medal for research in 
biology, and Dr Alicia Oshlack (Bioinformatics 
Division of the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute) 
received the Ruth Stephens Gani Medal for 
research in human genetics. 

INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR 
DENTAL RESEARCH (IADR) AWARD
Professor Eric Reynolds (Head, Melbourne 
Dental School) won the 2011 IADR Award for 
his work on gum disease. Professor Reynolds’s 
research focuses on the development of 
chairside diagnosis for periodontal disease and 
potential treatment of chronic periodontitis 
through vaccination. This prestigious award 
recognises significant contributions to the field 
of dental research.

NATIONAL ARCHITECTURE PRIZE
Dr Marcus White (Lecturer in Digital Design, 
Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning) 
was named the inaugural National Emerging 
Architect of the Year at the Australian 
Achievement in Architecture Awards. The 
award recognises contributions to community 
activities related to architecture, involvement 
in official Australian Institute of Architects 
activities, and excellence in architectural 
practice, research or education. 

AUSTRALIAN COMMUNICATIONS 
ALLIANCE AND COMMUNICATIONS DAY 
YOUNG ACHIEVERS AWARD
Dr Kate Cornick (Executive Director, Institute for 
a Broadband-Enabled Society) won the inaugural 
2011 Australian Communications Alliance 
and Communications Day Young Achievers 
Award for her outstanding contribution to the 
communications industry in Australia. 

ZOTTERMAN MEDAL
Laureate Professor Graeme Clark AC 
(Foundation Professor of Otolaryngology) 
was awarded the prestigious Zotterman 
Medal by the Swedish Physiological Society 
for his work in developing the multi-channel 
cochlear implant.

AUSTRALIAN MUSEUM EUREKA PRIZE
Professor Alan Cowman, leading a team 
from the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute, 
won the Eureka Prize for Infectious 
Diseases Research. Dr Michael Stewardson 
(Department of Infrastructure Engineering) 
was awarded the Eureka Prize for Water 
Research and Innovation. 

ERASMUS MEDAL
Emeritus Professor Geoffrey Burnstock 
(Department of Pharmacology) was awarded 
the 2012 Erasmus Medal in partnership with 
colleague Tomas Hökfelt (Karolinska Institutet, 
Stockholm) for their pioneering research in 
neuroscience. 

PRIME MINISTER’S PRIZE FOR SCIENCE
Professor David Solomon (Department of 
Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering) was 
awarded the Prime Minister’s Prize for Science 
for his work in developing revolutionary 
polymerisation techniques. Professor Solomon 
is a joint winner with CSIRO Professor and 
Honorary Professorial Fellow Ezio Rizzardo 
(School of Chemistry).

MALCOLM MCINTOSH PRIZE FOR 
PHYSICAL SCIENTIST OF THE YEAR
Professor Stuart Wyithe (Faculty of Science) 
received the 2011 Malcolm McIntosh Prize for 
Physical Scientist of the Year, for his work on 
the physics of the formation of the Universe. 
Professor Wyithe, a theoretical physicist, has 
worked on gravitational microlensing, but more 
recently his work has focused on the evolution 
of the structure of the universe.

AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING HALL  
OF FAME INDUCTIONS
Emeritus Professor Louis Goldberg AO 
(Department of Accounting) was inducted 
into the Australian Accounting Hall of Fame in 
recognition of his services and contributions to 
the industry.

AWARDS FOR TEACHING EXCELLENCE
Ten members of staff were recognised in the 
2011 Awards for Teaching Excellence from the 
Australian Learning and Teaching Council. See 
Teaching Excellence (page 35) in the Learning 
and Teaching chapter for more information. 

QUEEN’S BIRTHDAY HONOURS
Professor Stephen Dinham and Professor 
John Hattie (Melbourne Graduate School of 
Education) received 2011 Queen’s Birthday 
Honours. Professor Dinham, Chair of Education, 
received the Medal of the Order of Australia 
for services to educational research and to 
professional associations. Professor Hattie was 
appointed an Officer of the New Zealand Order 
of Merit for services to education.

COUNCIL OF THE FORUM ON EDUCATION 
ABROAD MEMBERSHIP
Mr Nigel Cossar (Associate Director Global 
Mobility Programs, Office of Admissions) 
was elected to the Council of the Forum on 
Education Abroad. Mr Cossar is the only 
Australian council member.

TOP GLOBAL THINKER
The Hon Gareth Evans (School of Social and 
Political Sciences) was named one of Foreign 
Policy magazine’s ‘Top Global Thinkers of 
2011’ for his contribution towards making 
‘responsibility to protect’ more than an 
academic concept.

VICTORIAN FELLOWSHIP FOR 
INDIGENOUS LEADERSHIP AWARD
Professor Ian Anderson (Director, Murrup 
Barak – Melbourne Institute for Indigenous 
Development) was awarded the 2011 Victorian 
Fellowship for Indigenous Leadership, which 
he will use to further his work in Indigenous 
health and social development.

MELBOURNE PRIZE FOR URBAN 
SCULPTURE
Dr Bianca Hester (VCA School of Art) was 
awarded the Melbourne Prize for Urban 
Sculpture 2011 for her work a world, fully 
accessible by no living being.

OUR PEOPLE
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High-achieving 
students
ChanCEllor’s PrizE For ExCEllEnCE
In 2011 the Chancellor’s Prize for Excellence in 
PhD research was awarded to:

 ■ Jennifer Anne Green (Languages and 
Linguistics) for Between the earth and the 
air: multimodality in Arandic sand stories

 ■ Jing Fung Tan (Chemical and Biomolecular 
Engineering) for Core cross-linked star 
polymers and their multi-star analogues: 
advancements in their versatility and 
commercial viability

 ■ Hugh Richard Miller (Mathematics and 
Statistics) for Statistical methods for the 
analysis of high-dimensional data

 ■ Jothi Saunthararajah (Melbourne Law 
School) for Legislating illiberalism: law, 
discourse and legitimacy in Singapore

 ■ Michelle Dianne Tate (Microbiology and 
Immunology) for The role of innate immune 
defences in determining the virulence of 
influenza A virus for mice

 ■ Mark Anthony Walterfang (Psychiatry) for 
The specificity of morphological changes of 
the corpus callosum in schizophrenia and 
related major mental disorders.

EuroPEan law studEnts’ 
assoCiation Moot Court 
CoMPEtition win
Melbourne Law School students Philip Aitken 
(Juris Doctor), Glyn Ayres (Juris Doctor), Daniel 
Ari Baker (Bachelor of Laws) and Rebecca 
Koh (Bachelor of Laws) competed with and 
won against teams from around the world in a 
simulated panel hearing focusing on the law of 
the World Trade Organisation.

taiwan Ministry oF EduCation 
huayu EnriChMEnt sCholarshiPs
Prestigious Taiwan Ministry of Education 
Huayu Enrichment Scholarships were awarded 
to seven students from the Asia Institute. Mark 
Crosbie, Thomas Day, Aimee Hall, Christopher 
Pettersen, Raoul Renard, Sarah Rogers and 
David Willson will spend three to six months 
completing courses in Mandarin Chinese at a 
university training centre in Taiwan. 

viCtorian intErnational rEsEarCh 
sCholarshiPs
Three international PhD students have been 
awarded Victorian International Research 
Scholarships. Francesca Cavalieri, from 
Italy, will research drug delivery applications; 
Amanda Lee Jue Er, from Singapore, will 
complete her research into cancer formation; 
and Sara Ohadi, from Iran, will research 
invasive plants. 

studEnts in FrEE EntErPrisE (siFE) 
national ChaMPions
The University of Melbourne’s team of 78 
students was named 2011 National Champions 
at the SIFE Australia National Conference, 
and went on to represent Australia at the 
SIFE World Championships in Kuala Lumpur. 
Through their five projects, students engaged 
with external stakeholders to address social, 
economic and environmental issues and 
develop community outreach programs aimed 
at improving quality of life and standard of living. 

institutE oF ChartErEd 
aCCountants’ studEnt ChallEngE
The Institute of Chartered Accountants’ 
Student Challenge judged participants on their 
ability to find innovative business solutions 
to real-life problems facing the Australian 
Conservation Foundation. Bachelor of 
Commerce students Wan Ning Cheng and 
Yan Jun Tan won the Student Challenge, and 
Vincent Williams and Jane Zhang won the 
First-Year Student Challenge.

PriME MinistEr’s australia asia 
outgoing PostgraduatE and 
undErgraduatE awards
Sunsanee McDonnell (Asia Institute) received 
the Prime Minister’s Australia Asia Outgoing 
Postgraduate Award for her PhD thesis on 
China’s influence in the Greater Mekong 
subregion, with a focus on Sino-Thai relations. 
Wendy Ng (Melbourne Law School) received 
the award for her studies into China’s anti-
monopoly laws. Undergraduate students Irene 
Canmon Han and Ann-Maree Mend Fang Chua 
also received awards. 

sir John Monash sCholarshiPs 2012
University of Melbourne graduates Fergus 
Green (BA, LLB Hons) and Iwan Walters (BA 
Hons) were awarded prestigious Sir John 
Monash Scholarships. The postgraduate 
scholarships recognise excellence and 
leadership and offer graduates the opportunity 
to pursue postgraduate study at an 
international university. 

intErnational Fulbright sCiEnCE 
and tEChnology sCholarshiP
Gus Schrader (Graduate School of Science), 
who is completing a Master of Philosophy in 
Mathematics, was one of only two Australians 
awarded a prestigious International Fulbright 
Science and Technology Scholarship in 2011. 

kEith and ElisabEth MurdoCh 2011 
travElling FEllowshiP
The prestigious Keith and Elisabeth Murdoch 
2011 Travelling Fellowship was awarded to 
Samuel Dunscombe for his research into music 
performance using the clarinet and a laptop 
computer. Mr Dunscombe is completing a 
Master of Music Performance at the Victorian 
College of the Arts.

national sCholarshiP with  
boston Consulting grouP
The Boston Consulting Group’s competitive 
National Scholarship was this year awarded 
to Joel Tito, who is completing a combined 
Bachelor of Laws/Bachelor of Arts as well as 
a Diploma of Modern Languages in Japanese. 

2011 australian intErnational 
ChoPin Piano CoMPEtition
Peter de Jager (Bachelor of Music) beat local 
and international competitors to win the 
prestigious Australian International Chopin 
Piano Competition prize, hosted by the 
Australian National University.

dorCas MCClEan travElling 
sCholarshiP For violinists
Kana Ohashi (Bachelor of Music) competed 
against six of the country’s best violinists 
to win the 2011 Dorcas McClean Travelling 
Scholarship, Australia’s richest violin prize.

global youth MusiC CoMPEtition
Daniel Nistico, classical guitar student at the 
Melbourne Conservatorium of Music, won 
the 2011 Lions Clubs Global Youth Music 
Competition in Seattle, USA.

vogEl litErary award
Writer and PhD candidate, Rohan Wilson, 
won the 2011 Vogel Literary Award, 
Australia’s richest and most prestigious prize 
for unpublished manuscripts, for his first 
novel The Roving Party. The novel has been 
published by award sponsor Allen & Unwin.

indigEnous art award
Postgraduate student Ben McKeown  
(VCA Master of Visual Arts) was announced 
winner of the prestigious Deadly Art Award in 
Victoria’s Indigenous Art Awards.

PEnguin ManusCriPt PrizE
Emily Bitto (PhD Creative Writing) won this 
year’s Penguin Manuscript Prize for her story 
The Strays. Ms Bitto received a cash prize and 
25 hours editorial manuscript development 
assistance with Penguin Group.

viCtorian young australian  
oF thE yEar
Marita Cheng (final-year Mechatronics and 
Computer Science, Melbourne School of 
Engineering) was named 2012 Victorian 
Young Australian of the Year. Ms Cheng is the 
founder of Robogals, an organisation dedicated 
to encouraging girls to pursue careers in 
engineering and technology. She is a national 
finalist in the 2012 Young Australian of the 
Year Award, and was also awarded the Nancy 
Fairfax Churchill Fellowship in 2011. 

OUR PEOPLE

Academy Fellows 2011
academy Fellows 2011

australian academy of humanities hugh anderson 
Fellow of the Australian Centre 
School of Historical and Philosophical Studies, Faculty of Arts

australian academy of science Professor Michael goddard  
Department of Agriculture and Food Systems  
Melbourne School of Land and Environment

australian academy of social sciences Professor Margaret abernethy 
Dean and Professor of Accounting 
Faculty of Business and Economics

Professor sheena reilly 
Department of Paediatrics 
Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health Sciences

Professor Fazal rizvi 
Global Studies in Education 
Melbourne Graduate School of Education

The Peter McPhee Centre in Faraday Street, adjacent to the Parkville campus and named in honour of inaugural Provost Professor Emeritus Peter McPhee,  
provides larger, modern spaces and facilities for students who access services provided by the Academic Skills Unit and International Student Services.
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2011 has been another strong year for 
research and research training, with the 
University continuing its research leadership 
nationally and globally in line with a range of 
indicators. These include the recent Excellence 
in Research for Australia (ERA) initiative, 
competitive grant income and international 
university rankings. 

In 2011, the University also established the 
Research Commission to examine current 
research strategy and to develop a vision for 
research and research training into the next 
decade. 

Research performance
intErnational PErsPECtivE
International rankings in 2011 reaffirmed the 
University’s standing as a leading research 
university. 

 ■ In the Academic Ranking of World 
Universities collated by Shanghai Jiao Tong 
University, the University of Melbourne 
claimed the top position in Australia, and a 
ranking of 60 worldwide (compared with 
62 in 2010). The University has improved 
its ranking by 32 places since the rankings 
began in 2003.

 ■ The University of Melbourne was first in 
Australia and 37 in the world according 
to the Times Higher Education World 
University Rankings. The University was 
the only Australian university to rank in the 
top 34 in all six subject rankings.

 ■ In 2011, the Quacquarelli Symonds World 
University Rankings placed Melbourne 
at 31 in the world (up from 38 in 2010) 
and second in Australia. It was the only 
Australian university to rank in the top 30 
for all five subject rankings.

 ■ The 2011 Performance Ranking of Scientific 
Papers for World Universities by the Higher 
Education Evaluation and Accreditation 

Council of Taiwan placed the University 
of Melbourne at 45 in the world, first in 
Australia, and third in the Asia-Pacific.

national PErsPECtivE
The University maintained its position as a 
leading Australian research university, receiving 
the highest total and individual allocations of 
Federal Government funds awarded on the 
basis of research performance. Since 1996, 
with one exception, the University has ranked 
consistently first or second on all key national 
research indicators (income, publications, 
research higher degree load and completions).

Excellence in Research for Australia (ERA) 
results released in 2011 also affirmed the 
University’s position as one of the leading 
comprehensive research-intensive universities 
in Australia, with over 99 per cent of assessed 
research as being at or above world standard. 
This research accounted for 18 per cent of all 
Australian research output classified as well-
above world standard.

inCoME and ExPEnditurE
In 2011, the University again received the 
highest national allocation ($181.1 million) 
of Federal Government funds – based on 
research performance – from the Research 
Block Grant, which comprised the following 
seven schemes:

 ■ Australian Postgraduate Awards  
($22.1 million)

 ■ Commercialisation Training ($0.8 million) 

 ■ International Postgraduate Research 
Scholarships ($2.2 million) 

 ■ Joint Research Engagement ($37.6 million)

 ■ Research Infrastructure Block Grants 
($30.4 million)

 ■ Research Training ($70.6 million)

 ■ Sustainable Research Excellence  
($17.4 million).

rEsEarCh inCoME
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MElbournE’s PErForManCE against kEy national rEsEarCh indiCators

research income research publications research higher 
degree load

research higher 
degree completions 
(eligible)*

$ million national 
rank

% of 
total

dEst weighted 
score

national 
rank

% of 
total

EFtsl national 
rank

number national 
rank

2011 375.2 (est) n/a n/a 4,300 (est) n/a n/a 3,119 n/a 776 (est) n/a

2010 357 1 11.60% 4,271 3 7.90% 3,216 2 727 2

2009 337 1 12.10% 4,456 1 8.50% 3,175 2 775 1

2008 382.5 1 13.60% 4,317 1 8.60% 3,167 1 720 1

2007 309 2 12.40% 3,909 2 8.20% 3,141 1 732 1

* ‘Eligible completions’ means those included in the RTS formula; excludes Higher Doctorates by publication.
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a global, industry-wide consortium 
created to dramatically improve energy 
efficiency by driving a radical redesign of 
communications networks. 

 ■ The Oral Health Cooperative Research 
Centre (CRC) was launched at the 
Melbourne Dental School in September. 
The Oral Health CRC is a consortium of 
universities, the Federal Government 
and private industry that focuses on the 
challenges of reducing oral diseases and 
disorders and continues the research 
undertaken by its predecessor, the CRC 
for Oral Health Science.

 ■ The Primary Industries Climate Challenges 
Centre (PICCC) – a collaborative venture 
between the University of Melbourne 
and the Victorian Department of Primary 
Industries (DPI) – was launched in 
February. By joining forces through 
PICCC, the University and DPI offer 
new strength in research, development 
and extension. PICCC’s focus will be on 
production, environmental policy and 
social issues at both the enterprise and 
landscape level.

CollaborativE bids
The University of Melbourne was a member 
of a number of successful collaborative bids 
with universities, government and industry 
throughout 2011. Successful bids included: 

 ■ $709 235 in funding over five years through 
the NHMRC Partnership Projects Scheme 
with the support of major collaborator 
Victorian Health Promotion Foundation 
(VicHealth), for research undertaken in the 
Melbourne School of Population Health 
related to the Federal Government Paid 
Parental Leave (PPL) Scheme.

 ■ $1.2 million from the Grains Research and 
Development Corporation for research in 
the Department of Agriculture and Food 
Systems to expand the canola (Brassica 
napus and Brassica juncea) germplasm 
base in Australia through strategic 
collaboration with India and China.

 ■ ARC funding of $460 000 over four years 
for research led by the School of Social 
and Political Sciences and involving Arts 
Victoria, Ilbijerri Theatre Company, Koorie 
Heritage Trust Inc, La Mama Inc, Regional 
Arts Victoria, State Library of Victoria, 
Victorian Aboriginal Education Association 
Incorporated, Victorian Department 
of Education and Early Childhood 
Development, Victorian Health Promotion 
Foundation, and partner universities: 
Deakin University, Royal Holloway 
University of London (UK) and University 
of Sussex (UK). This groundbreaking 
collaboration between researchers, 
leading Indigenous theatre performers and 

industry will produce a series of unique 
verbatim-theatre public performances 
based on archival texts. 

 ■ $3.5 million from the Victorian and Federal 
Governments to the Victorian Organic 
Solar Cell Consortium (VICOSC) led by 
the University of Melbourne. VICOSC 
scientists from the University, CSIRO 
and Monash University have produced 
flexible, plastic solar cells printed with 
a light-sensitive ink to convert sunlight 
into energy. The funding boost will 
allow the development of new materials 
and devices for the printing process, 
enabling production of inexpensive, 
mass- produced solar panels. Industry 
partners included in this collaboration are 
BlueScope Steel, Innovia Films and Robert 
Bosch South East Asia.

Interdisciplinary 
research institutes
In 2009, the University established five 
interdisciplinary research institutes as 
a means of applying its broad research 
expertise to key societal issues and 
challenges. These institutes, together 
with the Bio21 Molecular Science and 
Biotechnology Institute and the Victorian 
Life Sciences Computation Initiative, provide 
world-class facilities and leadership in 
areas of strategic importance locally and 
internationally.

institutE For a broadband- 
EnablEd soCiEty

 ■ The Australian Broadband Application 
Laboratory (ABAL) within IBES was launched 
in September by the Prime Minister, 
the Hon Julia Gillard MP. The laboratory 
provides an environment for businesses 
and organisations to develop and test new 
broadband ideas and service offerings. 

 ■ Ericsson and IBES were awarded the 2011 
Global Telecoms Business Innovation 
Award for Remote Education Innovation 
in recognition of their collaboration in 
developing UniTV. 

 ■ The Victorian Government announced  
$3 million in funding support for the 
growth and development of IBES 
including, in particular, the creation of 38 
new positions over the next three years. 
The combined support by government, 
industry and the University of Melbourne 
of $21 million represents one of the 
largest investments in broadband 
applications research within Australia.

 ■ Google is fostering collaborative research 
at IBES which will drive the development 
of new broadband applications and 
services. Microsoft Corporation 

announced funding of $400 000 through 
the Industry Partner Program, to be used 
as seed funding for new research projects.

MElbournE EnErgy institutE (MEi)
 ■ Interdisciplinary energy research programs 

secured more than $5 million in funding for 
energy-related research. This new funding 
has supported a diverse set of programs in 
energy technology, economics and policy 
including the establishment of the Centre 
for Geological Carbon Storage, a direct 
geothermal energy pilot demonstration 
program, renewable energy systems 
(the Zero Carbon Australia project) and a 
collaboration with Potsdam Institute for 
Climate Impact Research (a joint initiative 
with the Melbourne Sustainable Society 
Institute).

 ■ The Energy Futures Program broadened 
to incorporate a partnership with the 
Grattan Institute.

 ■ The Masters in Energy Systems was 
established in 2011 and will commence  
in 2012.

MElbournE MatErials  
institutE (MMi) 

 ■ With two University of Melbourne 
researchers associated with MMI 
named in the list of Top 100 Materials 
Scientists, the highest citation rate in 
Australia (according to Essential Science 
IndicatorsSM), and over $20 million of 
external research funding, the MMI is a 
leader in materials science in Australia.

 ■ MMI held a national symposium in 
nanomedicine, hosted public talks 
bringing together science, politics and 
economics, and held workshops which 
built links with organisations sharing 
similar research goals. 

 ■ The MMI-CSIRO Materials Science PhD 
Scholarship Program continued to create 
the next generation of cutting-edge 
researchers.

MElbournE nEurosCiEnCE 
institutE (Mni) 

 ■ MNI was integral in guiding a number 
of new initiatives for the University of 
Melbourne in neurosciences and related 
disciplines. 

 ■ A newly opened $34 million facility for 
the Neural Engineering Initiative will 
bring together engineers, biologists and 
physicists to work on multidisciplinary 
research activities encompassing 
bionics, new generation imaging, stem 
cell technologies and computational 
neuroscience. This facility received 
support from State and Federal 
Governments. Also, three state-of-the-art 
neuroscience facilities were opened on 

Research income derives from a range of 
sources. According to the latest comparative 
data available (2010), the University of 
Melbourne received a total of $357 million in 
research income – the highest of any Australian 
university. This was made up of $174.6 million 
from Australian Competitive Grants (also the 
highest nationally), public sector funding of 
$92.3 million, and $79.8 million from industry, 
donations and international support. In addition, 
an amount of $10.3 million was accrued 
from research associated with Cooperative 
Research Centres. 

Expenditure from all sources on research and 
research training in 2011 was an estimated 
$844 million, representing 51 per cent of total 
University expenditure. In a 10-year period, 
research expenditure has more than/nearly 
doubled. 

othEr rEsEarCh PErForManCE 
MEasurEs
Other measures reflecting the strong research 
performance by the University in 2011 include:

 ■ The award of more than $86.1 million in 
National Health and Medical Research 
Council (NHMRC) project and program 
multi-year grants for commencement in 
2012 – the highest national total and an 
increase from $83.1 million in the previous 
year. Melbourne received 107 project 
grants, the most for any institution.

 ■ From the latest rounds of the Australian 
Research Council (ARC) and NHMRC 
Fellowship Schemes (representing seven 

categories), the University received 
a combined total of 92 fellowships. 
University researchers received four 
inaugural ARC Discovery Outstanding 
Researcher Awards and three ARC 
Australian Laureate Fellowships. 

 ■ According to latest available five-year 
data (2007 to 2011) from Thomson 
Reuters Essential Science IndicatorsSM, 
the University has the highest publication 
count (refereed journal articles), citations 
and impact (citations per paper) of any 
research-intensive university in Australia.

Collaborative research
MaJor CollaborativE PartnErshiPs
The development of strong collaborative 
partnerships is a key platform of the 
University’s research strategy. A number 
of major partnerships were developed and 
strengthened in 2011. 

The IBM Research and Development – 
Australia Laboratory, IBM’s 10th research 
laboratory worldwide, and first in Australia, 
opened in October. IBM and University 
researchers collaborate in the laboratory 
on smarter resource and natural disaster 
management. The new laboratory 
strengthens the partnership forged with IBM 
in 2007, and represents the first whole-of-
university relationship for IBM.

For more than 20 years, the University 
and CSIRO have collaborated and 
shared expertise across a large range of 

portfolios. In 2010, more than 170 points of 
interaction were recorded between the two 
organisations. Throughout 2011, CSIRO and 
the University worked together to further 
develop and formalise the partnership in three 
key areas: health sciences, materials science 
and water. 

Building on longstanding links with affiliated 
medical research institutes, the University 
entered into enhanced research collaboration 
agreements with the Bionics Institute, the 
Mental Health Research Institute, and the 
Peter MacCallum Cancer Institute. These 
agreements will enhance the research 
and research training conducted within 
biomedical and clinical sciences at a time of 
increased focus on research performance and 
reputation, and intense competition for the 
best research staff, students and resources. 

othEr CollaborativE highlights 
For 2011

 ■ The Centre for Energy-Efficient 
Telecommunications (CEET) was 
launched by the University in March 2011 
in collaboration with Bell Labs and the 
Victorian Government. CEET research 
focuses on energy-efficient technology 
for the communications industry. 
The collaboration brings together the 
University’s high-quality research into 
telecommunications network infrastructure 
and Bell Labs’s extensive experience 
in managing collaborative research 
projects. The University and Bell Labs are 
members of the GreenTouch™ initiative, 
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Following a worldwide search for an eminent research and medical professional to lead the 
cancer initiative, Professor James Bishop AO was appointed in 2011 as the inaugural head 
of the Victorian Comprehensive Cancer Centre and the University of Melbourne Chair of 
Cancer Medicine.

The Victorian Comprehensive Cancer Centre, which will be located in the heart of the 
Parkville Precinct, will bring together recognised leaders in research, clinical services, 
education and training to establish the largest clinical and research cancer centre in Australia. 

Due for completion in 2015, the Centre will drive the discovery of new treatments, play an 
important role in education and training, attract international investment and assist renewal of 
the clinical and research workforce in Victoria and beyond. 

The University of Melbourne is one of seven partners to participate in the $1 billion project. 
They include the Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, Melbourne Health (which includes the 
Royal Melbourne Hospital), Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre, Royal Children’s Hospital, Royal 
Women’s Hospital, and Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research. 

Professor Bishop was previously the Chief Medical Officer of the Australian Government and 
the Director of Haematology and Medical Oncology at the Peter MacCallum Cancer Centre.

In 2008 he received an Order of Australia (AO) for service to medicine, in the field of cancer 
research and treatment.

Professor James Bishop AO
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and contributed to the new mass 
spectrometry and proteomics facility 
launched in 2011. Stronger links with 
industry and external partners have 
provided enhanced opportunities for 
research sharing and collaboration.

 ■ Plans for the new Science Sub-School, 
which will bring together a unique 
approach to science education and 
interaction between secondary school and 
the University cap, are being developed, 
with completion of this purpose-built 
facility expected for the first term of 2014. 
The Graduate School of Education and all 
science and technology faculties of the 
University will be involved in this initiative, 
which includes support from the Victorian 
Government.

viCtorian liFE sCiEnCEs 
CoMPutation initiativE (vlsCi) 

 ■ The VLSCI, which includes the Life 
Sciences Computation Centre (LSCC) 
and Peak Computing Facility, is enabling 
life scientists to compete globally in the 
rapidly emerging fields of computational 
biology, biomedical imaging, and 
bioinformatics. At the end of 2011, 
oversubscription of resources had 
increased from 50 per cent to 150 per 
cent with most of the projects being of a 
size and scale to match the capacity of the 
VLSCI supercomputers.

 ■ An NHMRC grant of more than $634 000  
was awarded for the complex statistical 
analyses of genome-wide association 
studies related to breast and prostate 
cancers using high-performance 
supercomputing involving the University 
of Melbourne School of Population Health, 
IBM Collaboratory for Life Sciences 
(Melbourne) and the National ICT 
Australia.

intErdisCiPlinary Collaboration
Interdisciplinary collaboration is fostered 
centrally at the University through:

 ■ The Melbourne Research Interdisciplinary 
Seed Funding Scheme, which awarded 21 
proposals a total of $952 835 in support 
for 2012. Over 90 researchers were 
involved in the proposals.

 ■ More than $1.2 million per annum for 
three years through the McKenzie 
Postdoctoral Fellowship Scheme to 13 
outstanding recent doctoral graduates 
with potential to build and lead 
interdisciplinary collaborative research.

 ■ The inaugural University of Melbourne 
Strategic Research Australian Postgraduate 
Awards, resulting in funding of more than 
$850 000 for 36 awards involving 12 
interdisciplinary research initiatives. 

In 2011 the University was involved in over 95 
centres and institutes for research and research 
training, including 15 CRCs serving three broad 
industry sectors, 17 ARC centres (one co-joint 
with the Grains Research and Development 
Corporation) and two NHMRC centres. Funding 
was received in 2011 to establish one CRC and 
two NHMRC centres in 2012.

eResearch
In 2011, the University’s eResearch strategy 
implementation was focused on consolidation 
of expertise in research-oriented Information 
Technology (IT) platforms. The Melbourne 
eResearch Group grew significantly across 
various disciplines. Examples of new 
eResearch activities include:

 ■ Externally funded adrenal tumour 
cancer research platforms (clinical trials, 
biobanking and omics data analysis) as part 
of the €6 million European Network for the 
Study of Adrenal Tumours-Cancer project.

 ■ Urban and built environment research 
platforms through the $20 million 
Australian Urban Research Infrastructure 
Network project (AURIN).

 ■ Real-time river pollution research domains 
through a grant of $573 000 from the 
Victorian Department of Business and 
Innovation (DBI) Broadband Enabled 
Innovation Program (and involving the 
Centre for Aquatic Pollution Identification 
and Management based primarily at the 
University of Melbourne).

These activities are complemented by 
the Research Services component of the 
University IT Services Division and large 
scale computational facilities, Cloud and 
High Performance Computing resources as 
part of the $47 million National eResearch 
Collaboration Tools and Resources (NeCTAR), 
and petabyte data storage solutions. 

The Melbourne eResearch Group has 
contributed to a number of Federal and State 
Government initiatives such as the Inquiry 
into the National Broadband Network, 2011 
Strategic Roadmap for Australian Research 
Infrastructure, and the Victorian DBI Strategic 
Investment Framework into the eResearch 
Roadmap.

Research training
Graduate researchers pursuing higher 
degrees are the lifeblood of a great 
university. Research endeavours benefit 
from the fresh thinking, energy, and talent 
offered by the graduate research community. 
The University’s strong research training 
program contributes to research outcomes, 
increases the University’s profile and 
esteem, and prepares future academic  

staff and the next generation of innovators 
for industry and the public sector.

The most recent comparative data (2010) 
indicates that the University had more than 
4600 graduate researchers, a graduate 
research degree full-time equivalent load of 
3220, and 727 completions (representing  
9.8 per cent of all graduate research 
completions nationally). In 2011, commencing 
graduate researchers at Melbourne were 
supported by more Australian Postgraduate 
Awards (363) and International Postgraduate 
Research Scholarships (37) than those at any 
other institution in the country. Funding from 
the Research Training Scheme ($70.6 million) 
and from the Commercialisation Training 
Scheme ($0.8 million) were both the highest 
nationally.

thE graduatE rEsEarCh ExPEriEnCE
The University continued to improve the 
experience of graduate researchers in 2011.

 ■ A streamlined Graduate Research Degree 
Admissions procedure was introduced 
to improve the application process, 
candidature and scholarship offers for 
prospective graduate researchers.

 ■ The second annual 3 Minute Thesis (3MT) 
competition raised the profile of University 
PhD candidates both on and off campus. 
The grand final was held in front of a live 
audience and was streamed on the web 
through live@Melbourne and the 3MT 
website to more than 2300 viewers from 
11 countries. 

 ■ The Melbourne School of Graduate 
Research (MSGR) and Melbourne 
Research Office offered a new Start of 
Career Researcher workshop in 2011. The 
workshop provided practical advice on 
academic career planning, grant seeking, 
research communication and publishing. 

 ■ 1817 graduate researchers and their 
supervisors took part in University-wide 
professional development programs 
facilitated by MSGR. Highlights for the year 
included the first UpSkills webinar, a new 
collaboration with Vanderbilt University 
on the MSGR Graduate Certificate in 
Advanced Learning and Leadership 
(GCALL), and a 90 per cent increase in staff 
participation in supervisor workshops. 

tiMEly CoMPlEtion
Approximately 65 per cent of students 
commencing a PhD have completed within 
five calendar years. Approximately 65 per 
cent of all graduate researchers commencing 
a Masters by Research or MPhil have 
completed their degrees within three calendar 
years. Timely completion metrics are currently 
under review.
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the Parkville and Heidelberg campuses 
of the University and at the Royal 
Melbourne Hopsital under the umbrella 
of the Melbourne Brain Centre (MBC). 
The centre is expected to house 700 
neuroscientists, a critical mass of talent 
that will place it as one of the five largests 
and most productive neuroscience 
facilities in the world.

 ■ Stem Cells Australia, a $21 million 
ARC-sponsored initiative, was launched 
in November 2011. It will be led by the 
inaugural University of Melbourne Chair 
of Stem Cell Science, and will involve 
national and international researchers. 

 ■ MNI continues to support the Music, Mind 
and Wellbeing Initiative, which emphasises 
the importance of music to human 
consciousness, social fabric and health.

MElbournE sustainablE soCiEty 
institutE (Mssi) 

 ■ MSSI continued to represent sustainability 
themes at the University and to strategically 
foster interdisciplinary research.

 ■ MSSI helped researchers gain $8 million in 
research grants, including a successful bid 
for a CRC (Low Carbon Living), and access 
to invaluable data to inform their research. 
In collaboration with the MEI, MSSI is also 
developing a groundbreaking ‘Land Use 
Plan – Forestry and Agriculture’ for Zero 
Carbon Australia, an initiative of Beyond 
Zero Emissions.

 ■ Key collaborations with Wyndham Council 
and the Western (Municipal) Alliance for 
Greenhouse Action in Victoria are devising 
a scorecard for sustainable urbanisation 
and research in urban expansion. MSSI 
is also fostering collaborative projects 
with Farm Services Victoria (DPI) and has 
embarked on a contractual partnership 
with the Environment Protection Authority 
Victoria to build a strategic research and 
development portfolio.

 ■ MSSI hosted three international 
conferences and 38 public lectures and 
workshops, engaging more than 2000 
people. The ‘Societal Transformation’ 
research program held at the end of 

the year established the University’s 
involvement in this emerging field.

bio21 MolECular sCiEnCE and 
biotEChnology institutE (bio21 
institutE) 

 ■ Bio21’s molecular science and 
interdisciplinary research programs 
received a significant boost through two 
major appointments, which develop 
capability in key areas and strengthen 
research links with departments in the 
Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health 
Sciences, the Faculty of Science, and 
across University research institutes.  
The research programs offered by the 
Bio21 Institute continue to attract top-
quality graduate students who contribute 
to a vibrant research and research training 
environment.

 ■ State-of-the-art platform technologies 
– accessed widely throughout the 
Parkville Precinct – upgraded and 
extended capabilities in nuclear 
magnetic resonance, microscopy, 
biological research and metabolomics 

Dr Slave Petrovski’s groundbreaking research is focused on searching for the genetic causes of epilepsy. A leading geneticist and information systems expert, Dr Petrovski is just one 
of the academics whose work has benefited significantly following the 2011 launch of the IBM Research and Development – Australia Laboratory at the University of Melbourne.
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Image: Zoos Victoria CEO Jenny Gray (left) and Melbourne University Research Fellow 
Siobhan O’Sullivan with Melbourne Zoo’s tree kangaroos. Courtesy Zoos Victoria

Our partnership with the University of Melbourne opens up opportunities for important 
research projects that progress our combined knowledge of animal care in captivity.
CEo JEnny gray 
zoos victoria  
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rECruitMEnt
According to the most recent available data, 
in 2011 the University increased graduate 
research degree commencements by  
4 per cent (to 1019) compared with 2010. 
International commencements increased  
by 5 per cent from 2010 and comprised  
29 per cent of total commencements –  
a 9 per cent increase since 2005. Total 
international enrolments represented 22 per 
cent of the graduate researcher population  
and 2 and 5 per cent increases from 2010  
and 2005 respectively. 

The University reaffirmed its commitment to 
increase the international graduate researcher 
cohort by establishing the International 
PhD Scholarship Fund (IPSF). Beginning in 
2012, the IPSF will support 200 additional 
international PhD and Doctorate by Research 
commencements each year, helping the 
University align its doctoral cohort with  
that of major competitors. 

Planning and 
operations
rEsEarCh CoMMission
In late 2010, the Research Commission 
was established under the leadership of 
the Vice-Chancellor and the Deputy Vice-
Chancellor (Research) to examine the current 
research and research training strategy of the 
University and to develop a vision for the next 
10 to 15 years. 

The Research Commission established 
eight working groups: Research Workforce, 
Research Infrastructure, Research 
Partnerships, Internationalisation, Precincts, 
Research Training, Assessing Research 
Performance, and Enablers and Governance. 
In addition, focus groups were held across 
University faculties, graduate schools and 
divisions. 

A discussion paper incorporating key 
recommendations and questions was 
provided to the University community for 
further consultation in November 2011. The 
white paper will be released in early 2012.

othEr MaJor aCtivitiEs
In 2011 the Office for Research Ethics and 
Integrity was established. The new office 
replaced the Research Ethics and Integrity 
Group and will enhance support, maintenance 
and promotion of best practice in this area.

The Research Infrastructure Strategy Office 
was formed in 2011 to develop a coherent 
University-wide approach to the provision of 
research infrastructure, including high-end 
platform technologies, unique collections, 
data management and specialised facilities. 
The new office will work in collaboration 
with the Research Infrastructure Advisory 
Group. One of its key early initiatives was 
to complete a research infrastructure audit 
relating to nine disciplinary areas. 

Research highlights
 ■ An international collaboration led by 

researchers in the Faculty of Veterinary 
Science identified the genetic blueprint 
of the giant intestinal roundworm Ascaris 
suum, which will provide new insights into 
the treatment of ascariasis, an intestinal 
infection that affects more than one billion 
people in Asia, Africa and South America.

 ■ A collaboration which includes 
researchers in the School of Chemistry 
has resulted in the formulation 
of promising new heart disease 
preventatives based on sugar and 
selenium. These seleno-sugar 
compounds (which have been filed 
under an international patent) work by 
scavenging hypohalous acids, a group 
of highly reactive chemicals that can 
damage tissues. 

 ■ The genome of the blackleg fungus – 
which causes the most damaging disease 
to canola crops worldwide – has been 
sequenced for the first time by French and 
Australian researchers. The development 
of markers using data from the genome 
sequence enables better targeting of 
the disease-making genes and provides 
information for crop protection strategies. 
These findings will form part of a national 
project funded by the Grains Research and 
Development Corporation.

Dr Georgina Such is a research fellow with the Department of Chemical and Biomolecular 
Engineering at the University of Melbourne. In 2011 her research into smarter drug 
delivery was recognised when she was awarded a L’Oréal Australia For Women in Science 
Fellowship. 

Awarded annually with the support of the Australian National Commission for UNESCO and 
the endorsement of the Australian Academy of Science, the $20 000 fellowship recognises 
the work of three talented Australian women in science to assist them in the consolidation of 
their careers and to aid their rise to leadership positions.

Dr Such is developing a drug delivery system consisting of a multi-layered miniscule capsule 
which targets diseased cells while leaving healthy cells intact. She is working to ensure that 
once the capsule has entered the cell, it disintegrates and the drugs are released, thereby 
lessening the side effects of toxic drugs such as chemotherapy in cancer treatment.

While the final product may be years in the making, Dr Such and her University of Melbourne 
colleagues have made great progress, having already created materials for the capsule.

Dr Georgina Such

Research and research training_2928_Research and research training



ENgAgiNg wiTH TiMOR-LESTE

Image: Vice-Chancellor Glyn Davis was delighted to 
welcome Dr Aurelio Guterres to the University when the 
high-level Timor-Leste delegation visited in July 2011. 

University educators 
and researchers are 
proud to be making 
a difference in 
Timor-Leste. Literacy 
education, survey 
mapping, conserving 
cultural materials, 
and electricity supply 
to remote regions 
are major areas for 
our focus. We are 
building a long-term 
partnership.
Professor Glyn Davis 
Vice-Chancellor

During 2011, the University continued to create 
and support links with Timor-Leste, and in 
July hosted a visit by a high-level government 
delegation led by Dr Aurelio Guterres. Dr 
Guterres is Rector of the National University of 
Timor-Leste (UNTL), Timor-Leste’s only state-
funded university.

With a particular focus on the joint library 
resourcing project under way between UNTL 
and the University of Melbourne, the visit 
included discussions with Vice-Chancellor 
Professor Glyn Davis and Deputy Vice-
Chancellor (University Affairs) Professor 
Warren Bebbington and, with a view to 
developing a strategic development plan for 
UNTL’s library, culminated with a tour of the 
University’s Baillieu Library and discussions 
with library staff. 

The University is also engaged with and within 
Timor-Leste through cross-institutional links 
and projects across several faculties, graduate 
schools and centres including the Nossal 
Institute for Global Health, the School of Earth 
Sciences, the Faculty of Arts and the Graduate 
School of Education. Following the visit in July, 
new projects with other faculties and research 
groups are emerging.

By creating a whole-of-University approach to 
links in Timor-Leste, the University is exploring 
meaningful opportunities for engagement, 
including assisting UNTL with building capacity 
and creating new opportunities for academic 
research and student outreach activities.

 ■ The Assessment and Teaching of 21st 
Century Skills (ATC21S) development 
project, led by researchers in the 
Melbourne Graduate School of Education, 
has identified the essential skills needed 
for the modern workplace. ATC21S is 
developing an assessment framework 
to map how students learn two specific 
skills: collaborative problem solving and 
ICT literacy. The results will provide 
invaluable resources for policy makers 
and teachers.

 ■ Researchers at the Melbourne 
Conservatorium of Music are investigating 
endangered Indigenous Australian 
dance-song traditions and the knowledge 
systems and values to which they are 
attached. The recording of approximately 
100 hours of data has made significant 
steps in identifying new strategies to 
sustain endangered song and dance.

 ■ In one of the largest human genetic 
studies ever undertaken, more than 250 
researchers in 15 countries, including from 
the University of Melbourne and Florey 
Neuroscience Institutes, identified major 
common genetic variants that contribute to 
the cause of multiple sclerosis (MS). The 
presence of up to 57 MS genes has shown 
that the development of MS is due largely 
to subtle inherited differences in immune 
function and represents an enormous step 
towards understanding its cause. 

 ■ The creation of a new source of very 
cold electrons will improve the quality 
and speed of nano-imaging for drug and 
materials development. This study – the 
first to show the real potential of cold 
electron technology – was undertaken 
by researchers at the ARC Centre of 
Excellence for Coherent X-ray Science 
based at the School of Physics. 

 ■ The 2011 Human Rights Award for 
Literature (Non-Fiction) was awarded to 
Half a Citizen: Life on Welfare in Australia, 
a book based on a large ARC Linkage 
project in partnership with Jobs Australia. 
Led by the School of Historical and 
Philosophical Studies, the project team 

conducted interviews with 150 Australians 
living on various forms of income support. 

 ■ Researchers from the Department of 
Genetics and the Bio21 Institute, in 
collaboration with an international team 
from the Eliminate Dengue Program, have 
discovered that a strain of fruit fly bacteria 
can immunise mosquitoes against dengue 
fever and prevent its transmission to 
humans. The research also showed how 
the bacteria could be established in wild 
mosquito populations as a practical and 
inexpensive way of controlling the spread 
of infection. 

 ■ Researchers at the University’s Australian 
Venom Research Unit collaborated 
with scientists from the University of 
Papua New Guinea and the University 
of Costa Rica to develop new antivenom 
against the Papuan taipan, one of the 
world’s most lethal snakes. The low-cost 
antivenom will assist developing countries 
to create their own local production of 
snake antivenoms.

 ■ Melbourne School of Population Health 
was involved in the first comprehensive 
report on experiences of the adoption 
process in Victoria. The report revealed that 
many people found the current system to 
be inflexible and focused on administrative 
formalities. The study recommended 
reviewing current processes and 
incorporating additional training and 
support for adoptive parents, social 
workers and departmental staff.

 ■ A novel biodegradable and biocompatible 
peptide-based star-shaped polymer has 
been developed in the Polymer Science 
Group in the Melbourne School of 
Engineering. It can be linked to specific 
cell-targeting agents and has a protective 
layer to prevent enzymatic degradation 
and extend circulation times in the body. 
Early studies have shown that the star 
can encapsulate drugs and enter cancer 
cells efficiently, providing a new potential 
in the design of nano-medicines at a 
molecular level.

 ■ A team including University researchers 
in the Department of Microbiology and 
Immunology discovered a new type of cell 
in the immune system that belongs to a 
family of T-cells essential for protection 
against infectious diseases. This 
fundamental advance in understanding 
different components of the immune 
system will lead to further studies into 
the unique function of these cells and the 
development of new types of vaccines. 
The findings may also prove significant for 
other diseases including allergies, cancer 
and coronary artery disease.

 ■ Under the directorship of a researcher 
in the Department of Social Work, the 
Find and Connect project launched a 
new website for Forgotten Australians 
and Former Child Migrants. The website 
contains historical information about past 
and present providers of out-of-home 
care, including photographs and digitised 
newspaper articles, links to support 
services and other resources.

 ■ Scientists from the Department of 
Zoology and the Institute of Marine 
Research in Norway have shown that 
salmon can be stimulated to leap through 
water and thereby receive a treatment for 
sea lice, an infection that costs the global 
industry more than $500 million each 
year. This new treatment is cost-effective, 
reduces chemical pollution in the ocean 
and maximises fish welfare by minimising 
human intervention.

RESEARCH ANd RESEARCH TRAiNiNg
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2011 marked another milestone year for 
learning and teaching at the University of 
Melbourne with the first intake of students 
welcomed into new graduate programs 
for Medicine, Dental Surgery, Veterinary 
Science, Physiotherapy and Optometry. New 
masters degrees in Engineering and Science 
were also offered. 

It was moreover a year of realisation for the 
Melbourne curriculum. After the graduation 
of the first cohort of New Generation degree 
students, a gratifying number have moved into 
graduate degrees. 

Quality courses
undErgraduatE PrograMs
The Melbourne curriculum continued to 
mature in 2011 with renewed focus on 
improving the Melbourne experience. The 
Chancellor’s Scholars Program and changes to 
the requirements for guaranteed pathways to 
graduate programs were introduced to provide 
reassurance to high-achieving students applying 
for entry in 2012. Early indications are that these 
changes have been extremely well received.

Feedback was encouraging and outcomes for 
graduates demonstrated the strong ability of 
the Melbourne curriculum to deliver desired 
results for its students (see Overall student 
satisfaction and Student retention and success 
on page 35.)

The University experienced strong demand 
for undergraduate courses, increasing offers 
while maintaining high ATAR Clearly-in-Rank 

scores. In 2011, four of Melbourne’s six 
New Generation degrees were in the top 10 
most popular degrees according to Victorian 
Tertiary Admissions Centre (VTAC) first 
preference rankings. Course demand will 
continue in 2012 with five of Melbourne’s 
New Generation degrees in the top 10 at 
the close of VTAC applications in December 
2011. The University’s Bachelor of Arts was 
the most popular undergraduate degree in 
Victoria, followed closely by our Bachelor of 
Science. 

The quality of the student intake remained 
very high in 2011 with the median ATAR at 
93.10. The University enrolled 40 National 
Scholarship recipients, 12 of whom were 
from interstate. Two National Scholarships 
were awarded to Indigenous students.  
47.5 per cent of National Scholarship 
recipients had an ATAR of 99.95, and  
45 percent had an ATAR of 99.90.

graduatE PrograMs
In 2011 the University saw all professional 
degree programs offered at graduate level, 
with students welcomed into graduate 
professional programs for Medicine, Dental 
Surgery, Physiotherapy, Veterinary Science and 
Optometry for the first time, along with new 
masters degrees in Engineering and Science. 

There was a 78 per cent increase in 
applications to graduate coursework programs 
in 2011. 38 094 applications were received 
for graduate coursework programs in 2011, 
compared with 25 163 in 2010. 

lEarning and tEaChing highlights
 ■ Open Day 2011 was a great success – 

declared by many as the best Open Day 
in living memory. Estimates suggest more 
than 70 000 people visited Parkville and 
Southbank over the course of the day. 
The richness of life beyond the classroom 
was an important theme of Open Day 
2011. An entertainment precinct on the 
Parkville campus’s South Lawn provided 
the centrepiece for a program enjoyed by 
crowds throughout the day. Throughout the 
campuses, activities designed to highlight 
the University’s facilities and learning 
spaces found an appreciative audience.

 ■ 2011 saw the creation of the new 
Melbourne School of Information (MSI). 
MSI brings together IT programs from 
across the University, and provides a 
gateway for students to find information, 
make enquiries and apply for study in IT 
programs offered at the University.

 ■ In 2011 the Faculty of Business and 
Economics became the first Victorian 
faculty to receive an accreditation by 
the Association to Advance Collegiate 
Schools of Business International (AACSB). 
Melbourne is only the second university in 
Australia to receive the accreditation, which 
acknowledges high-quality offerings in 
business and accounting. 

 ■ The University of Melbourne’s Shepparton 
Medical Centre was opened in April 
2011. The new centre forms part of 
the University’s Rural Health Academic 

Most PrEFErrEd CsP CoursEs basEd on vtaC CsP First PrEFErEnCE ranking

Course rank

higher education provider Course 2012 no. of 1st 
preferences

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

university of Melbourne Arts 2738 1 1 1 1 1

university of Melbourne Science 2160 2 2 3 4 5

university of Melbourne Commerce 1435 4 4 4 2 2

university of Melbourne Biomedicine 825 6 7 7 11 17

university of Melbourne Environments 653 10 11 16 13 10

Note: CSP – Commonwealth-supported place. VTAC – Victorian Tertiary Admission Centre

MEdian undErgraduatE atars

year of enrolment 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Median atar 94.50 94.30 94.65 93.90 94.10 93.90 93.10

Note: ATAR – Australian Tertiary Admission Rank

LEARNiNg ANd TEACHiNg

The multi-coloured chairs in the Melbourne Brain Centre’s state-of-the-art lecture theatre were inspired by infra red scans, 
while the white striped lighting across the roof represents neural connections and pathways.
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in 2009 (56.8 per cent). The postgraduate 
coursework full-time employment rate 
decreased to 86.8 per cent from 87.7 per 
cent in 2010, but is roughly in line with 
outcomes over the previous five years. 

Salaries of Melbourne Bachelor graduates 
improved in 2011, with the median salary 
rising to $52 727 from $50 000 in 2010. 
Postgraduate coursework salaries improved 
in 2011 to the level reported in the 2009 
survey. The male median salary held steady 
at $80 000 while for female graduates, the 
mean increased to $70 000 from $65 000 in 
2010. As expected with the implementation 
of the Melbourne curriculum, the proportion 
of graduates continuing their studies following 
the completion of their bachelors degree rose 
significantly compared to previous years.  
The proportion of bachelor graduates 
continuing their studies rose to 36.8 per cent 
from 30.3 per cent in 2010 (35.8 per cent for 
citizens and permanent residents, and  
41.1 per cent for international graduates). 

tEaChing ExCEllEnCE
Our committed teachers are central to the 
University’s student achievements. Academic 
and professional staff from Melbourne 
received recognition from the Australian 
Learning and Teaching Council (ALTC) in 2011: 

 ■ award for teaching Excellence –  
social sciences  
Dr Clinton Golding, Melbourne School  
of Graduate Education

 ■ award for teaching Excellence –  
social sciences 
Mr John Whitehouse, Melbourne School  
of Graduate Education

 ■ award for Programs that Enhance 
learning – innovation in Curricula, 
learning and teaching 
Professor Raoul Mulder, Faculty of Science 
Peer Review from A to Z for Education 
(PRAZE) (see details on page 36)

 ■ Citation for outstanding Contributions 
to student learning 
Dr Shanton Chang, Faculty of Science 
For excellence in providing students with 
cross-cultural learning experiences through 
internationalised curricula that build cultural 
awareness and promote peer-learning 
among students from diverse backgrounds

 ■ Citation for outstanding Contributions 
to student learning 
Dr Wendy Larcombe, Melbourne Law 
School 
For sustained innovation and achievement 
in development of learning support 
services for law students, and excellence 
in classroom teaching and curriculum 
design in law

 ■ Citation for outstanding Contributions 
to student learning 
Professor Michelle Livett, Faculty of Science 
For a decade of leadership of teaching and 
the development of curricula and programs 
to support transition, engagement and 
learning for science students

 ■ Citation for outstanding Contributions 
to student learning 
Mr John Rayner, Melbourne School of 
Land and Environment 
For contributions to student learning in 
horticulture through sustained scholarly 
practice leading to development of teaching 
and advancement of the discipline

 ■ Citation for outstanding Contributions 
to student learning 
Professor Doreen Thomas, Melbourne 
School of Engineering 
For a sustained commitment to inspiring 
a culture of excellence in teaching 
and learning as a leader in the field of 
engineering

 ■ Citation for outstanding Contributions 
to student learning 
Professor John Tobin, Melbourne Law 
School 

For ongoing dedication to developing 
innovative and collaborative approaches 
to student learning and engagement in 
human rights law both in and beyond the 
classroom

 ■ Citation for outstanding Contributions 
to student learning 
Professor Tania Voon, International Law 
Team, Melbourne Law School 
For excellence in curriculum design and the 
provision of innovative, authentic learning 
experiences in the field of international law

The University of Melbourne’s PRAZE system 
won the 2011 National Australian Learning 
and Teaching Council Award for Innovation 
in Curricula, Learning and Teaching. PRAZE 
is a web-based program designed by the 
University which facilitates and manages 
anonymous peer review amongst students, 
with the aim of providing better feedback 
and encouraging active engagement in the 
learning process. Students benefit not only 
from the comments they receive on their 
own work but also from the experience, 

baChElor graduatEs in Full-tiME 
work and Full tiME study
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Centre (RHAC) for teaching, research and 
community development in rural health. It 
is expected that about 80 medical students 
will train in the clinic each year alongside 
nursing and other allied health students. 

 ■ In April, the University held its inaugural 
International Student Virtual Fair, to 
provide prospective international students 
with online access to information on the 
University’s course offerings. Designed 
to simulate live Open Day events held on 
campus, students were able to interact with 
academic and professional staff through 
rich multimedia platforms. More than 600 
prospective students took part in the fair.

studEnt satisFaCtion
The 2011 student satisfaction scores were 
encouraging. The Melbourne Experience 
Survey (MES), developed in 2007 to gauge 
student perceptions of all aspects of University 
life, showed that student satisfaction is high 
and rising. Nearly 80 per cent of first-year 
undergraduates and three-quarters of other 
students described their experience thus far 
as good or excellent and only about 5 per cent 
of respondents described their experience 
as poor. 78 per cent of first-year and 73.7 per 
cent of later-year undergraduates described 
their overall experience so far at the University 
as good to excellent. A higher proportion of 
students in 2011 described their experience 
as good to excellent than in 2007 (prior to the 
introduction of the Melbourne curriculum). 

The 2011 Course Experience Questionnaire 
(CEQ) showed a high level of satisfaction 
with the quality of graduate courses. Results, 
however, are little changed from the 2010 
survey. Areas of positive feedback continue 
to be items related to the ‘generic skills’ and 
‘graduate qualities’ scales as well as library 
and information technology services. Over 
80 per cent of bachelor graduates agreed that 
their course sharpened their analytical skills 
(80.2 per cent for generic skills), that what 
they learned was valuable for their future, and 
that their course provided them with a broad 
overview of their field of knowledge (80.8 per 
cent for graduate qualities). There was also 
a high proportion (79 per cent) who agreed 
that they were able to access information 
technology resources when needed and 
that library services were readily accessible 
(80.4 per cent). The Course Experience 
Questionnaire outcomes from the first 
graduating cohort of New Generation degree 
students show overall positive opinions in line 
with bachelor graduates as a whole. 

studEnt rEtEntion and  
suCCEss ratEs
The University of Melbourne’s retention 
rates remain among the highest in Australia, 
according to the latest available data. The 
apparent retention rate of 93.68 per cent for 
the 2009 undergraduate students returning 
to their studies in 2010 was higher than the 
sector-wide retention rate (83.70 per cent). The 
success rate for undergraduate students during 

2010 (93.04 per cent) was higher than the 
sector-wide success rate (87.51 per cent).

After significant declines resulting from 
the global financial crisis, the 2011 
Graduate Destination Survey indicates that 
employment prospects for recent University 
graduates appear to be stabilising. The full-
time employment rate for bachelor graduates 
(citizens and permanent residents) was little 
changed from the previous year at 76.3 per 
cent (76.2 per cent in 2010). The rate for 
international bachelor graduates decreased 
to 60.4 per cent from 64.9 per cent in 
2010 but remains above the low recorded 

undErgraduatE ovErall ExPEriEnCE  
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Professor Marie Connolly is the Chair and Head of Social Work at the University of Melbourne. 

The School celebrated its 70th anniversary this year, hosting a colloquium in February 2011 
to mark the occasion. Leading Australian and international experts and generations of alumni 
gathered to reflect on the past, present and future of social work. Seminars featured new 
innovations in research and practice, with a strong emphasis on Indigenous issues. 

The School of Social Work is a vibrant learning community recognised nationally and 
internationally as a leader in the field of teaching and research in social work, and producing 
outstanding graduates sought after for their intellectual rigour, the quality of their practice, and 
their commitment to community service and social justice.

An expert on child welfare and child protection systems, Professor Connolly joined the School 
in 2010 from her position as Chief Social Worker with the New Zealand Government. Prior to 
that she was Associate Professor and founding Director of the Te Awatea Violence Research 
Centre at the University of Canterbury in Christchurch, New Zealand.

Professor Marie Connolly
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In addition to handling inbound enquiries, the 
Contact Centre has conducted a number of 
outbound campaigns, including a fundraising 
telethon for the Advancement office, market 
research and re-enrolment campaigns. 

The Contact Centre sits within the Student 
Service Delivery portfolio which has been 
the home for a number of new initiatives, 
including the Students@Work (S@W) 
program. S@W employs 30 currently enrolled 
students as student information assistants 
and deploys them to student services centres 
across the University. 

In 2011, the University implemented the new 
Student Service Commitment, Protocols and 
Guidelines. Over 200 staff were trained in the 
program throughout the year. 

studEnt sErviCEs and  
aMEnitiEs FEE
In October 2011 the Senate passed an 
Act, known as the Student Services and 
Amenities Fee (SSAF) legislation, allowing 
universities and other higher education 
providers to charge a fee for student 
services and amenities of a non-academic 
nature. Following consultation with the 
student community, Council approved, at 
its December meeting, the principles for 
allocation of SSAF funds collected. Plans for 
financial allocation include funding a number 
of student-run organisations, increasing 
service provision to students through a 
range of targeted initiatives (such as health 
promotion, careers advice and student 
employment), a student-run advocacy service, 
and capital improvements to Union House. 

studEnt EnriChMEnt PrograMs
The University offers a wide range of 
enrichment opportunities for students. The 
Leadership, Involvement and Volunteering 
Experience (LIVE) team provides opportunities 
for students to develop their skills and graduate 
attributes outside the classroom. 

Through well-established programs such 
as the Student Ambassador Leadership 
Program (SALP), students work in 
interdisciplinary groups to develop and 
implement projects within the not-for-profit 
sector. In 2011, eight SALP groups were 
awarded University Dreamlarge grants and 
Cultural and Community Relations grants to 
successfully deliver projects in collaboration 
with community partners. 

Following the success of the inaugural 
summit in 2010, LIVE coordinated a 
group of student leaders to run the Global 
Perspectives Summit, bringing together 100 
undergraduate students – from 15 different 
disciplines – to debate global issues. The 
program offers participants the opportunity 
to engage with a wide range of experts 
from industry, government and the non-

government sectors to explore strategies  
for turning ideas into reality.

The annual Volunteer Fair, held in May, 
drew more than 4000 students interested 
in contributing and developing their skills 
in the wider community. More than 70 
organisations attended, with positive 
feedback received about Melbourne 
students’ interest and enthusiasm. 

In 2011, 40 sport and adventure clubs 
offered activities to over 4000 active 
members. The Fitness Centre welcomed 
nearly 8000 members and recorded over 
500 000 visits. Melbourne University Sport 
(MU Sport) supported the Inter-Collegiate 
Sports Council program for more than 2500 
college residents, and over 2300 game 
opportunities were offered in the Community 
Sport program for students, staff and local 
residents. The Campus Sport program 
provided 5800 lunchtime game opportunities 
for students and staff. 

Over 500 student athletes and officials 
participated in regional, national and 
international student sporting events in 2011, 
with the University of Melbourne winning 
national championships in seven sports. 
The University’s Elite Athlete and Sport 
Scholarship program provided financial and 
in-kind support to 158 student athletes, 
including 49 who represented Australia (or 
their country of citizenship) at international 
competitions in 25 different sports.

The 2011 Community Events program saw 
MU Sport offer support services to over 500 
University-related participants (students, 
staff, alumni etc) at public sporting events 
throughout the year including Around the 
Bay in a Day, Melbourne Marathon, Nissan 
BRW Corporate Triathlon, and the Vice-
Chancellor’s Cup. The University hosted the 
second annual Australian Boat Race in 2011. 
2000 spectators watched the Melbourne and 
Sydney teams compete on the Yarra River.

The $2.9 million University of Melbourne 
Boathouse extension opened in May. 
Planning also progressed for a new pavilion to 
service AFL and cricket, and a multipurpose 
social space in the Sports Centre. Renovation 
of a facility south of Grattan Street will extend 
fitness and wellness services and some 
club activity to serve the growing University 
population south of the main campus.

global Mobility
The University of Melbourne is committed 
to providing opportunities for students to 
participate in credit-based international 
student mobility programs, and now has the 
largest outbound student mobility program 
in Australia. The program grew substantially 
in 2011, with the Melbourne Global Mobility 
Office reporting a 41 per cent increase 

in student participation. In all, over 2000 
Melbourne students undertook a student 
mobility program (exchange, study abroad, 
short course, research/clinical placement) 
including nearly 800 who undertook a 
semester or year-long exchange at partner 
institutions overseas. In addition, the number 
of high-quality exchange partners increased, 
with a 5 per cent growth in the number of 
institutions at which Melbourne students 
studied during the year.

lEarning PrECinCts
The University continues to invest in 
collaborative learning spaces to support 
student-centred learning and engagement. 
The new areas create a welcome space for 
students, a focus for support services, and an 
environment consistent with the professional 
aspirations supported in each faculty.

The new Melbourne Graduate School of 
Education student spaces include a social 
hub, the Education Student Centre, computer 
labs, lecture theatres, flexible teaching 
spaces and science labs. 

The new David Caro building is home to the 
Melbourne Graduate School of Science and 
provides a space for students to congregate 
to work, socialise and share ideas.

Melbourne School of Land and Environment 
refurbished sections of the Old Agriculture 
Building including the Kimpton Theatre. The 
building also houses a new modern student 
centre with beautiful views of the historic 
System Garden, a new group study room, 
and individual consultation rooms.

univErsity library
The University of Melbourne Library provides 
ongoing support for each strand of the 
University’s Growing Esteem strategy. During 
2011 four major projects were completed 
to enhance the University’s scholarly 
information environment. 

The Learning Management System (LMS) 
was significantly upgraded to enhance 
course content. A new discovery service was 
implemented to provide Google-like access to 
the rich content of the University’s licensed 
online library collections. 

As planned, the redevelopment of libraries 
and adjacent precincts was completed in 
2011. The Law Library and the Brownless 
Biomedical Library underwent extensive 
upgrades. The first stage of the Baillieu 
Library redevelopment, the newly refurbished 
ground floor, was opened in August 
2011. The Business and Economics and 
Education libraries were relocated to a new 
470-seat space at Barry Street. Renamed 
the Giblin Eunson Library, the complex 
was commissioned to support business, 
economics and education disciplines. 
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understanding and perspective gained by 
critically analysing the work of their peers. 
PRAZE is a versatile system that allows 
review of almost any form of assessment. 
The program has been used by various 
subject coordinators since Semester 1, 2008, 
and has grown in popularity since. It is now 
accessible to other institutions. As well as the 
Learning and Teaching Council Award, PRAZE 
recently won the University of Melbourne 
Norman Curry Award for Innovation and 
Excellence in Educational Programs.

The Melbourne 
Experience
The University of Melbourne is committed 
to providing students with a quality all-
round experience that will enrich their 
education, support personal development and 
strengthen their connection to the University 
community. This includes the delivery of 
a range of student services, national and 
international opportunities for leadership, 
volunteering, exchange, internship and 
research experiences, and the provision of 
University-supported and student-led cultural, 
community and sporting activities. Melbourne 
also recognises the importance of access to 
inclusive services and programs that bring 
together students from a range of national, 
cultural and socioeconomic backgrounds. 

transition to univErsity
Familiarity with the University environment 
is an important first step for an enjoyable 
educational experience. Each year, the 
University welcomes students onto  

campus as part of Destination Melbourne. 
The residential program assists students 
who come from under-represented schools 
or who face a lengthy commute to the 
University to make a smooth transition to 
university life. In 2011, 132 participants from 
around Australia were given a head start on 
making new friends and finding out what 
the University has to offer, both inside and 
outside the lecture theatre. Students are 
introduced to services and facilities such as 
housing advice, academic skills assistance 
and employment opportunities, and guided 
through issues encountered by new students 
at the University, including how to lead a 
balanced life of study, work and travel. 

International Student Services provides 
a comprehensive range of transition 
and support programs to strengthen the 
connection of international students and 
their dependants with the University and 
the broader community. A growing number 
of University alumni are joining transition, 
hospitality and career programs to enrich 
the lives of international students through 
professional and personal contact. For 
example, students coming to the University 
as part of the AusAID scholarship program 
are linked to host families who help them 
settle into Australian life. Typically, host 
families invite students to dinner and to join 
them in other activities, like football matches. 
To extend the reach of transition assistance 
for commencing international students, an 
interactive virtual pre-departure briefing was 
introduced in 2011 which complements the 
University’s pre-departure briefings delivered 
twice a year in 10 cities outside Australia.

studEnt sErviCEs
Arising from the major review of student 
services undertaken by PhillipsKPA in 
late 2010, a number of changes in central 
organisation, program focus and delivery 
were implemented in 2011 to better enable 
an integrated, coordinated and seamless 
network of support for student progress and 
success. This program of review and change 
will continue into 2012, with a major focus 
being the implementation of the outcomes 
of the Review of Careers and Employment 
Services undertaken in November 2011. 

2011 saw the expansion of the Student 
Precinct Model to cover all New Generation 
degrees. This follows a successful trial in 
2010 of the pilot Eastern Precinct Student 
Centre (EPSC). The new student centres 
offer a single point of contact for students 
seeking advice on a wide range of issues 
including enrolments, course planning and 
graduate study options, and provides referrals 
to other services such as specialist careers 
advice, counselling, financial aid, housing, 
academic skills and language support.

The University-wide Contact Centre  
(13 MELB) was established in January 2011 
to provide frontline service by telephone  
and email for all current students.  
It handled in excess of 200 000 enquiries 
in its first year – more than double the 
enquiry volume forecast. The Contact 
Centre handles inbound enquiries via the 
13 MELB telephone number, the University 
switchboard, and email enquiries. 

tEaChing load Past, PrEsEnt and FuturE

Notes:  2006 data is based on final data submitted to DEEWR.
 2011 data is based on ISIS at 10 Jan 2012.
 2016 data is based on projection in SSm Scenario 69 as at 1 September 2011.
 The data excludes Continuing Education load.

UG – Undergraduate HDCW – Higher Degree Coursework HDR – Higher Degree ResearchOPG – Other Postgraduate

2006
PAST

2011
PRESENT

2016
FORECAST

75% 67% 53%

10%

9%
22%

35%

9%

3%

9%

2%

6%

Notes: 
2006 data is based on final data submitted to the Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations. 
2011 data is based on ISIS at 10 January 2012. 
2016 data is based on a University projection as at 1 September 2011. 
The data excludes Continuing Education load.
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In 2011, 149 scholarships were awarded to 
students who qualified on the basis of equity 
and access considerations under the Access 
Melbourne scheme. Following changes to 
the program in 2010, undergraduate Access 
Melbourne applications and offers have 
continued to increase. Applications increased by 
16 per cent (to 5281 applications) since 2010 and 
offers increased by 8 per cent (to 1774 offers). 

Under the new guaranteed pathways 
scheme, students who were in the 
disadvantaged financial background and/or 
rural or isolated area categories, and received 
an ATAR of 78 or above, were guaranteed 
a place in the Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor 
of Science or Bachelor of Environments 
degrees, and those who received an ATAR 
of 88 or above were guaranteed a place in 
the Bachelor of Biomedicine or Bachelor of 
Commerce. Although there was no increase 
in enrolments of students from rural or 
isolated areas through Access Melbourne 
in 2011, enrolments of students from low 
socio-economic backgrounds through Access 
Melbourne increased by 80 per cent. 

indigEnous dEvEloPMEnt
2011 saw continued focus on increasing 
the University’s contribution to Indigenous 
development through the amalgamation 
of the Murrup Barak Melbourne Institute 
for Indigenous Development with the 
Centre for Indigenous Education, and the 
implementation of projects identified in the 
University’s Reconciliation Action Plan. 

This year, the proportion of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander-identified students at 
Melbourne dropped from 0.42 per cent of the 
student population in 2010 to 0.38 per cent 
of the student population in 2011. Retention 
rates were very strong, at 81 per cent for 
undergraduate first-year students. 

At the beginning of 2011 the University 
employed 21 Indigenous staff. This figure 
rose to 33 by the end of 2011 – 14 academic 
and 19 professional staff positions. 

The Bachelor of Arts (Extended) for 
Indigenous students ran for its third 
year in 2011 and continued to provide an 
access pathway and transition support 
for Indigenous students. For the first time 
in 2011, an extension program offered a 
pathway into the Bachelor of Commerce 
(Bachelor of Commerce (Extended)). 

In March 2011, the Murrup Barak Melbourne 
Institute for Indigenous Development took over 
responsibility for recruitment of and support 
services to Indigenous students that were 
formerly provided by the Centre for Indigenous 
Education (CIE). The new arrangements 
enable the Institute to better coordinate and 
monitor the delivery of the University’s full 
suite of Indigenous development objectives 
and to provide support, services and a meeting 
place for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
students and staff.

The University’s Reconciliation Action Plan 
(RAP) was first developed in 2010. Since its 
introduction there has been considerable 

progress on its implementation. For example, 
localised faculty plans for increasing the 
recruitment of Indigenous students and 
staff have been developed and will be 
implemented in 2012. The RAP is registered 
with Reconciliation Australia and represents 
a public commitment on the part of the 
University to use its expertise and resources 
in teaching and learning, research and 
engagement to make a sustained contribution 
to lifting the health, education and living 
standards of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people. 

Further highlights from 2011 include:

 ■ The inaugural Rio Tinto Innovation and 
Excellence Award in Indigenous Higher 
Education was established by the 
University to recognise and promote high-
quality teaching, curriculum development 
and community engagement. The 2011 
award went to the Leaders in Medical 
Education (LIME) Network Project hosted 
by the Onemda VicHealth Koori Health 
Unit in the School of Population Health. 
The LIME project was recognised for its 
consultative approach to promoting high-
quality teaching, curriculum development 
and community engagement, and 
encouraging best practice in recruiting and 
retaining Indigenous medical students.

 ■ Murrup Barak hosted a number of 
partnership events including the Dungala 
Kaiela Oration in September 2011 in 
association with the newly established 

aCCEss MElbournE oFFErs and EnrolMEnts as a PErCEntagE oF total univErsity oFFErs and EnrolMEnts

access Melbourne 
offers

% of total offers access Melbourne 
Enrolments

% of total Enrolments

10/11 1774 28.92% 1573 30.00%

09/10 1641 28.73% 1408 29.90%

08/09 1214 21.05% 1049 22.92%

07/08 1046 16.18% 911 21.08%

06/07 1177 16.49% 1077 23.02%

HDCW - Higher Degree Coursework            HDR - Higher Degree Research                     OPG - Other Postgraduate                                     UG - Undergraduate

Notes:  2006 data is based on final data submitted to DEEWR.
 2011 data is based on ISIS at 10 Jan 2012.
 2016 data is based on projection in SSm Scenario 69 as at 1 September 2011.
 The data excludes Continuing Education load.
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The Library continued to support research, 
with major projects completed to expose 
Melbourne’s research data and to build 
national capacity for research data 
management. A leaf of the Gutenberg Bible, 
the first printed book, was acquired to 
augment the University of Melbourne’s rich 
cultural collections.

systEMs EnhanCEMEnts
In 2011, significant improvements were 
made to the way students and staff access 
information and new systems, and engage 
in learning activities. The LMS Renewal 
project delivered an update to the Blackboard 
product, bringing a redesigned interface and 
time-saving functions.

The ISIS Connect Project, developed to 
address issues that have arisen from the 
introduction of the student administration 
system ISIS, will be implemented over two 
years. The first phase included a software 
upgrade, and was successfully completed in 
December 2011. 

The Subject Experience Survey (SES), a new 
online questionnaire which replaces Quality 
of Teaching (QoT) surveys, includes new 
evaluation questions with greater emphasis 
on student learning experiences. Online 
delivery also allows students to complete the 
survey in their own time. 

2011 saw the transition of all students to the 
new Google student email system. Google 
Apps @ unimelb provides an improved email 
system and collaboration tools. 

In 2011, work commenced on the Student 
Portal Renewal Project which will improve 
the way students interact with the academic 
programs database and the student advising 
and appointments booking system. 

Access and equity
The University of Melbourne’s equity 
strategies focus on access, participation 
and outcomes at both undergraduate and 
graduate levels. 

The flagship Kwong Lee Dow Young Scholars 
(KLDYS) program has grown each year since 
its inception in 2007. Designed to support 
high-achieving secondary students, the 
program builds networks of students and 
broadens and strengthens their engagement 
with the University through a series of on-
campus activities and events throughout their 
Year 11 and 12 studies. Over 94 per cent of 
Victorian secondary schools have participated 
since the program commenced. In 2011,  
78 per cent of eligible Victorian schools with 
Year 10 students participated; 44 per cent 
of those schools were considered under-
represented at the University. 

studEnt PartiCiPation in outbound 
Mobility PrograM

The University also welcomed the Victorian 
Government’s decision to fund scholarships 
worth $3 million for outstanding and/or 
disadvantaged students at the Victorian 
College of the Arts (VCA) and the Melbourne 
Conservatorium of Music (MCM).

aCCEss MElbournE
In 2010 the new position of Pro Vice-
Chancellor (Participation and Engagement) 
was created to bolster the University’s 
capacity to pursue its access and equity 
agenda. The Pro Vice-Chancellor, Professor 
Richard James, has oversight of student 
equity, staff equity and the student 
experience. 
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In 2011, the Victorian Government announced scholarship funding worth $3 million 
for outstanding and/or disadvantaged students at the Victorian College of the Arts and 
Melbourne Conservatorium of Music (VCA and MCM). 

The welcome funding for ‘Creative Scholar’ scholarships will ensure that the VCA and MCM 
maintain and strengthen their position as leading arts training institutions.

Internationally respected and gifted composer Professor Barry Conyngham is the Dean of the 
Faculty of the VCA and MCM, a role he commenced in early February 2011.

The first musician to hold the Chair of Australian Studies at Harvard University (from 2000 
until 2001), Professor Conyngham has also held a number of leadership roles including as 
Dean of Creative Arts at the University of Wollongong (1990–1994) and founding Vice-
Chancellor of Southern Cross University (1994–2001). 

His award-winning compositions have been widely performed by Australia’s major symphony 
orchestras and ensembles and state dance and opera companies, as well as the London 
Symphony Orchestra and other international ensembles. In addition, Professor Conyngham 
has published over 70 works and released over 30 recordings.

In 1997 Professor Conyngham became a Member of the Order of Australia. 

He holds the title of Emeritus Professor from the University of Wollongong and Southern Cross 
University, and has also been the holder of Harkness, Senior Fulbright and Churchill Fellowships.

Professor Barry Conyngham
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The Melbourne 
University Boat 
Club continues to 
develop national 
and international 
representatives, 
something the 
University is 
justifiably proud of.
Tim Lee 
Director of Sport  
Melbourne University Sport

After years in design and planning, the 
spectacular but sensitive extension to the 
152-year-old, heritage-listed University of 
Melbourne Boathouse was officially opened 
by Vice-Chancellor Professor Glyn Davis in 
May 2011. 

The $2.9 million extension, comprising a 
three-storey space to the east side of the 
existing boathouse with an elevator connecting 
the ground, first, and mezzanine levels, was 
designed to both preserve and enhance the 
iconic and historical facade of the original 
boathouse constructed in 1908, and creates 
increased space for the University’s ever-
growing fleet of boats. The new design also 
incorporates a dedicated function venue for 
the University community with an improved 
kitchen, toilet and shower facilities, and a 
boardroom and terrace. 

One of the leading rowing clubs in the country, 
the Melbourne University Boat Club is the 
leading high-performance sporting club at 
the University, and continues to develop an 
impressive list of national and international 
rowing representatives. 

Speaking at the official opening, Director of 
Sport Mr Tim Lee spoke of the significance 
of the boathouse extension for sport at the 
University, crediting it with taking another 
step towards achieving the University of 
Melbourne’s vision of being the leading 
sporting university in the country. 

PACE ANd gRACE ON THE yARRA 

Image: The $2.9 million boathouse extension 
brings a state-of-the-art two-storey extension 
to the original 1908, heritage-listed structure. 
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Kaiela Institute in Shepparton, and the 
Narrm Oration in November at Parkville 
in association with Rio Tinto. The Narrm 
Oration was delivered by Mr Willie 
Hensley, an Inuit Leader well known for 
his contribution to the Alaskan Native Land 
Claims Movement. Other events during 
the year included a forum in association 
with Generation One as part of a public 
consultation on employment opportunities 
for Indigenous Australians, and various 
forums to support and review opportunities 
in Indigenous higher education.

 ■ A partnership between Murrup Barak, 
Rio Tinto Australia and the Melbourne 
Graduate School of Education provided 
professional teaching placements in 
remote Indigenous communities on the 
Gove Peninsula and at Katherine in the 
Northern Territory for eight Master of 
Teaching students. 

 ■ Murrup Barak held its highly respected 
annual Summer School for Indigenous 
graduate research students from all 
over Australia. The program is funded 
by an anonymous donation through the 
Indigenous Graduate Pathways Fund. 
Ten students successfully completed the 
Professional Certificate in Indigenous 
Research. In December, 19 offers were 
made to students for places in the 2012 
Summer School.

 ■ An audit of University subjects with 
Indigenous content was completed in 
2011. Ninety-nine subjects were identified 
that included a theme or sub-themes in 
Indigenous studies. Of these, 37 subjects 
had an Indigenous theme as the major 
course component. A corresponding audit 
of Indigenous research identified the 
cumulative value of Indigenous research 
carried out by the University between 
2005 and 2010 as $28 million across 112 
projects. 

 ■ In September 2011, the University hosted 
the 16th National Indigenous Tertiary 
Student Games. Two hundred Indigenous 
students representing 18 universities 
attended from across Australia and 
competed in four sports: touch football, 
netball, basketball and volley ball. The 
University of Melbourne was declared 
overall winner.

indigEnous EnrolMEnts and CoMPlEtions

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Enrolments 192 194 189 210 189

Completions 59 45 35 44 60

The US Academy of Marketing Science recognises marketing educators for pedagogical 
excellence, teaching philosophies and classroom success. 

In 2011 Associate Professor Angela Paladino became the first non-American to be awarded its 
prestigious annual Teaching Award.

Associate Professor Paladino, from the Department of Management and Marketing at the 
University of Melbourne, teaches subjects in product management, consumer behaviour and 
principles in marketing, and is an advocate for research-led teaching and the application of theory. 

Over the years she has received numerous awards for excellence in teaching, including the 2010 
Pearson/ANZMAC Marketing Educator of the Year and the 2007 Pearson Emerging Marketing 
Educator of the Year Award. 

Associate Professor Paladino has also contributed substantially to knowledge and practice 
in the fields of environmental marketing, climate change and consumer behaviour. Her work 
has appeared in leading international journals including the Journal of Product Innovation 
Management, Journal of Marketing Education and Management International Review.

Associate Professor Angela Paladino
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The University of Melbourne is committed to an 
engagement agenda as a core part of its mission. 
The University’s achievements over the past five 
years were presented to the second international 
Knowledge Exchange Conference in Hong Kong in 
December by Deputy Vice-Chancellor (University 
Affairs) Professor Warren Bebbington, who told the 
Melbourne engagement story in his keynote address.

Providing a platform  
for debate of major  
public issues
The University continued to provide a platform for 
the debate of key public issues through conferences, 
seminars, lectures and other public programs. The 
2011 Festival of Ideas was held in June under the 
theme ‘The Pursuit of Identity: Landscape, History 
and Genetics’. Festival Director, distinguished 
alumnus Dr Patrick McCaughey, provided a 
compelling and popular program of lectures, panel 
discussions and supporting activities – all free and  
on campus. 

The Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and 
Social Research and The Australian newspaper 
hosted the 2011 Economic and Social Outlook 
Conference at the University in July. The conference, 
‘The Growth Challenge: Riding the Resources Boom 
to Lasting Prosperity’, explored how Australia can 
ensure that the resources boom delivers widespread 
opportunity and prosperity. Speakers included the 
Leader of the Opposition The Hon Tony Abbott MP, 
Minister for Resources and Energy The Hon Martin 
Ferguson AM MP, Professor Ross Garnaut AO,  
and Deputy Prime Minister and Treasurer The Hon 
Wayne Swan MP. 

New media venture ‘The Conversation’ was 
launched and supported by the University in 
partnership with the Group of Eight Universities, 
CSIRO and the University of Technology, Sydney. 
The Conversation is an independent source of 
information, analysis and commentary from 
the university and research sector, written by 
acknowledged experts and curated by professional 
editors. It allows academic research to be delivered 
directly to the public. In 2011 the site attracted 220 
000 visits on average per month, with over 50 000 
international visitors. A readership survey showed 
that a majority of respondents (66 per cent) value 

‘a great deal’ the access to analysis and comment 
from academics and researchers, with over half 
(55.2 per cent) visiting the site daily.

Over 200 public lectures were presented, advertised 
monthly in Voice, the University’s supplement in 
The Age newspaper, and online via the University’s 
website. Attendance continued to be excellent.

Public lecture highlights included:

 ■ Vice-Chancellor of the University of Oxford, 
Professor Andrew Hamilton, delivered a lecture, 
‘How to Create a World Class University’, for the 
Grattan Institute in July. Professor Hamilton’s 
talk was followed by a panel discussion with 
Professor Judith Brett, Head of the School 
of Social Sciences at La Trobe University, 
Vice-Chancellor Professor Glyn Davis, and 
Vice-Chancellor of RMIT University Professor 
Margaret Gardner. 

 ■ The IBM Lecture Series, presented by IBM’s 
senior vice-presidents and directors, considered 
the future of technology, business and 
information systems in a time of change.

 ■ Widely respected expert on climate change and 
policy, Professor Hans Joachim Schellnhuber, 
presented an international public lecture on 
‘Climate Change – the Critical Decade’.

 ■ A lecture series presented in association with 
Melbourne Museum’s ‘Tutankhamun and 
the Golden Age of the Pharaohs’ exhibition 
showcased University talent on a range of topics 
including agriculture and food supply in the age 
of Tutankhamun and a forensic investigation of 
Tutankhamun’s mummy. 

 ■ Managing Director of Fairfax Media, Greg 
Hywood, presented the AN Smith Lecture in 
Journalism, arguing that while the traditional 
newspaper model is under severe pressure due 
to falling revenue from classified advertising, the 
future of journalism has never looked stronger.

 ■ Newly appointed Professorial Fellow at the 
Law School and the Faculty of Arts, Professor 
Raimond Gaita, convened the Wednesday 
Lectures under the theme ‘Secrecy, Power and 
Democracy’. Speakers included Kevin Keller, 
Professor Robert Manne, Helen Pringle,  
Guy Rundle and Gerry Simpson. 

ENgAgEMENT 

Working within the local Carlton community, we aim to apply our research 
expertise to local challenges, and to ultimately enrich the lives of the 
people who live and work in our neighbourhood.
ProFEssor warrEn bEbbington 
deputy vice-Chancellor (university affairs)

Image: The Carlton Community came together 
on 17 March to celebrate Harmony Day.
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of a social inclusion monitor, and a student 
engagement program assisting with the 
digitisation of the Brotherhood’s significant 
historical collections.

 ■ The Institute for a Broadband-Enabled 
Society developed partnerships with 
Google and Microsoft Australia through 
its Industry Partner Program. These 
partnerships will enable new research 
projects and increased engagement with 
industry, contributing to the development 
of innovative broadband applications and 
services.

 ■ The Melbourne School of Land and 
Environment re-signed its memorandum 
of understanding with China Agricultural 
University. New work by researchers 
from the two universities will focus on 
sustainable water management and 
reduced greenhouse emissions.

 ■ The Primary Industries Climate Challenges 
Centre was launched in February by the 
School of Land and Environment and the 
Victorian Department of Primary Industries. 
The centre aims to lead research related to 
climate change and primary industries.

 ■ The African Voices of Carlton cultural 
project was developed by the Centre  
for Cultural Partnerships at the VCA.  
A team of artists, writers, musicians and 
cultural storytellers began a year-long 
series of creative workshops at Carlton 
Primary School, aiming to build a sense of 
community and inter-cultural awareness.

 ■ The School of Social and Political 
Sciences’ Minutes of Evidence Project 
partnered with the Ilbigerri Theatre 
Company to produce ‘Coranderrk: We 
will show the country’, a play based on 
archival texts and documents that retells 
a significant moment in colonial history.

 ■ The University of Melbourne signed a 
new agreement with the King Abdullah 
Bin Aziz Centre for Islamic Comparative 
Contemporary Studies and Dialogue of 
Civilisations at Al-Imam Muhammad Ibn 
Saud Islamic University. The agreement 
allows staff and students studying the 
Arabic and Islamic world to collaborate 
with language and Islamic studies experts 
across the Middle East. 

Rewarding outstanding 
engagement projects
The Vice-Chancellor’s Engagement Awards 
again highlighted the achievements of University 
staff and students who engaged with external 
partners and the wider community. Awards 
were given in three categories: Dreamlarge 
student grants, staff project grants, and staff 

excellence awards. Fourteen Dreamlarge 
Student Grants and ten Staff Engagement 
Project Grants were awarded. 

The 2011 winners of Staff Excellence  
Awards were:

 ■ Academic teams led by Dr Helen Cahill 
of the Graduate School of Education for 
‘Creating Connections: from Vietnam to  
the Asia-Pacific Region’

 ■ Dr Dominique Hes of the Faculty of 
Architecture, Building and Planning, who 
represented the team which won for 
‘Smart Green Schools: Educational and 
Environmental Outcomes of Innovation in 
School Building Design’

 ■ Professor Cathy Humphreys of the School 
of Health Sciences for ‘Who am I? Making 
records meaningful: research to support 
archiving and recordkeeping in Victorian 
out-of-home care’.

Enriching Melbourne’s 
cultural life
The University remains a major contributor 
to the city of Melbourne’s cultural life. Its 
subsidiary, Melbourne University Publishing 
(MUP), published a total of 67 titles under 
three main imprints: Melbourne University 
Press, The Miegunyah Press and Victory 
Books. Eight MUP titles were shortlisted for 
a range of state and national literary awards. 
Mark McKenna’s An Eye for Eternity won both 
the 2011 Victorian and Queensland Premiers’ 
Literary Awards. 

The Ian Potter Museum of Art staged a range 
of exhibitions, including Model pictures, The 
Leonhard Adam Collection of International 
Indigenous Culture, Experimental gentlemen, 
Casts and copies, Ricky Maynard: Portrait 
of a Distant Land, Groundwork, Mis-design, 
and Treasures: antiquities from Melbourne 
private collections. Two exhibitions, The Shilo 
Project and Other Side Art: Trevor Nickolls, 
continued on to national tours, featuring in 
venues in regional Victoria and New South 
Wales. The Potter’s academic programs 
linked with the Faculty of Arts, the Faculty 
of Architecture, Building and Planning, the 
Melbourne Graduate School of Education, 
the Melbourne School of Engineering, and 
the Faculty of the VCA and MCM. Classes 
held as part of the exhibition program and 
the University Art Collection directly engaged 
over 2000 University of Melbourne students. 
The University Art Collection was significantly 
enhanced by the purchase and donation of 
Australian art and antiquities.

At the University’s Melbourne Theatre 
Company, outgoing director Simon Phillips’s 
work was celebrated with a rich panoply 

of productions at the MTC Theatre and the 
Arts Centre. Highlights for the year included 
his productions of Hamlet with Ewan Leslie 
and The Importance of Being Earnest with 
Geoffrey Rush, as well as a challenging US 
musical on depression, Next to Normal, and 
the world premieres of four Australian plays 
by Lally Katz, Joanna Murray-Smith, Robert 
Reid and David Williamson. MTC also shared 
work from Sydney Theatre Company and 
Black Swan State Theatre Company with 
Melbourne audiences. The Company reached 
a new record with over 22 000 subscribers 
and a total attendance 250 000 for the main 
stage season. The MTC’s Education program 
and Lawler Studio season expanded, and the 
Company’s productions of Don Parties On and 
Songs for Nobodies were seen by audiences in 
other capital cities around Australia. 

In association with the University, the 
Melbourne Symphony Orchestra held 
its annual series of free concerts at the 
Sidney Myer Music Bowl. Celebrating the 
Orchestra’s 52nd year at the Bowl in 2011, 
these glorious events brought beautiful music 
and great artists from around the world to 
Australia’s greatest outdoor space for music. 

The Faculty of the VCA and MCM offered 
performances and exhibitions throughout the 
year. Highlights included the Contemporary 
Plays Season presented by the VCA School 
of Performing Arts featuring the works A 
Mouthful of Birds and St Kilda Tales, the Arts 
Masters Exhibition which exhibited the works 
of students from the VCA’s School of Art at 
the Margaret Lawrence Gallery, and a public 
masterclass with Dame Kiri Te Kanawa at 
Melba Hall. 

Cultural and community activities across 
campus were supported by 45 Cultural 
Community Grants totalling $253 360. 
This assistance supported student theatre 
productions, lunchtime concerts in Melba 
Hall, travel grants for athletes, and festivals 
showcasing Asian food and culture, Latin 
American films, and Spanish cuisine.

A range of exhibitions were held across 
campus, with highlights including Casts and 
copies: ancient and classical reproductions, 
Experimental gentleman drawn from the 
University’s Sir Russell and Mab Grimwade 
Collection, Wolfgang Sievers: images of the 
University of Melbourne 1956–76 at the Ian 
Potter Museum of Art, Blood at the Medical 
History Museum, and in the Baillieu Library 
Write of Fancy: The Golden Cockerel Press 
and Building Rural Success: the early years 
of Dookie Agricultural College. The Grainger 
Museum celebrated Percy Grainger Day 
with a program of events featuring leading 
Grainger exponent, London-based pianist, 
writer, composer and festival director 
Penelope Thwaites.

Partnering with the 
neighbourhood,  
state and region
The University continued building a group of 
structured, institution-wide partnerships to 
engage with the neighbourhood, the state  
and the region. Significant developments in 
2011 were: 

 ■ The IBM Research and Development – 
Australia Laboratory, IBM’s 10th research 
laboratory worldwide and first in Australia, 
opened in October. IBM and University 
researchers work collaboratively at 
the laboratory on smarter resource 
and natural disaster management and 
expand on the work begun in the IBM 
Collaboratory to translate life sciences 
research into clinical applications. 
The new laboratory strengthens 
the partnership forged between the 
University and IBM in 2007, and 
represents IBM’s first whole-of-university 
relationship.

 ■ The University’s close involvement 
with the Indigenous community in the 
Goulburn Valley was enhanced when 
a memorandum of understanding was 
signed in October with the newly formed 
Kaiela Institute in Shepparton. The 
University also signed a memorandum of 
understanding with Leadership Victoria 
to deliver an executive management and 

mentoring program to senior members  
of the Kaiela Institute management team.

 ■ The University’s relationship with 
the Carlton neighbourhood was 
formally recognised with the signing 
of a memorandum of understanding in 
August. The new partnership links the 
University, the City of Melbourne and 
the Carlton Local Agencies Network 
in a collaboration to enrich the lives of 
those living and working in the Carlton 
community, and to apply research 
expertise to challenges facing the 
neighbourhood.

 ■ Recognising the long-standing interest 
many staff have in Timor-Leste, a formal 
partnership was established in September 
with the country’s national university, 
Universidade Nacional Timor Lorosa’e 
(UNTL). Following a visit in July by the 
Rector of UNTL Dr Aurelio Guterres, 
five key areas of engagement have been 
identified: building the UNTL Library 
collection, risk mapping Timor-Leste’s 
natural hazards, enhancing language 
education, addressing food security, and 
improving Timor-Leste’s museum and 
archive conservation.

 ■ CSIRO and the University developed their 
partnership around three research theme 
areas: health sciences, materials science, 
and water. A series of workshops and 
working parties have now been convened 
around these key themes.

 ■ The Melbourne Engagement and 
Partnership Office (formerly the 
Knowledge Partnerships Office) launched 
a series of fact sheets as part of its new 
communication strategy to promote the 
University’s engagement work more 
widely. ‘A Partnership Guide’ was also 
launched to support the development of 
faculty-based partnerships. 

Other highlights included:

 ■ The University’s partnership with the 
Department of Human Services and the 
Department of Health – North and West 
Metropolitan Region focused on improving 
the region’s population health and 
experience of disadvantage. In 2011, teams 
explored workforce resilience and identified 
improvements to systems and services 
which impact on population wellbeing.

 ■ Zoos Victoria and the University signed an 
agreement, reaffirming a long-standing 
collaboration. Currently, there are 17 
collaborative research projects between 
Zoos Victoria and the Faculties of Science 
and Veterinary Science.

 ■ The University’s partnership with the 
Brotherhood of St Laurence developed a 
number of projects addressing the four 
life-course transitions: the early years, 
through school to work, moving in and 
out of work, and retirement and ageing. 
Research projects look at inclusive growth 
in Australia, the development  
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Since 2010, PhD candidate Ms Rosalind 
Beadle has been supporting developmental 
projects in the remote Western Australian 
Ngaanyatjarra community of Warburton in 
Western Australia. 

She has recently been involved in supporting 
a group of local Ngaanyatjarra women to run a 
school breakfast program in their community. 
The Breakfast Minyma (women) Program 
has helped to empower local women by 
building confidence, developing skills that are 
meaningful and contributing to taking control 
of their own wellbeing and the wellbeing 
of the community. Other activities have 
since been added to the group’s program. 
They include a local catering service, adult 
literacy activities and the training of younger 
community members. 

Based at the Centre for Health and Society at 
the University of Melbourne for her research, 
Ms Beadle is addressing the question of how 

Aboriginal women in Warburton describe and 
interpret everyday experiences relevant to 
their own wellbeing. Using a combination of 
action research and developmental approaches 
to program development, she expects to 
provide an evidence base for more relevant  
and effective health and education services. 

In the past Ms Beadle has undertaken 
developmental work in Tonga with 
the Australian Youth Ambassadors for 
Development program, and at Tennant Creek 
where she worked as a project officer for the 
Aboriginal Health Service.

Ms Rosalind Beadle

Engagement_4544_Engagement



International 
engagement
The University’s outlook is distinctly 
international, aiming for global excellence, 
relevance and impact in its research, teaching 
and learning, and engagement. The University 
consolidated and extended its global outreach 
in 2011. Closer engagement with key countries 
in the region was fostered through new 
initiatives and partnerships, in addition to 
continued interaction with a broad range of 
international communities on all continents. 

The University was also successful in attracting 
an increasingly diverse cohort of international 
students to its coursework and research 
degrees, enriching the learning experience of 
all students. A growing number of students are 
taking up opportunities for outbound student 
mobility as part of their studies.

International students
Although international student enrolments 
declined in Australia in 2011, the University 
of Melbourne maintained steady enrolments. 
The University had a total international student 
teaching load of approximately 11 800 EFTSL 
enrolments equating to over 28 per cent of 
teaching load – a small increase from 2010. 
China, Malaysia, Singapore and Indonesia 
continued to be the University’s top four 
source countries, based on citizenship. 

In 2011, the University continued to work 
closely on developing tailored programs to 
consolidate partnerships with key stakeholders 
such as school counsellors, overseas 
representatives and sponsoring bodies. 
Market research was conducted to develop 
a more intensive knowledge of prospective 
student decision-making processes, resulting 
in a range of new application conversion 
initiatives. In an effort to ensure market share 

despite the sharp decline in international 
enrolments, particular attention was given to 
international students in Australian secondary 
schools. The University also continued to 
develop its profile in a range of emerging 
markets for Australian higher education.

International 
collaboration
In the International Plan 2011–2014, the 
University recognises that, to increase 
international standing and research impact, 
we must strengthen international networks 
and collaboration with leading institutions. 
The University must also have appropriate 
faculty and institution-level agreements in 
place to meet the growing needs of Australia’s 
largest outbound student exchange program. 
Accordingly, in 2011, the University sought 
to consolidate its network of highly-ranked 
partner universities as well as its engagement 
with key international networks. 

The University is now a partner in 223 bilateral 
international agreements; 171 of these include 
provisions for reciprocal student exchange. As 
part of the regular cycle of quality assurance 
and review, 31 existing agreements were 
considered for renegotiation in 2011. Of these, 
29 were endorsed for renewal, with renewal 
not sought for two inactive faculty-level 
agreements. When renewing agreements, 
negotiations have focused on opportunities 
for greater joint research engagement and 
the establishment of frameworks for jointly 
supervised doctoral degrees.

New agreements to support faculty-level 
teaching and research collaboration were 
entered into with Southeast University in China 
(Faculty of Architecture, Building and Planning) 
and Al-Imam Muhammad ibn Saud Islamic 
University in Saudi Arabia (Faculty of Arts via 
the Asia Institute). 

In response to a growing demand for outbound 
student mobility opportunities, new student 
exchange linkages were also established with 
leading institutions in key fields, such as HEC 
Montreal (one of Canada’s leading business 
schools) and Lomonosov Moscow State 
University in Russia. In addition, the University 
finalised a bilateral agreement for academic 
collaboration and student exchange with the 
University of Connecticut, a new member of 
the Universitas 21 network.

The development of strategic international 
partnerships continues to be a priority, with the 
University consolidating its deep relationship 
with Vanderbilt University (USA) via multiple 
joint activities in research and broader 
academic collaboration. 

In 2011, the University became a member 
of the McDonnell International Scholars 
Academy at Washington University in St Louis 
(USA). Each year, the Academy offers a full 
scholarship and living allowance to up to two 
students from each member institution to 
undertake a graduate or professional degree at 
Washington University as a McDonnell Scholar. 
In addition to time spent on their degree 
program, students are engaged in intellectual, 
cultural and social programs to better prepare 
them as global leaders. Membership of the 
McDonnell International Scholars Academy 
also provides the University of Melbourne with 
the structure for developing deeper research 
and teaching links with Washington University 
and the other members of the Academy.

assoCiation oF PaCiFiC riM 
univErsitiEs
The University continues to be an active 
participant in the activities of the Association 
of Pacific Rim Universities (APRU), a network 
of 42 leading research-intensive universities 
around the Pacific Rim.

Opportunities for staff and students to 
participate in APRU activities in 2011 
included the Senior Staff Meeting hosted 
by Chulalongkorn University (Thailand), an 
inaugural Provosts Meeting hosted by the 
National University of Singapore, the Chief 
Information Officers Forum and the Education 
and Research Technology Forum hosted by the 
National Autonomous University of Mexico, 
the Doctoral Students Conference hosted by 
Tsinghua University (China), the Undergraduate 
Summer Program hosted by Zhejiang 
University (China), a Research Symposium on 
‘Multi-hazards around the Pacific Rim’ hosted 
by the University of Auckland (New Zealand), 
and a meeting of APRU Law Deans hosted by 
Tsinghua University (China).

nuMbEr oF ForMal bilatEral agrEEMEnts with othEr lEading  
univErsitiEs by rEgion

university-level Faculty-level total

Europe 47 47 94

latin america 5 3 8

Middle East and africa 2 4 6

north america 23 22 45

north East asia 25 23 48

south asia 4 3 7

south East asia and oceania 9 6 15

total 115 108 223

The reopening of the renovated ground floor 
of the Baillieu Library was the venue for two 
exhibitions from the Library’s rare collections: 
Modern Medieval Manuscripts: The Baillieu 
Library’s Facsimile Collection and Appeals 
to a Child’s Imagination, drawn from the 
Morgan Collection of Children’s Books, Special 
Collections. The Library’s Special Collections 
acquired a page from an original Gutenberg 
Bible, the first European printed book. 

More than 30 student internships were 
arranged within the cultural collections and an 
international student exchange project was 
initiated in partnership with the U21 program. 

The University Library partnered with Culture 
Victoria to share its cultural collections with the 
wider community. Visitors to Culture Victoria’s 
website can now find information on more 
than 700 places that hold publicly accessible 
collections.

Growing alumni 
participation
2011 was an active year for alumni, supporting 
and reflecting a commitment to involve alumni 
in the life of the University. Over 18 000 alumni 
participated in events and reunions, took 
advantage of alumni benefits, or volunteered 
their time to mentor and host students, speak 
at events, serve on committees or coordinate 
alumni activities. Over 1500 alumni gave of 
their time in 2011, a strong indication of the 
affinity and connection alumni have for their 
alma mater. 

Following changes to the University 
of Melbourne Act 2009 the University 
established an Alumni Council. The Council 
reports to the University Council and must 
present an annual report to the alumni body. In 
late 2011 inaugural President of the Committee 
of Convocation, Dr Ros Otzen, convened the 
first meeting of 16 members representing 
the many cultural, academic and professional 
interests of the global alumni community. The 
Committee of Convocation remains one of a 
number of recognised alumni bodies. 

Dookie Agricultural College celebrated its 
125th anniversary in October. The campus 
welcomed back alumni for a series of activities 
over a weekend, including a gala dinner, 
family events and campus tours. Guests were 

encouraged to bring photographs to contribute 
to Dookie’s documented history. Over the 
years more than 20 000 students have trained 
at the regional campus. 

2011 also marked the 150th anniversary of 
the Melbourne School of Engineering, one of 
the University’s oldest schools. Throughout 
the year the School celebrated this impressive 
milestone and encouraged alumni from home 
and abroad to revisit the University, with events 
including a gala dinner, class reunions and the 
Engineering vs Law Great Debate. 

Philanthropic support 
for the University
In 2011 the University benefited from the 
generosity of over 4000 donors including 
companies, charitable foundations and 
individuals. Over the year total philanthropic 
giving to the University exceeded $32.73 
million, making a significant difference to the 
lives of people who benefit – directly and 
indirectly – from the teaching, research and 
engagement activities that are enabled as a 
result of this support. 

These gifts also help reinforce the University of 
Melbourne’s position as the leading university 
in Australia and one of the finest in the world.

The University Fund Appeal achieved another 
record year with approximately $1.5 million 
raised from over 3000 members of staff, 
students, alumni and other donors. 

Membership of the Heritage Society, which 
recognises those who have remembered 
the University in their wills, 32, taking total 
membership to nearly 270.

Commercial 
engagement
In 2011, UoM Commercial Ltd (UoMC) was 
established as the single commercialisation 
company of the University of Melbourne. Its 
subsidiary, Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd, was 
merged with UMEE Ltd and then rebranded as 
UoM Commercial Ltd. The mission of UoMC 
is to deliver commercial outcomes for the 
University of Melbourne’s intellectual assets 
and capabilities.

The target 8 per cent increase in aggregate 
financial returns from commercialisation 
activities was substantially exceeded 
during the year. The core activities of 
revenue generation included consulting and 
commercial contract research, licensing of 
technology assets, and customised programs. 
Overall, the University enjoyed an increase on 
net returns from commercialisation of 40 per 
cent compared to 2010 results. This increase 
was achieved despite the ongoing impact of 
the global financial crisis, which has resulted 
in the market continuing to display reduced 
interest in high-risk-early-stage technology.

During 2011 the Technology Commercialisation 
division managed 84 new intellectual property 
disclosures from researchers and managed the 
filing of more than 30 new patent applications.

Throughout the year, significant technology 
licence developments related to disease 
vaccines and diagnostics and mining 
technologies were achieved. A new company, 
metaCDN, was established to commercialise 
novel delivery mechanisms for online content. 
UoMC also assisted the successful sale of 
a company derived from the Cooperative 
Research Centre for Sensor Signal and 
Information Processing.

UoMC continued to work closely with its joint 
venture pre-seed fund, Uniseed, on a number 
of opportunities. During 2011 the University’s 
Growing Innovation Fund was augmented by 
Commercialisation Australia funds and support, 
in particular from the Faculty of Medicine, 
Dentistry and Health Sciences.

The Service Commercialisation division 
incorporating the School of Melbourne 
Custom Programs continued to develop and 
deliver an innovative range of programs in 
response to demand from the private and 
public sector, in partnership with faculties 
and graduate schools. Graduate enrolments 
administered by the School increased from 
1694 in 2010 to 2479 in 2011.

There was a very high level of client retention, 
strong growth in new clients, and a continued 
increase in international activity. Revenue 
from award and non-award programs, research 
contracts and consultancies increased by 20 per 
cent from 2010 to approximately $21.5 million. 
This exceeded targets by $4.6 million. 
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intErnational studEnt EnrolMEnts (EFtsl)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

international enrolments 9385 9895 10 154 10 144 11 800

% international 27.1% 27.9% 28.2% 27.7% 28%
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2011 fESTivAL Of idEAS

The Festival of Ideas focused on the search 
for an Australian identity in thought, literature, 
history, art, architecture, politics, foreign policy 
and education, and considered how Australia’s 
distinctive landscapes have shaped national 
identity – through their rich biodiversity, and 
as imagined and depicted in both ancient and 
modern times through Aboriginal culture and art.

The Festival program included a brilliant line 
up of local, national and international panelists 
and speakers. Each session was free to attend 
and was recorded, making them available for 
download as video or audio from the dedicated 
Festival of Ideas website. As such, Festival 
debates and conversations continue to provide 

resources for teachers and students locally and 
internationally. The Festival was directed by 
distinguished alumnus Dr Patrick McCaughey 
(former Director of the National Gallery of 
Victoria and Director of the Yale Center for 
British Art). A compelling program of lectures,  
panel discussions and supporting activities –  
all free and on campus – drew more than  
8000 people to the University over the week. 
A further 6000 people in 15 countries followed 
the festival via online streaming. 

Festival highlights included keynote lectures  
by Sir David Cannadine, Gareth Evans,  
Thomas Keneally and Matt Ridley.

The 2011 Festival of 
Ideas was held from 
13–18 June under the 
theme ‘The Pursuit of 
Identity: Landscape, 
History and Genetics’.

univErsitas 21
In 2011 Melbourne continued to play a leading 
role in the Universitas 21 (U21) network.  
Vice-Chancellor Professor Glyn Davis was 
Chair of U21 in 2011 and the Senior Vice-
Principal, Ian Marshman, was Convenor of  
the U21 Managers Group. 

A particular focus for the University has 
been increasing student mobility across the 
U21 network in accordance with the Delhi 
Accord which was executed by member 
institutions in 2010. More than 3000 students 
participated in formal exchange programs, 
and there were increased levels of RHD 
student mobility, annual U21 summer schools, 
and undergraduate research conferences. 
Melbourne sent 165 students on exchange to 
U21 partners (compared with 141 in 2010).

The University of Melbourne continued to 
coordinate the Global Issues Program (GIP),  
a multidisciplinary program offered by the U21 
network to undergraduate students of the 
universities of Queensland (Australia), British 
Columbia (Canada), Tecnologico de Monterrey 
(Mexico), Lund (Sweden) and Nottingham 
(United Kingdom). In 2011, a total of 183 
students enrolled in the program.

Other U21 activities included the Water 
Futures for Sustainable Cities Group 2011, 
the Health Sciences Group, which continued 
to collaborate on various projects relating to 
the UN’s Millennium Goals, and the Heads 

of Administration Group, which met in 
conjunction with the 2011 Annual Meeting to 
discuss management of university finances in 
challenging times.

dEvEloPMEnt oF intErnational 
rElationshiPs
A targeted diplomatic engagement strategy 
continued to raise the profile of the University 
at government level in 2011, while the 
University’s network of regional in-country 
offices in China, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, 
North America and Singapore maintained 
regular contact with government departments 
and partner institutions abroad.

Each year the University hosts a range of 
international delegations, with a strong 
strategic focus on briefing Australian and 
international diplomatic staff, as well as 
meeting with leading partner institutions. 
During 2011 the University hosted events 
with key partner universities including the 
University of British Columbia (Canada); 
Peking University, Nankai University and 
the University of Science and Technology of 
China (China); the University of Delhi (India); 
Trinity College Dublin (Ireland); the National 
University of Singapore; Lund University 
(Sweden); and the University of Edinburgh 
and the University of Manchester (UK). 

The University of Melbourne also hosted 
a range of high-level government visits, 
including from China (Minister of Science 

and Technology, Vice-Minister of Education), 
Europe (Secretary-General, European 
Parliament), Indonesia (Secretary-General, 
Ministry of National Education), Malaysia 
(Prime Minister) and Sri Lanka (Minister for 
Higher Education).

High-level delegations to the Middle East/
Gulf region, North East Asia, and South East 
Asia assisted in strengthening the University’s 
profile and consolidating relationships with 
government, institutions and alumni networks 
in those countries.

In addition, a Swiss-Australia Research 
Day was held to promote and strengthen 
the University’s research and collaboration 
activities with Switzerland. Organised in 
conjunction with the Swiss Embassy in 
Canberra and the Swiss Australian Academic 
Network (SAAN), and with a keynote speaker 
from the ETH Zurich Future Cities Laboratory 
in Singapore, the event was designed to 
support current and future collaborations 
with Swiss partner institutions and affiliated 
industry groups. The day provided both 
senior and early-career researchers with 
an opportunity to network with colleagues 
currently working in Swiss–Australia 
collaborations and to learn more about 
funding and other initiatives from Swiss 
Embassy staff.
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Distinguished academic Professor Amitabh Mattoo was appointed as the inaugural Director 
of the Australia India Institute (AII) at the University of Melbourne in 2011. 

Prior to his appointment, he was Professor of International Politics and Disarmament at 
Jawaharlal Nehru University in New Delhi.

From 2002 until 2008 Professor Mattoo was Vice-Chancellor of the University of Jammu 
in India. He has also been a visiting Professor at Stanford University, the University of Notre 
Dame, the University of Illinois, and the Maison des Sciences de l’Homme in Paris.

In 2008, Professor Mattoo was awarded the Padma Shri award, one of India’s highest civilian 
awards, for his contribution to the field of education and public life. 

Established in 2008, the Australia India Institute promotes greater knowledge exchange and 
strengthens relations between India and Australia. 

The Institute’s core activities include postgraduate training, participation in collaborative 
research around priority areas, and building knowledge of and about India in the Australian 
government, business and general communities. 

The AII also operates as a national epicentre of information on India, provides consultancies 
on issues of national priority and hosts a range of international conferences, community 
engagement initiatives and cultural dialogues.

Professor Amitabh Mattoo
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Image: Melbourne postgraduate student Anita Morris (right) 
with manager of Berry Street’s Family and Domestic Violence 
Service Felicity Rorke at the launch of Together. 

With support from a Vice-Chancellor’s 
Dreamlarge student grant, University of 
Melbourne PhD student Anita Morris created 
her own response to some of the significant 
problems confronting social welfare in Australia. 

Sadly, one child in every four is affected 
by family violence, and the demand for 
professional counselling and support 
significantly outweighs supply. With this 
in mind, Ms Morris used her Dreamlarge 
grant to work with the child and welfare 
organisation Berry Street to write and 
produce a 16-page booklet, appropriately 
titled Together, for mothers and children 
experiencing family violence. 

The Together booklet, now used as a resource 
for Berry Street’s Turtle program, was specially 
designed for mothers to read with their 
children. “Where other counselling material 
can tend to make mothers feel guilt about what 
their children are experiencing, the hope is that 
with the Together booklet, mothers will read 
about others’ experiences and feel that they 
are not alone and there are ways through,” 
says Ms Morris.

From Berry Street’s point of view, the 
partnership with the University of Melbourne 
is invaluable. Felicity Rorke, manager of 
Berry Street’s Family and Domestic Violence 
Service, believes that having access to leading 
learning and research through Ms Morris’s 
work paves the way for greater understanding 
and, ultimately, better programs.

Dreamlarge projects 
help students 
develop great ideas 
drawn from their 
practice settings. 
The Together booklet 
exemplifies the 
productive outcomes 
which are possible 
when researchers 
and practitioners 
collaborate.
Professor Cathy Humphreys 
Alfred Felton Chair of Child and Family 
Welfare, Department of Social Work, 
Melbourne School of Health Sciences 

wORkiNg TO EffECT SOCiAL CHANgE

Engagement with Asia
asialink
The University’s Asia-facing bodies had a 
productive and energetic year. Asialink is 
Australia’s leading centre for the promotion 
of public understanding of Asian countries 
and of Australia’s role in the region. In 2011 it 
continued to deliver an impressive range of 
activities, with major achievements including:

 ■ Hosting the Prime Minister’s keynote 
address, ‘Australia’s place in Asia’, in which 
Prime Minister Julia Gillard announced the 
development of a White Paper on Australia 
in the Asian Century

 ■ Establishing a high-level taskforce to 
develop an Asia Ready Workforce Strategy, 
with membership from leading businesses 
and the higher education sector

 ■ Delivering the pilot Asialink Commission 
in Kuala Lumpur in April, addressing the 
theme of ‘Strengthening Australia–ASEAN 
relations’

 ■ Delivering the inaugural ICT Forum in 
Melbourne in March, with 420 participants 
and national and international speakers 
including Minister for Broadband, 
Communications and the Digital Economy, 
Senator Stephen Conroy. 

ConFuCius institutE
The Confucius Institute is a centre of education 
excellence for Australian organisations 
with business interests in China, Chinese 
organisations with business interests in 
Australia, and members of the community 
who have an interest in Chinese language and 
culture. Highlights for 2011 included:

 ■ Launching the new Exploratorium: 
Chinese Language and Culture Centre at 
the Chinese Museum in June 2011. The 
Exploratorium is a new interactive centre 
where children and adults can experience 
aspects of Chinese culture, history and 
contemporary society. 

 ■ The Chinese Language and Cultural Road 
Troop visiting 15 primary and secondary 
schools in metropolitan and regional 
Victoria as part of Chinese Language and 
Cultural Road shows launched in 2010. 

australia india institutE
The University established the Australia India 
Institute (AII) in October 2008. In 2009 funding 
for the Institute was provided by the Australian 
Government Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace Relations. The 
University of New South Wales and La Trobe 
University were also founding partners. 
AII provides leadership in policy, business 
briefings, research and graduate training for 

the benefit of India, Australia and the broader 
Asia-Pacific region. 2011 was a busy year for 
the Institute with Professor Amitabh Mattoo 
commencing as founding Director in April. 
Former Chair of the Australia India Board, 
the Hon Alex Chernov, Governor of Victoria, 
became Patron.

AII held several conferences throughout 
the year. Its inaugural conference, The 
Reluctant Superpower: Understanding India 
and its Aspirations, was held in September, 
featuring a number of eminent Australian and 
Indian speakers and panellists. The second 
conference, The Asian Century: Security, 
Sustainability and Society, was held in Kolkata 
in December. Prominent speakers from 
Australia and India included Professor Gareth 
Evans, Professor Ross Garnaut, Chair of 
the Indian Press Council Justice Markandey 
Katjuand, and the former Governor of West 
Bengal M K Narayanan. 

The Institute also presented a new series of 
public lunchtime seminars, the ‘Tiffin Talks’, 
in 2011. Held every Friday, the Tiffin Talks 
presented a wide range of views on India. 
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Research on  
sustainability
The University actively seeks to develop 
opportunities for sustainability-related research and 
apply the findings directly on campus. A number of 
projects are currently being undertaken. 

A direct Geothermal Test Facility has been 
constructed behind the Sports Centre on the Parkville 
campus. This technology makes use of the stable 
ground temperatures within metres of the surface to 
provide heating in winter and cooling in summer.

The Algal Biofuels project, located on the roof of 
the Chemistry Building on the Parkville campus, is 
developing technology to produce biodiesel and other 
valuable by-products from large-scale cultivations 
of microalgae. Researchers from the Department 
of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering have 
partnered the Victor Smorgon Group’s Bio Fuels Pty 
Ltd to improve downstream processing methods that 
will bring biofuel production closer to commercial 
reality. Compared to using fossil fuels, the production 
of biofuel from microalgae is an essentially carbon-
neutral process.

Burnley campus has extended its traditional 
horticultural focus to promote sustainability research 
relating to horticultural techniques and water 
management. Research projects on campus include 
study into green roofs; green walls; vegetable rain 
gardens; roofing materials and urban heat island 
effects; the impact of shade trees on building energy 
demand; and geothermal and solar control of internal 
building temperature. 

Teaching for  
sustainability
The University of Melbourne aspires to develop 
graduates who are active global citizens and 
environmental advocates.

To deliver on this commitment, the University 
is working towards embedding Education for 
Sustainability (EfS) in all curricula, to develop graduates 
who will lead change for a sustainable future.

A research project is under way to analyse current 
sustainability-related subject offerings and to identify 
key faculty and graduate school stakeholders. 

This process will reveal existing strengths and 
weaknesses and inform the future of the EfS agenda.

At the undergraduate level, the Bachelor of 
Environments develops student awareness of 
environmental impacts and management on a 
global scale. From first to final year, students apply 
discipline-specific knowledge to real-world scenarios, 
to support such initiatives as landscape management 
projects; development of revegetation zones; 
investigations into urban structure and the relationship 
between urban density and movement; and new 
public transport options within existing networks. 

With 350 students from more than 50 countries 
enrolled, the Master of Environment is now one of 
the largest interdisciplinary postgraduate degrees in 
Australia in which students can specialise in streams 
of study offered by 10 faculties across the University. 

The Master of Environment is managed by the 
Office for Environmental Programs, which in 2011 
moved into a new architecturally designed space 
with sustainable features including zoned lighting 
and hydronic heating, bamboo cabinetry, reclaimed 
timber, furniture, floor coverings and recycled or low 
volatile organic compound (VOC) materials.

Sustainability  
and engagement
grEEn star CoMMunitiEs
In association with the Green Building Council of 
Australia, the University of Melbourne is the first 
educational institution to sponsor the development 
of the Green Star Communities Rating Tools. 
Government and industry will use these tools 
to demonstrate best practice in the planning, 
delivery and performance of innovative sustainable 
community projects. Throughout 2011, academic  
and professional staff participated in technical 
working committees and peer reviews to develop  
the categories and credits.

MElbournE FlowEr and gardEn show
The Melbourne School of Engineering, the Faculty 
of Architecture, Building and Planning and the 
Melbourne School of Land and Environment 
collaborated to present a stand at the 2011 
Melbourne Flower and Garden Show, demonstrating 
the results of recent research projects regarding 
white roofs, green roofs, and the impact of shading.

SUSTAiNABiLiTy

As a university, we’re constantly seeking to develop opportunities for 
sustainability-related research and apply the findings directly on campus.
ChristoPhEr whitE  
Executive director 
Property & Campus services

Image: The University’s Parkville campus 
is a pedestrian and bike-friendly zone.
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wastE
‘Public Place’ recycling stations and other 
infrastructure and process changes have 
significantly increased the weight of mixed 
recyclables diverted from landfill, from 86 
tonnes in 2009 to 584 tonnes in 2011 across 
Parkville, Southbank, Burnley and Werribee 
campuses. 

univErsity wastE to rECyCling 
2009–2011 
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Significant increases in recycling can be 
attributed to a range of initiatives:

 ■ New standardised ‘Under-Desk Mixed 
Recycling Bins’ and ‘Desktop Landfill Mini-
Bins’ rolled out across the Parkville campus

 ■ Replacement of cardboard bales with 
improved VISY cardboard wheelie bins

 ■ Replacement of commingled bins with 
mixed recycling bins in all buildings

 ■ Provision of additional bins for cafes and 
events

 ■ Increasing on-campus awareness of 
recycling through promotion and higher 
profiling. 

Other achievements in 2011 include: 

 ■ Completion of a waste management plan

 ■ 12 staff trained in waste auditing techniques

 ■ ‘Follow Your Waste’ tour conducted for  
30 staff

 ■ Annual waste audit conducted September 
2011

 ■ Waste and recycling system training and 
updates provided for Staff Environment 
Advocates.

sustainablE buildings
With the official opening of the Melbourne 
Brain Centre in 2011, the University now has 
two buildings with a five-star rating under the 
Green Building Council of Australia’s Education 
Green Star rating system. 

The design features of the Melbourne Brain 
Centre include:

 ■ Co-generation unit using natural gas 
producing reduced-emission electricity

 ■ 50 000 litre rainwater tank supplied from 
1960 m2 roof space

 ■ Automated and manual windows providing 
mixed-mode natural ventilation

 ■ Double-glazed facade with sunshades

 ■ Basement facilities including 101 secure 
bicycle spaces, changing rooms, showers 
and lockers.

sustainablE transPort
The University is continuing the transformation 
of its campuses into pedestrian and cycle-
friendly spaces. With the ongoing removal of 
ground-level car parking spaces, over 1800 
bike spaces are now available on Parkville 
campus, including 478 spaces in secure 
bicycle hubs.

In collaboration with Property and Campus 
Services, Melbourne University Student Union 
Ltd and Melbourne University Sport, free Ride 
to Work breakfasts were organised throughout 
the year to encourage staff and students to 
ride to University. Prizes and giveaways were 
offered, with Victoria Police on hand to provide 
free bicycle engraving and bicycle safety 
education.

Cultural ChangE
The University has an ongoing commitment 
to becoming carbon neutral by 2030 and has 
set targets to reduce carbon emissions and 
energy, waste and water consumption, and to 
embed Education for Sustainability (EfS) in all 
curricula. Through the business plans, budget 
divisions will be able to contribute significantly 
toward meeting these targets.

Budget divisions were invited to include 
sustainability targets and objectives in their 
annual business plans for 2011, from which 
a summary report was developed and 
tabled at the October Sustainability Forum. 
Divisions are now being engaged directly in 
the development and implementation of their 
individual plans. 

The establishment of the Sustainability 
Forum has broadened traditional definitions 
of sustainability to encompass learning, 
teaching, research and engagement as well as 
maintaining the University’s commitment to 
reducing operational impacts. 

Following the launch in early 2011 of the new 
Sustainable Campus website, a Campus 
Sustainability Centre is being established in 
the Walter Boas Building to showcase the 
University’s sustainability achievements 
and demonstrate its evolving culture of 
sustainability as reflected through operations, 
curricula and research. 

sustainability targEts 2011–2015

annual performance measure baseline year baseline 
value

2011 
performance

2015 target 2015 target as % reduction 
from baseline

Energy usage – gJ/m2 gFa 2006 0.9 0.69 0.6 33%

net energy-related carbon emissions  
– kg Co2/m

2 gFa
2006 212 101 106 50%

Potable water usage  
– megalitres per annum

2006 515 359 410 20%

waste – % of total waste by weight 
diverted to recycling*

2009 16% 28%* 50% n/a

travel – motor vehicle fleet, net fuel 
emissions after greenfleet offset

2007 zero zero zero n/a

* Waste figures comprise the following campuses: Parkville, Southbank, Burnley and Werribee.

studEnt ProJECts
The University’s Property and Campus 
Services department has been working in 
collaboration with professional and academic 
staff and students across the University to 
develop a range of sustainable campus-related, 
student-based practicums and internships. 
These projects directly engage students 
and staff in progressing the Education 
for Sustainability agenda by embedding 
sustainability principles into the curriculum.

Operational 
sustainability
The University of Melbourne is committed 
to achieving an environmentally sustainable 
campus. 

In late 2010 Senior Executive approved a set of 
targets for 2011–2015 to reduce energy, carbon 
emissions, water and waste, and to maintain 
a carbon-neutral vehicle fleet. Twelve months 
into the target period, efforts have progressed 
with pleasing results.

sustainability targEts 2011–2015
See table, page 59

2011 results show the following reductions 
from the 2006 baseline:

 ■ 23 per cent reduction in energy use 
(electricity, gas, steam, LPG) per m2 gross 
floor area (GFA)

 ■ 52 per cent reduction in net emissions 
(after green power and abatements)  
per m2 GFA – exceeding the 2015 target  
of 50 per cent reduction

 ■ 30 per cent reduction in potable water 
consumption – exceeding the 2015 target 
of 20 per cent reduction

 ■ Significant increase in recycling during 2011

 ■ Continued offsetting of our fleet emissions.

EnErgy
The University minimises its carbon emissions 
through the reduction of energy consumption, 
the purchase of green power, and investment 
in external abatement projects. 

Due to the fact that University space has 
grown by 21.3 per cent during the period 
2006–2011, energy and emissions reduction 
has been measured by resource intensity, ie 
usage per floor space. Energy usage per floor 
area has reduced by 23 per cent since 2006. 

In 2011, 100 per cent green power was 
purchased for Burnley, Creswick and Dookie 
campuses and 20 per cent for all other 

campuses. Abatements were purchased by 
way of certificates under the Victorian Energy 
Efficiency Target scheme, at 15 per cent 
of electricity consumption. The combined 
contribution of green power and abatements in 
2011 reduced the University’s carbon footprint 
by 39 160 tonnes.

total univErsity EMissions savings 
2007–2011* 
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reductions from 2006 baseline

External Abatements Green Power
Reduced Energy Emissions

* Reductions from 2006 baseline

Continued investment in energy reduction 
projects has enabled ongoing reductions in 
energy usage. Over $1.2 million was invested 
in 2011 for projects expected to deliver savings 
equivalent to 2940 tonnes of carbon per year. 

The focus in 2011 has been on fine-tuning 
the Building Automation System (BAS) 
which controls heating, ventilation and air-
conditioning, and implementing efficiencies in 
chillers and motors across the University.

Variable set points on chillers have been 
trialled and successfully implemented and are 
delivering significant savings by varying chilled 
water temperature according to demand in 
individual buildings. 

A Bauer system has been installed at the 
Beaurepaire Swimming Pool to control the 
pressure of air in the pool, delivering significant 
energy, water and chemical savings.

Lighting improvements have included the 
installation of additional LEDs and the rollout of 
sunset switches in appropriate locations across 
a number of campuses.

From 2012 onwards, the University will 
continue to deliver further efficiencies in space 
utilisation to ensure that growth in University 
activity can, where possible, occur within the 
existing footprint.

watEr
The key initiative which delivered significant 
water conservation benefits in 2011 was the 
upgrade of domestic water mains throughout 
the Parkville campus (in conjunction with the Fire 
Ring main upgrade project). The upgrade, along 
with reduced cooling tower usage and standard 
water saving initiatives (dual-flush toilets, 
low-flush cisterns, tap restrictors) has led to 11 
megalitres in savings on the Parkville campus. 

Other campuses are also conserving water 
with the installation of rainwater tanks, 
new sterilisers and washers, and increased 
implementation of standard water-saving 
initiatives. The Burnley, Southbank and 
Werribee campuses have all reported potable 
water savings. Compared to the 2006 
baseline, Burnley used 73 per cent less water 
and Southbank used 48 per cent less water. 
Werribee used 48 per cent less mains water 
over the period, due in part to the ongoing 
benefits of recycling water on campus.

total univErsity Mains watEr 
usagE 2006 – 2011 
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Providing free and easy access to drinking 
water facilitates significant energy savings, 
waste reduction and financial benefits to the 
wider community.

During 2011, the University installed 35 aqua 
bubbler drinking water fountains across the 
Southbank, Burnley and Parkville campuses 
to provide easy access to drinking water at no 
cost to students, staff and visitors. 

As part of the ‘Go Tap’ campaign, the 
Southbank and Burnley campuses have 
discontinued the sale of bottled water 
on campus. They were the first Victorian 
university campuses to achieve this. Parkville 
campus is working towards achieving the 
same in 2012. 

SUSTAiNABiLiTy
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rEsPonsiblE division ManagEMEnt
In 2010 the University adopted the concept 
of subsidiarity (which aligns accountability 
and actions as closely as possible to where 
services are delivered and people affected) as 
its organising principle for operating a large and 
diverse academic institution. Consistent with the 
principle of subsidiarity, during the year a number 
of core administrative functions were progressively 
devolved to faculties and administrative divisions 
under the Responsible Division Management 
(RDM) program. Within budget divisions a number 
of previously decentralised functions were 
consolidated into larger business centres. This 
has involved a major program of organisational 
reform and cultural change involving new roles, 
responsibilities and relationships for many 
professional staff. Implementation of Responsible 
Division Management is a three-ear project. 

During 2011, a number of milestones were 
achieved including consolidation of the role of the 
Administrative Business Advisory Group which 
oversees the RDM program, the establishment 
of a whole-of-university Administrative Leaders 
Forum and, through participation in the Uniforum 
benchmarking project, a systematic and objective 
process to monitor the effectiveness and efficiency 
of the RDM model. 

adMinistrativE bEnChMarking
In 2011, the University continued to participate 
with the Universities of Auckland, Monash, New 
South Wales, Queensland University of Technology 
and Sydney in the UniForum administrative 
benchmarking project. As well as detailed 
annual updates on professional staff costs and 
numbers of staff employed across the full range 
of administrative functions, the project provides 
indepth analyses in:

 ■ Student services

 ■ HR service delivery model

 ■ Finance, procurement and purchase-to-pay 
activities

 ■ Project and program management

 ■ General administration. 

The data is being used to evaluate the impact of the 
University’s business planning and reform processes 

and to identify areas for improved administrative 
practice and efficiency. To date, the project confirms 
the relative cost-efficiency of core administrative 
functions at the University. 

After scaling for institutional size, compared to the 
other universities Melbourne kept both costs and 
resourcing lower overall.

MaJor ProJECts
In 2011 the Major Projects Framework Procedures 
Manual was published, outlining a consistent 
approach to the planning, management and 
governance of major projects with a view to 
ensuring that they are managed optimally and 
deliver the strategic outcomes specified without 
exposing the University to unnecessary risks. The 
projects covered include major capital projects, large 
IT projects and large scale business transformation, 
organisational restructuring and reform projects. 

The manual outlines policies relating to planning, 
management and governance of major projects, 
groups which support the processes, the reporting 
requirements for each major project, the key roles 
and responsibilities of staff, and the methodology 
adopted to prioritise projects. 

The Major Projects Framework Procedures Manual 
is based on a ‘stage gate’ approach to ensure that 
proper approvals are sought at the end of each 
stage of a project’s lifecycle. This approach also 
ensures that projects are not initiated if they cannot 
be funded, and projects that cease to meet the 
University’s objectives – including those that have 
become too risky or expensive – are closed down. 

The reporting requirements for the Major Projects 
Portfolio include monthly reports to the Major 
Projects Coordination Group, monthly reporting 
to Senior Executive for all major projects, monthly 
reporting to the Finance Committee for projects in 
the implementation phase (including the funding 
status of planned projects and associated risks), 
and quarterly reports on identified risks associated 
with individual projects and the major projects 
portfolio to the Audit and Risk Committee of Council 
through the Risk Management Committee. A report 
is provided at each meeting of University Council, 
and statutory reporting to the Commonwealth or 
Victorian Governments is undertaken as required. 

ENABLERS

The Melbourne Graduate School of Education’s Student Centre is  
a fine example of the collaborative teaching and learning spaces for 
graduate education that have been constructed across seven faculties 
as part of the $33.2 million Graduate Learning Spaces Project. 
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ProFEssional dEvEloPMEnt 
initiativEs
The University Development Program 
focuses on supporting and developing 
leadership capabilities of both academic 
and professional staff. In 2011 there was 
high demand for courses supporting the 
Performance Development Framework, 
recruitment and selection. In 2011 two 
Women in Academic Leadership programs 
were offered and fully subscribed. There has 
been a significant increase in demand for the 
Promoting Positive Workplace Behaviours 
online program which replaced modules 
covering harassment, bullying and equal 
opportunity.

PErForManCE dEvEloPMEnt 
FraMEwork
The University has undertaken an extensive 
consultation process with staff on improving 
the Performance Development Framework 
(PDF) process and outcomes to ensure that 
it assists the objectives of Growing Esteem. 
The changes are intended to improve staff 
performance and productivity by providing 
support for staff development and a transparent 
and consistently applied PDF system.

EQual oPPortunity
The University aspires to be a place 
characterised by inclusion and equal 
opportunity, in which men and women 
have equal opportunity to seek and retain 
employment and pursue fulfilling careers 
across the roles, organisational units and 
disciplines. The University aims to create 
a positive and inclusive organisational 
culture that values the diverse perspectives, 
experience and expertise of its staff. Since 

2000 there has been continued increase in 
female representation. The proportion of 
females in the University’s total staff numbers 
was around 50 per cent each year from 2000 
to 2007, and has been around 52–53 per cent 
since 2008.

In line with the HR Framework, the Staff 
Equity and Diversity Framework is currently 
being reviewed and will be relaunched in early 
2012. Revisions will pay particular attention 
to strategies concerning supervisory decision 
making in job design, recruitment and 
selection, career planning, and performance 
assessment.

Another key area of focus has been 
Indigenous employment, with all faculties 
and budget divisions required to prepare 
and submit action plans as part of their 
business plans. An Indigenous Employment 
Coordinator has been recruited to assist 
with implementation of a range of strategies 
within this area. Currently 0.5 per cent of 
staff are Indigenous Australians. 

Infrastructure
The University continues to invest in 
physical infrastructure with the design and 
construction of new facilities, significant 
refurbishment of older buildings, and 
redevelopment or replacement of supporting 
infrastructure. 

These activities have been supported by the 
Victorian and Federal Governments. Over 
$2.1 billion of capital works are under way 
in and around the Parkville campus and will 
help establish the Parkville campus as a world 
centre of research and clinical training. 

MaJor ProJECts
 ■ The $207.5 million Peter Doherty 

Institute is currently under construction, 
supported by a $90 million Education 
Investment Fund (EIF) grant. The 
unincorporated joint venture agreement 
between the University of Melbourne 
and Melbourne Health was executed in 
December 2011. The Institute will be 
operational by 2014.

 ■ A $100 million improvement to the 
Victorian Life Sciences Computation 
Initiative is currently under way, with 
the installation of the second stage 
of the Peak Computing Facility due to 
commence in the first half of 2012.

 ■ The $160 million Melbourne Brain Centre 
in the Kenneth Myer Building at Parkville 
was completed in 2011 and officially 
opened in October. The partner $44 
million Melbourne Brain Centre at the 
Austin Hospital in Heidelberg was also 
completed and opened in June 2011. 

 ■ The $34.2 million Centre for Neural 
Engineering (CfNE), enabled by a $17.5 
million EIF research infrastructure grant, 
was officially opened in October. The 
CfNE brings together leading scientists 
in engineering and neuroscience 
with the aim of enhancing Australia’s 
understanding of neurological diseases.

 ■ The $20 million Melbourne Oral Health 
Training and Education Centre is under 
development, with the first stage to be 
completed in time for Semester 1, 2012. 
The project involves the refurbishment of 
existing facilities on Swanston Street to 

rEPrEsEntation oF FEMalE staFF (FtE) in total staFF PoPulation (inCluding Casuals)

representation of Female staff 2006 % Fem 2007 % Fem 2008 % Fem 2009 % Fem 2010 % Fem 2011 % Fem

Total academic staff (inc casual) 3258 42.6% 3250 42.7% 3326 44.3% 3375 44.3% 3405 45.7% 3417 45.7%

Total T&R staff (inc casual) 2071 39.0% 1982 38.6% 1980 40.0% 2050 40.4% 2007 41.4% 1995 41.8%

Staff at Level E (exc casual) 293 19.5% 358 20.1% 390 21.3% 420 22.0% 430 22.3% 450 22.2%

Staff at Level D  (exc casual) 362 27.4% 374 28.3% 372 29.5% 371 32.8% 365 32.5% 366 34.4%

Staff at HEW 10  (exc casual) 160 45.8% 176 43.9% 171 50.3% 189 55.4% 200 55.4% 233 58.1%

 Notes : 
 1. Staff Numbers above are all staff (Male & Female), and the percentages are the Female percentage of that total staff number. 
 2. 2006–2007 data based on reporting to Commonwealth. 2011 casual data is preliminary.  

staFF nuMbErs (AT 31 MARCH, ExCLUDInG CASUALS)

Full-time equivalent 2009 2010 2011

Total 6366.75 6170.32 6479.12

Source: 2009–2011 staff data as reported to the Department of Eductaion, Employment and Workplace Relations.

MarkEting and CoMMuniCations
A number of new initiatives were developed in 
2011 to strengthen the University’s reputation 
and profile. The University website templates 
were overhauled to enhance brand consistency, 
accessibility and navigational ease, and to 
ensure a smooth transition to the anticipated 
dominance of mobile devices in coming years. 
The University’s social media outreach and 
capability grew substantially in 2011 – 20 000 
followers on Facebook and 10 000 on Twitter 
positioned the University as a sector leader in 
social media. Media industry data indicate that 
the University has the highest levels of social 
engagement of any university in Australia and, 
on Facebook, is the fourth most engaging 
university in the world.

The monthly newspaper Voice was 
distributed each month to 600 000 readers 
of The Age, communicating news about 
the University’s research and academic 
programs. Domestic-monitored media 
coverage increased by 11 per cent to more 
than 34 000 positive media mentions for 
the year. Online media properties Visions 
and Up-Close each averaged around 25 000 
downloads per episode. 

Key sponsorship activities included 
‘Tutankhamen and the Golden Age of 
the Pharaohs’ exhibition with Melbourne 
Museum, the Fifth World Conference on Arts 
and Culture, the annual Australian Boat Race, 
and the Melbourne Rebels Super 15 rugby 
union team.

The Nexus CRM (Content Resource 
Management) program strengthened the 
University’s recruitment capacity, with 
over 500 users fielding an average of 6300 
enquiries per month and registrations of 5500 
– double that of the previous year. The CRM 
database of 120 000 prospective students 
provides a powerful asset to assist faculties 
and graduate schools to optimise their 
recruitment goals.

Human resources
hr PoliCy FraMEwork
In 2010, the University refined its HR policy 
framework to support the objectives of 
Growing Esteem 2010. Implementation 
continued throughout 2011 with a particular 
focus on improving research quality and better 
reporting of research outputs across the 
University. This included the introduction of 
faculty-specific performance metrics through 
the development and revision of faculty-
specific research-active definitions. 

Faculties also reviewed their academic 
workforce, changing academic work-focus 
categories, where appropriate, to better 
reflect the roles and requirements of each 
position. Related policies and procedures have 
also been reviewed to ensure they incorporate 
new academic categories. It is expected 
that academic work-focus categories will 
now be considered by each budget division 
to be an integral part of workforce planning, 
recruitment and selection, probation and 

confirmation, performance development  
and promotion activities.

workForCE Planning 
Since the last reporting date (31 March 
2011), there has been a 6 per cent increase  
in staff numbers to 31 December 2011,  
from 6163 to 6533. 

staFF EngagEMEnt survEy
In Growing Esteem 2010 the University 
commits itself to have “the highest staff 
satisfaction within the Group of Eight 
universities... by 2015”. In 2011 the Melbourne 
Staff Survey was conducted for the first 
time to obtain a comprehensive view of 
staff perceptions of their work environment. 
The topics included employee engagement 
and satisfaction, and staff perceptions of 
the University’s values and ethics, diversity, 
resources, safety and facilities, recruitment, 
rewards, performance appraisal, motivation, 
wellness and work/life balance.

The information collected will be used 
to determine strengths and areas for 
improvement in terms of staff satisfaction. 
A consultation period is in process to involve 
staff in devising solutions to concerns 
identified in the results. The survey also 
allows the University to celebrate its strengths 
as identified by staff. 

ENABLERS

In his role as Chief Information Officer, Sendur Kathir has responsibility for IT strategy and 
policy development across the University, and the delivery of information and communication 
technology services required to support research, teaching and learning, and engagement.

Since 2010 Mr Kathir has played a crucial role is developing eResearch infrastructure, improving 
research capabilities, student experience and organisational systems. A highlight of 2011 
was the release of the first research cloud in Australia, and providing researchers with virtual 
machines and storage on request. And for the first time in 2011, ICT services were also 
delivered to the University’s close research partners, significantly improving collaborative 
research opportunities.

As the University’s Chief Information Officer, Mr Kathir has facilitated other notable 
achievements including the construction of an extensive data centre, high performance 
computing and high-speed networks, the delivery of Google email, and a major upgrade to the 
BlackBoard Learning Management System and Student Management System (ISIS).

Mr Kathir is actively involved in key Commonwealth-funded research initiatives including 
eResearch collaboration, research data storage, and the National Research Network. He 
currently serves as company director for a number of organisations including the Victorian 
Partnership for Advanced Computing, the Victorian Education and Research Network, and the 
Council of Australian University Directors of Information Technnology. 

Mr Sendur Kathir
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 ■ The first stage of the Melbourne Graduate 
School of Science facilities opened 
in September, with the final stage for 
Optometry expected to be completed in 
early 2012.

 ■ The renovation of the Faculty of the VCA 
and MCM’s Elisabeth Murdoch Building 
at the Southbank campus was completed 
late 2011 to provide students with 
improved and flexible learning facilities.

 ■ The Chemistry Building has undergone 
major redevelopment, with the overall aim 
of consolidating teaching and office areas 
into the Chemistry West Building and 
research activities into Chemistry East. 
The project is in its final stages and, once 
completed, will represent an investment 
of $40.5 million in new teaching and 
research facilities.

 ■ A major upgrade of the accommodation 
and common areas at Medley Hall was 
completed, with the college reopening to 
students for the beginning of Semester 2.

MaintEnanCE and sErviCEs 
inFrastruCturE
$33.4 million was spent on asset 
maintenance of the University’s buildings, 
grounds and infrastructure in 2011, including 
$9.6 million on heating and cooling, $3.7 million 
on lighting and electrical upgrades, and  
2.3 million on fire protection systems. 

It is estimated that backlog maintenance has 
reduced from $116 million to $105 million as 
a result of a targeted works program utilising 
funds provided from the Asset Protection 
Program. This program aims to improve the 
condition of buildings and infrastructure so 
that all assets can be rated as ‘good’ or better. 
Wherever possible, the asset improvement 
works consider changes in functionality 
requirements and an improved overall risk 
profile of the University.

inForMation tEChnology
In 2011 the University implemented new 
initiatives to provide IT Infrastructure for 
research. These included delivery of new 
services for data storage, virtual servers 
and high-performance computing as well 
as high-bandwidth network connectivity 
to AARNet and other Victorian-based 
institutions. Major externally funded research 
IT projects, such as the National e-Research 
Collaboration Tools and Resources (NeCTAR), 
also commenced to deliver future eResearch 
capabilities.

Significant improvements were made to the 
way students and staff access information 
and new systems and engage in learning 
activities. Major initiatives included the 
Workspace Computing and Infrastructure 
Project, the Learning Management System 
upgrade, and the transition of all students to 
the new Google student email system. As a 

result the University can leverage the latest 
technology and applications to better support 
teaching and learning.

The new student management system (ISIS), 
implemented in 2010, was further improved 
during 2011 with an upgrade of the underlying 
TechnologyOne product from version 4.7 to 
4.9. The upgrade resolved various system 
issues outstanding from the implementation 
and delivered a range of improvements across 
functional modules including eApplication, 
Study Plans, Student Timetable, RHD and 
eStudent functions within the Student Portal. 

The Themis Improvement Program 
commenced in 2011. This program will 
upgrade key enterprise systems for 
Finance, Human Resources and Research 
Administration as well as provide a suite of 
tools for reporting and data analysis. These 
projects are planned to go live in 2012.

Prominent astrophysicist Professor Stuart Wyithe received the 2011 Malcolm McIntosh Prize 
for Physical Scientist of the Year for his work on the physics of the formation of the universe. 
The $50 000 prize is part of the Prime Minister’s Prizes for Science.

Professor Wyithe, who is also an Australian Research Council (ARC) Queen Elizabeth II  
Fellow, is studying the origins of the first galaxies, exploring how and when the first 
generation of galaxies formed, and what they looked like.

He is using the new multi-billion-dollar generation of telescopes, including the Giant Magellan 
Telescope, to conduct his research. 

Professor Wyithe’s most recent accolade follows a number of earlier awards.

This year he was one of fellows to receive an Australian Laureate Fellowship from the ARC to 
further his research into the origins of the universe. And in 2009 he was awarded the Pawsey 
Medal (AAS) by the Australian Academy of Science for outstanding research in physics by 
scientists under 40 years of age.

Professor Wyithe also works in the field of gravitational lensing. His primary interests include 
quasar microlensing, and the statistical properties of gravitational lensing by galaxies. 

Professor Stuart Wyithe

ENABLERS

provide a significant expansion of dental 
clinical and teaching facilities.

 ■ The $20 million Australian Urban Research 
Infrastructure Network, an initiative funded 
by the Australian Government’s Super 
Science scheme, is under development.

 ■ The $47 million National eResearch 
Collaboration Tools and Resources 
project, with funding under the Australian 
Government’s Super Science Scheme, 
will enhance research collaboration and 
improve the technology and research 
infrastructure needed to enhance 
research outcomes.

 ■ The University of Melbourne has joined 
with six other partners in the development 
of the new $1.07 billion Victorian 
Comprehensive Cancer Centre. The 
project is due to be completed in 2015.

 ■ The new $1 billion Royal Children’s Hospital 
was opened in November. The hospital 
includes new facilities for the University’s 
Department of Paediatrics and the Murdoch 
Children’s Research Institute, and features 
an integrated education facility.

 ■ The new $51.6 million Western Centre 
for Health Research and Education, for 
which the University partnered with 
Western Health and Victoria University to 
expand teaching and research capacity at 
the Sunshine Hospital campus, opened 

in June. The centre is representative of a 
geographically based precinct for research 
and teaching being developed by the 
Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health 
Sciences.

nEw buildings
 ■ Planning for a new building for the Faculty 

of Architecture, Building and Planning has 
commenced, with construction expected 
to begin in 2013 for a 2015 opening. The 
building will include a 500-seat lecture 
theatre and construction will incorporate a 
number of sustainable technologies.

 ■ Construction of the Melbourne University 
Boatshed expansion was completed and 
opened in April 2011 to improve rowing and 
function facilities for students and staff.

rEFurbishEd FaCilitiEs
 ■ The Giblin-Eunson Library, which supports 

the Faculty of Business and Economics 
and the Melbourne Graduate School of 
Education, commenced operations in July, 
representing a significant component of 
the five-year Library Strategic Plan. Its 
Barry Street location brings it closer to 
the Faculty of Business and Economics 
and the Melbourne Graduate School of 
Education.

 ■ The redevelopment of the Baillieu Library 
commenced in 2011. The refurbishment 
of the ground floor was completed and 
opened for operations in August, providing 

more study space and a streamlined 
system for book returns. 

 ■ The $33.2 million Graduate Learning 
Spaces project is in its final stages. The 
project has involved the construction of 
collaborative teaching and learning spaces 
for graduate education across seven 
faculties. 

significant refurbishment projects 
completed in 2011

 ■ Melbourne Law School teaching facilities 
were completed for commencement of 
the 2011 academic year.

 ■ Upgraded Melbourne School of Land and 
Environment facilities were completed 
in April. The project improved the 
graduate study areas and disabled access 
provisions, and delivered student spaces 
that opened up onto the Systems Garden.

 ■ The Melbourne Graduate School 
of Education refurbishment of 234 
Queensberry Street commenced at the 
start of 2011, and was completed in 
August.
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The University of Melbourne was established by an 
Act of the Victorian Parliament in April 1853. Since 
then it has been governed by successive Acts, the 
most recent being the University of Melbourne Act 
2009 (‘the Act’). The 2009 Act followed a review of 
all Victorian university acts initiated by the Victorian 
Government in 2008. 

The new Act came into effect on 1 July 2010.  
Its main purposes are to:

 ■ Have an overall focus on the powers and 
responsibilities of the University as the relevant 
legal entity, rather than Council

 ■ Set up the management framework for the 
operation of the University, subject to the new 
Act, and to the governance responsibilities of 
Council, including its broad legislative powers 
relating to the University

 ■ Provide Council with enhanced powers of 
delegation under the new Act beyond its own 
committees, or any member of Council or officer 
of the University. In particular, Section 18 now 
gives express power for Council to delegate 
powers or functions to the Academic Board 
or any other entity as prescribed by University 
Statutes

 ■ Provide that the Minister can approve guidelines 
with respect to a number of matters, the key 
one of which will be those covering University 
commercial activities.

Pursuant to the Act, the primary responsibilities of 
Council, as the governing body, include:

(a) Ensuring that the University is managed lawfully, 
ethically and prudently

(b) Approving the University’s strategic and business 
plans, and specifically the strategic goals and 
financial objectives contained therein

(c) Deciding the expenditure authorisation limits to 
be delegated to the Vice-Chancellor and other 
senior officers of the University, and approving 
expenditure above those levels

(d) Approving any significant changes to the 
organisational structure of the University

(e) Determining what academic authorities are to be 
delegated to the Academic Board

(f) Overseeing the establishment of University 
charitable trusts and the proper discharge of 
University trust obligations

(g) Approving investments and strategic 
commitments that may have a material effect on 
the assets, financial performance or operations 
of the University and any material change in the 
nature of the business or role of the University

(h) Monitoring the decisions and actions of the Vice-
Chancellor and the performance of the University 
to ensure satisfactory progress is being made 
towards the vision, strategic goals and financial 
objectives of the University as reflected in 
approved plans

(i) Approving the University master plan

(j) Monitoring relations between the University, 
governments and the external community

(k) Approving the appointment of the Vice-
Chancellor, Deputy Vice-Chancellors (including 
Provost), Deans, Senior Vice-Principal and other 
members of the professional staff as specified 
from time to time

(l) Determining any matters referred to it by the 
Vice-Chancellor or the Academic Board, and

(m) Ensuring that all external accountabilities are met.

obJECtivEs oF thE univErsity
Section 5 of the Act states that the objectives of the 
University are:

(a) To provide and maintain a teaching and learning 
environment of excellent quality offering higher 
education at an international standard

(b) To provide vocational education and training, 
further education and other forms of education 
determined by the University to support and 
complement the provision of higher education  
by the University

(c) To undertake scholarship, pure and applied 
research, invention, innovation, education and 
consultancy of international standing and to apply 
those matters to the advancement of knowledge 
and to the benefit of the wellbeing of the Victorian, 
Australian and international communities

(d) To equip graduates of the University to excel in 
their chosen careers and to contribute to the life 
of the community

UNivERSiTy gOvERNANCE

The Old Quadrangle, built in stone, was the first building of the 
University, containing classrooms and the library on one side, 
and apartments for professors on the other. Housing the Law 
Faculty for many years, the Old Quad is now headquarters  
for the School of Historical and Philosophical Studies.
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ExtErnal-MEMbEr CoMMittEEs
Although the Chancellor and the Vice-
Chancellor are ex officio members of all 
University bodies, certain committees are 
otherwise composed wholly of members 
external to council. The Remuneration 
and Employment Conditions Committee 
is an example of a standing committee so 
constituted. The Council from time to time may 
establish an ad hoc Due Diligence Committee 
to consider a specific issue (for example a 
matter of strategic importance or a proposal 
involving unusually large expenditure) and, if 
Council so determines, such a committee may 
be made up exclusively or predominantly of 
external members. 

In such instances, the need for a combination 
of expertise and independence has made 
it appropriate for Council to rely on external 
members able to bring special expertise to the 
deliberations of the committees. 

Council Committees in 2011 comprised the 
following:

audit and risk CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: the hon david white 
The Audit and Risk Committee advises 
Council and its Finance Committee on the 
policy direction and effectiveness of both 
internal and external audit investigations and 
reviews, on the effectiveness and efficiency 
of internal control systems, and on risk and 
processes relating to the governance and 
management of risk.

buildings and EstatEs CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: Mr robert Johanson 
The Buildings and Estates Committee 
exercises governance responsibilities on 
behalf of Council in the oversight of the 
planning, development and stewardship of the 
University’s buildings, infrastructure and open 
spaces on all campuses.

CounCil noMinations and 
govErnanCE CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: the hon alex Chernov (to April) 
Ms Elizabeth alexander (from April) 
The Council Nominations and Governance 
Committee advises Council on the overall 
governance of the University and on matters 
relating to selection and appointment of 
members of Council, as well as considering 
proposed amendments to the Act.

FinanCE CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: Ms Elizabeth alexander 
The Finance Committee exercises governance 
responsibilities in respect of the University’s 
financial and business affairs, including 

monitoring the financial risk and performance 
of the University’s subsidiaries and commercial 
ventures. Within delegated authority, it acts 
on behalf of Council in those matters. The 
Investment Management Committee reports 
to Council through the Finance Committee.

honours CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: the hon alex Chernov (to April) 
Ms Elizabeth alexander (from April) 
The Honours Committee nominates, considers 
and recommends on behalf of Council 
candidates for honorary degrees, medals for 
exceptional service, and the appointment of 
eminent scholars. It also advises on other 
honours and awards in recognition of service 
to the University or the community generally.

lEgislation and trusts CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: Justice susan Crennan 
The Legislation and Trusts Committee 
advises Council on the appropriate form for 
draft Statutes and Regulations of Council 
and oversees the University’s stewardship 
of endowments and trusts. The Committee 
includes three members of Council, one of 
whom is appointed chairperson.

rEMunEration and EMPloyMEnt 
Conditions CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: the hon alex Chernov (to April) 
Ms Elizabeth alexander (from April) 
The Remuneration and Employment 
Conditions Committee exercises governance 
responsibilities in the oversight of remuneration, 
staff conditions and benefits, and other matters 
relating to employment policy. Within its 
delegated authority, the Committee acts on 
behalf of Council in those matters.

vCa intEgration CoMMittEE 
2011 Chair: the hon alex Chernov (to April) 
Ms Elizabeth alexander (from April) 
Established by a Heads of Agreement dated 
January 2007, the VCA Integration Committee 
reviews and advises Council at least annually 
on whether integration between the University 
and the Victorian College of the Arts is 
proceeding in accordance with the Heads of 
Agreement. It is chaired in alternate years by a 
member of Council and a member of the VCA 
Advisory Board. 

indEMnity For CounCil
Pursuant to Section 19 of the Act, the 
University of Melbourne indemnifies members 
of Council and University committees in 
respect of acts or omissions in good faith in the 
exercise of their powers or duties.

Academic governance
aCadEMiC board
The Academic Board is established by Council 
under the Act and in Statute 4.1 – Academic 
Board. Reporting directly to Council, its primary 
functions are the supervision and development 
of all academic activities of the University, 
including maintenance of high standards of 
teaching and research. The Board is also 
responsible for development of academic and 
research policy. President of the Academic 
Board is an annually elected position and is 
supported by a Vice-President and Deputy 
Vice-President.

President of the academic board 
Professor Ron Slocombe 
BVSc (Hons) Melb. MS PhD Michigan State U 
DipACVP MACVS MAICD

vice-President of the academic board 
Professor Ruth Fincher 
BA (Hons) Melb. MA McMaster PhD Clark

deputy vice-President of the  
academic board 
Professor Rachael Webster 
BSc Monash MSc Sussex PhD Cantab

Standing Committees of the Academic Board 
report to the Board after every meeting on 
matters within their remit as defined by their 
terms of reference. The Academic Board 
meets regularly; in 2011 it met eight times, 
from February to December.

Faculties, schools and 
other academic units
In 2011, the University of Melbourne 
comprised 11 faculties and graduate schools 
established as faculties, together with the 
Australia India Institute, Bio21 Molecular 
Science and Biotechnology Institute, 
Melbourne Business School, the Nossal 
Institute for Global Health, and the School of 
Melbourne Consulting and Custom Programs. 

FaCulty oF arChitECturE,  
building and Planning
The Faculty of Architecture, Building and 
Planning is structured as a single-department 
faculty, containing one graduate school:

 ■ Melbourne School of Design
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Council standing 
Committees*

Faculty of Architecture, 
Building and Planning

Faculty of Arts

Faculty of Business  
and Economics

Melbourne Graduate 
School of Education

Melbourne School  
of Engineering

Melbourne School of  
Land and Environment

Melbourne Law School

Faculty of Medicine, 
Dentistry and Health 

Sciences

Faculty of Science

Faculty of Veterinary 
Science

Faculty of the Victorian 
College of the Arts 

and Melbourne 
Conservatorium of Music

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Buildings and 
Estates Committee

Council 
Nominations 

and Governance 
Committee

Finance Committee

Honours Committee

Legislation and 
Trusts Committee

Remuneration 
and Employment 

Conditions 
Committee

VCA Integration 
Committee

Selection 
Procedures 
Committee

Coursework 
Scholarships & 

Awards Committee

Research Higher 
Degrees Committee

Appeals 
Committees

Academic Programs 
Committee

Libraries and 
Academic 
Resources 
Committee

Teaching & Learning 
Quality Assurance 

Committee

Teaching 
and Learning 
Development 
Committee

Asialink

Ian Potter Museum 
of Art

International House

Medley Hall

Melbourne Theatre 
Company

Melbourne 
University Sport

MU Bookshops

Veterinary Hospital

semi-autonomous 
bodies

Australian International 
Health Institute

Australian Music 
Examinations Board 

(Vic) Ltd

Australian National 
Academy of Music Ltd

Melbourne Business 
School Ltd

Melbourne University 
Publishing Ltd

MU Student Union Ltd

UoM Commercial Ltd

Victorian Institute for 
Chemical Sciences Ltd 

(in liquidation)

subsidiary 
companies

* Details these items are provided on the following pages.

academic 
board*

Faculties and  
graduate schools*

Australia India Institute

Bio 21 Molecular 
Science and 

Biotechnology  
Institute

Melbourne  
Business School

Nossal Institute  
for Global Health

School of Melbourne 
Consulting and  

Custom Programs

other 
academic units

Council

(e) To serve the Victorian, Australian and 
international communities and the public 
interest by:

(i) Enriching cultural and community life

(ii) Elevating public awareness of 
educational, scientific and artistic 
developments

(iii) Promoting critical and free enquiry, 
informed intellectual discourse and 
public debate within the University and 
in the wider society

(f) To use its expertise and resources to 
involve Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people of Australia in its teaching, learning, 
research and advancement of knowledge 
activities and thereby contribute to:

(i) Realising Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander aspirations, and

(ii) The safeguarding of the ancient and 
rich Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
cultural heritage

(g) To provide programs and services in a way 
that reflects principles of equity and social 
justice

(h) To confer degrees and grant other awards

(i) To utilise or exploit its expertise and 
resources, whether commercially or 
otherwise.

The governance of the University of 
Melbourne, subject to the provisions of 
the Act, is detailed in a Council Standing 
Resolution (1.3). Part of that Standing 
Resolution covers Council committees.

MixEd-rEPrEsEntation CoMMittEEs
Reflecting the value of balanced input, most 
major University Council Committees are 
of mixed composition, combining external 
and internal Council members and, where 
appropriate, involving non-members of Council, 
both external and internal, who bring special 
knowledge or skills to the committee’s tasks. 

The Buildings and Estates Committee is 
perhaps the clearest example of a Council 
Committee constituted of a mix of external and 
internal Council and non-Council members. 
The internal members are stakeholders with 
an in-depth knowledge of the issues that 
concern the Committee, but because they 
may have particular interests in the outcome 
of its decisions, external members provide the 
necessary balance. 
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FaCulty oF arts
The Faculty of Arts comprises the following 
graduate school, schools and institute:

 ■ Graduate School of Humanities and  
Social Sciences

 ■ School of Culture and Communication

 ■ School of Historical and Philosophical 
Studies 

 ■ School of Languages and Linguistics

 ■ School of Social and Political Sciences

 ■ The Asia Institute

FaCulty oF businEss and EConoMiCs 
The Faculty of Business and Economics 
comprises of the following graduate school, 
departments and institute:

 ■ Graduate School of Business and 
Economics

 ■ Department of Accounting and  
Business Information Systems

 ■ Department of Economics

 ■ Department of Finance

 ■ Department of Management and 
Marketing

 ■ Melbourne Institute 

MElbournE graduatE sChool  
oF EduCation
Melbourne Graduate School of Education  
is a graduate school established as a faculty.

The Graduate School includes:

 ■ Centre for the Study of Higher Education

 ■ LH Martin Institute for Higher Education 
Leadership and Management

MElbournE sChool oF EnginEEring
Melbourne School of Engineering comprises 
the following graduate school and 
departments:

 ■ Melbourne School of Information 

 ■ Department of Biomedical Engineering

 ■ Department of Chemical and Biomolecular 
Engineering

 ■ Department of Computing and Information 
Systems

 ■ Department of Electrical and Electronic 
Engineering

 ■ Department of Infrastructure Engineering

 ■ Department of Mechanical Engineering

MElbournE sChool oF land  
and EnvironMEnt
Melbourne School of Land and Environment 
comprises three departments:

 ■ Department of Agriculture and Food 
Systems

 ■ Department of Forest and Ecosystem 
Science

 ■ Department of Resource Management  
and Geography

The School operates out of four campuses: 
Burnley, Creswick, Dookie and Parkville.

MElbournE law sChool
Melbourne Law School is a graduate school 
established as a faculty.

FaCulty oF MEdiCinE, dEntistry  
and hEalth sCiEnCEs
The Faculty of Medicine, Dentistry and Health 
Sciences comprises of the following graduate 
schools and their constituent departments:

 ■ Melbourne Dental School

 ■ Melbourne Medical School

– Department of Anatomy and  
Cell Biology

– Department of Audiology and  
Speech Pathology

– Department of Biochemistry and 
Molecular Biology

– Department of General Practice 

– Department of Medicine,  
Austin Health and Northern Health

– Department of Medicine, Royal 
Melbourne Hospital and Western Health

– Department of Medicine,  
St Vincent’s Hospital

– Department of Microbiology  
and Immunology

– Department of Obstetrics and 
Gynaecology 

– Department of Ophthalmology  
(Centre for Eye Research Australia)

– Department of Otolaryngology

– Department of Paediatrics

– Department of Pathology

– Department of Pharmacology

– Department of Physiology

– Department of Psychiatry

– Department of Psychological  
Sciences/Psychology

– Department of Radiology

– Department of Rural Health

– University Department of  
Rural Health (UDRH)

– Department of Surgery,  
Austin and Northern Health

– Department of Surgery, Royal 
Melbourne Hospital and Western Health

– Department of Surgery,  
St Vincent’s Hospital

 ■ Melbourne School of Health Sciences

– Department of Nursing

– Department of Physiotherapy

– Department of Social Work

 ■ Melbourne School of Population Health

FaCulty oF sCiEnCE
The Faculty of Science includes the following 
graduate school, schools and departments:

 ■ Melbourne Graduate School of Science

 ■ School of Botany

 ■ School of Chemistry

 ■ School of Earth Sciences

 ■ Department of Genetics

 ■ Department of Information Systems

 ■ Department of Mathematics and Statistics

 ■ Department of Optometry and Vision 
Sciences

 ■ School of Physics

 ■ Department of Zoology

FaCulty oF vEtErinary sCiEnCE
The Faculty of Veterinary Science is a single-
department faculty with a single school. 
The Veterinary Hospital became a semi-
autonomous body under the new Statute 8.1, 
which came into effect on 22 December 2009.

 ■ Melbourne School of Veterinary Science

FaCulty oF thE viCtorian CollEgE 
oF thE arts and MElbournE 
ConsErvatoriuM oF MusiC
The Faculty of the Victorian College of the Arts 
and Melbourne Conservatorium of Music is the 
result of the merger of two previously separate 
faculties, which came into effect on 6 April 
2009. Initially called the Faculty of the VCA and 
Music, it changed its name in November 2011 
to reflect the two-institute model. 

 ■ Melbourne Conservatorium of Music

 ■ Victorian College of the Arts

– School of Art

– School of Contemporary Music

– School of Film and Television

– School of Performing Arts

– The Centre for Ideas

– The Centre for Cultural Partnerships

 ■ Wilin Centre for Indigenous Arts
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dEtails oF CounCil MEMbErs’ attEndanCE at CounCil MEEtings

Category of appointment Council member Council meetings 2011

Eligible to 
attend

attended

Chancellor The Hon A Chernov 5 5

Ms E Alexander 11 9

vice-Chancellor Professor G Davis 11 10

Ex-officio – President of the academic board Professor R Slocombe 11 10

six persons appointed by the governor-in-Council Justice S Crennan 11 9

Mr R Johanson 11 9

Mr A Peake 11 10

Mr J Wilson 11 9

Mr R Bolt 2 1

Judge I Lawson 5 3

six persons appointed by Council Mr R McPherson 11 10

Dr V Mansour 11 8

Mr M Myer 11 10

The Hon Mr D White 11 9

Ms E Ritchie 11 10

Justice J Middleton 11 9

 
 
 
 
 

three persons elected by, and from, staff of the university

– Professors

– academic staff other than professors

– Professional staff

Professor G Bowes 11 9

Dr F Vervaet 11 10

Ms M Schoen 11 8

two persons elected by and from students Mr M Griffith 11 10

Mr J Anderson 11 9

selection 
Procedures 
Committee

Coursework 
scholarships 
and awards 
Committee

research 
higher 

degrees 
Committee

appeals 
Committees

academic 
Programs 

Committee

libraries and 
academic 
resources 
Committee

teaching 
and learning 

Quality 
assurance 
Committee

teaching 
and learning 
development 
Committee

academic board

1. In addition, three meetings were held by circular resolution.

2. During the period that Ms Deborah Harman was nominated for membership in the category of ‘six persons appointed by the Governor in Council’, she attended 4 meetings 
as an observer until her appointment was formalised.
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With the assistance of a University of 
Melbourne Cultural and Community Grant, 
and the support of community philanthropists, 
members of a group which includes 
Melbourne academics and creative writing 
students organised the first of a series of 
funerals offering a dignified and compassionate 
farewell to some of the poorest and most 
socially isolated people in the community.

For the first of the funerals, a collection of 
35 passengers – people who had known the 
dead, some relatives and others connected to 
the Lines to Time group – boarded the replica 
tall ship Enterprize to acknowledge the final 
disbursement of the ashes of seven people, 
including two babies who had died shortly 
after birth.

Musician Stuart Robertson piped the 
passengers and crew out, playing Amazing 
Grace and Sleep, Dearie, Sleep, and 
Melbourne poet Peter Bakowski read Eulogy 
at Sea, specially written in dedication to the 
people being buried.

After the scattering of the ashes from the stern 
of the ship, sails were raised by the volunteer 
crew using the ship’s traditional hemp ropes, 
and the Enterprize sailed under wind back to 
Williamstown Pier. 

“Our hope is that this gesture will remind us of 
the worth of all individuals, and that it will itself 
generate compassion among the public as they 
become aware of this practice that, in fact, 
honours us all,” says Professor Brophy.

By generating 
cultural expressions 
of compassion and 
respect, we aim to 
inspire others and 
encourage them to be 
more compassionate 
members of society.
Professor Kevin Brophy 
Coordinator of Creative Writing 
School of Culture and Communications 
Faculty of Arts 

EULOgy AT SEA

Image: The Melbourne skyline provided a dramatic  
backdrop for the first of the Lines to Time  
funeral services on replica tall ship Enterprize. 

Other academic units
australia india institutE
The objectives of the Australia India 
Institute are to facilitate the coordination and 
development of studies in Australia of Indian 
culture and its social, scientific and economic 
dimensions, and to enhance understanding 
and cooperation between Australia and India 
in these matters.

bio21 MolECular sCiEnCE and 
biotEChnology institutE
The Bio21 Molecular Science and 
Biotechnology Institute (Bio21 Institute) is a 
multidisciplinary research centre specialising 
in medical, agricultural, and environmental 
biotechnology.

MElbournE businEss sChool
The Melbourne Business School is a separate 
legal entity which operates as a School of the 
University offering postgraduate and executive 
business education programs approved by 
the University’s Academic Board. It has two 
centres of excellence and its research activities 
focus on, inter alia, economics, organisational 
behaviour, strategy and marketing.

MElbournE sChool oF graduatE 
rEsEarCh
The Melbourne School of Graduate Research 
provides a range of enrichment activities and 

support mechanisms that contribute to the 
success of postgraduate research students and 
consequently enhance the research reputation 
of the University.

sChool oF MElbournE Consulting 
and CustoM PrograMs
The School of Melbourne Consulting and 
Custom Programs provides consultancy 
services, professional education and custom 
programs to the corporate and government 
sectors and staff of the University.

thE nossal institutE For global 
hEalth
The Nossal Institute for Global Health 
contributes to the improvement of global 
health through research, education, inclusive 
development practice, and training of future 
leaders in the fields of health sciences.

intErdisCiPlinary rEsEarCh 
institutEs
Institute for a Broadband-Enabled Society  
Melbourne Energy Institute 
Melbourne Materials Institute  
Melbourne Neuroscience Institute 
Melbourne Sustainable Society Institute

In addition to the particular objectives and 
functions related to their respective fields 
of operation, institutes have the following 
objectives in common:

(1) to respond to societal concerns which 
require interdisciplinary research approaches

(2) to increase public awareness of, and 
debate on, critical issues in their field

(3) to raise the profile of University research as 
the basis for various forms of partnerships

(4) to develop relationships with relevant 
government departments and 
instrumentalities, educational institutions, 
and government and private research 
agencies, both within Australia and 
internationally  

(5) to promote, and attract funding for, 
interdisciplinary research in a recognised 
area of strength of the University

(6) to encourage, design and consider proposals 
for research projects, particularly collaborative 
research projects across the University 

(7) to support research activities in selected 
priority areas, specific to their respective 
fields of operation 

(8) to provide a point of contact for University 
and external parties interested in their field 
of operation, and

(9) to provide advice to the University on any 
matter which it considers appropriate relating 
to the field of operation of the Institute.

FaCulty and aCadEMiC unit tEaChing load – 2011 EstiMatEs

Faculty/academic unit load (EFtsl) % Female

architecture, building and Planning 1,925.8 47.8

arts 6,546.7 65.1

business and Economics 5,617.5 50.9

Medicine, dentistry and health sciences 6,888.7 62.5

Melbourne business school 710.3 29.8

Melbourne Consulting and Custom Programs 34.0 48.2

Melbourne graduate school of Education 2,404.0 73.3

Melbourne law school 1,727.1 55.5

Melbourne school of Engineering 2,985.8 23.3

Melbourne school of graduate research 16.4 52.7

Melbourne school of land and Environment 1,296.9 57.5

science 4,056.7 45.7

student Management services* 360.7 62.1

veterinary science 574.2 75.6

victorian College of the arts and Melbourne Conservatorium of Music 1,724.3 59.3

total** 36,869.0 55.0

* Includes ‘unallocated’ (student on exchange) load ** As at 22 November 2011
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training
Over 6700 attendees undertook OHS-related training throughout 2011. 

oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty training ProvidEd: 2011

training course type attendees 2011

Health and wellbeing, change management and psychosocial 1974

Supervisor roles and responsibilities 1198

Staff roles and responsibilities 1145

Manual handling and ergonomics 458

Risk management 407

First aid 287

Chemical safety 264

Emergency management 256

Radiation safety 208

Personal protective equipment 152

Compressed gas safety 70

Material safety data sheet database 28

Health and safety representative 4

EMErgEnCy PrEParEdnEss and rEsPonsE 
The University of Melbourne’s emergency preparedness and response procedures are overseen and monitored by the Business Continuity, Crisis and 
Emergency Planning Advisory Group, chaired by the Head of University Services. The advisory group met twice during 2011. 

The University continued its ongoing commitment to and resourcing of both campus-wide and local building emergency plans based on the 
requirements of AS3745 Emergency Control Organisation and Procedures for Buildings, Structures and Workplaces. In addition, bushfire response 
plans have been developed for the University’s rural campuses at Dookie and Creswick.

Evacuation drills were scheduled for each building occupied or controlled during 2011. Over 85 per cent of buildings completed the scheduled drill. 
Where scheduled drills were not undertaken, supplementary drills were scheduled.

Following each emergency exercise, a review of the procedure’s effectiveness is conducted, and action plans developed to address any deficiencies 
identified. 

radiation ManagEMEnt
During 2011 the University’s Electromagnetic Radiation Committee met on three occasions. The committee’s significant achievements in 2011 
included:

 ■ Development and regulatory approval of radiation training packages

 ■ Development and publication of generic risk assessments for processing involving radiation.

1. Statement on occupational health and safety (OHS) matters
The University of Melbourne has a broad OHS risk profile, including specific risks associated with laboratory operations; workshop operations; chemical 
storage, handling and use; and manual handling. 

The University OHS Policy requires the University to provide a safe and healthy working and learning environment for all staff, contractors, students 
and visitors, and is supported by the OHS Strategic Plan. Developed in consultation with University staff, the plan sets OHS goals towards five 
strategic objectives. 

oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty stratEgiC Plan, 2011 outCoMEs

objective outcomes

Reduce the occurrence or re-occurrence of 
workplace injuries and illnesses

1.

2.

13.0% increase in lost time injuries from 2010

1.8% reduction in total claims from 2010

Continually improve compliance with OHS 
legislation and effective implementation of 
the University’s OHS Management System 
(OHSMS)

1.

2.

3.

4.

One prohibition issued by WorkSafe 

No improvement notices issued by WorkSafe 

Maintenance of certification to NAT and AS4801

Maintenance of self-insurance licence

Improve health and safety leadership and 
culture throughout the University

1.

2.

Continued implementation of budgetary incentives for internal OHS audit compliance

Inclusion of OHS responsibilities in staff performance development framework templates

Provide high-quality, consistent and practical 
health and safety information and advice to the 
University community

1.

2.

3.

4.

Continued revision of OHS publications

Publication of practical safety bulletins and alerts

Publication of practical forms and templates

Continued development of networks of OHS managers, advisers and coordinators

Effectively plan and prepare for 
implementation of the national model Work 
Health and Safety legislation

1. Commenced detailed review and analysis of draft model legislation to identify gaps in new 
requirements and existing policy, procedure and practice

oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty ManagEMEnt systEM (ohsMs)
The University of Melbourne’s OHSMS was subject to continuous review throughout 2011. New or revised procedures and publications include: 

 ■ Chemical Management Guidelines

 ■ Internal Audit Workbook.

oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty rEsourCEs
In 2011, each budget division appointed local staff to provide OHS support services in accordance with Responsible Division Management (RDM) 
principles. Higher-risk budget divisions appointed local OHS managers, and moderate and lower-risk budget divisions appointed part-time local OHS 
advisory staff.

Complementing the local OHS staff, specialist OHS advisory services continued to be provided to all budget divisions through the OHS and Injury 
Management department.
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inCidEnts rEQuiring notiFiCation to worksaFE
The University of Melbourne reported three dangerous occurrences and 20 serious injuries to WorkSafe Victoria in accordance with the incident 
notification requirements of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004 (Vic). 

notiFiCations to worksaFE: 2011

type Event occurrences in 2011 

Serious injury or illness Immediate medical treatment resulting from a laceration 9

Serious injury or illness Immediate medical treatment resulting from temporary loss of bodily function 4

Serious injury or illness Admission as an inpatient in a hospital 4

Dangerous occurrence Uncontrolled implosion, explosion or fire 3

Serious injury or illness Medical treatment within 48 hours of exposure to a substance 2

Serious injury or illness Immediate medical treatment resulting from an eye injury 1

Investigations of each incident have either commenced or been completed. After investigation, corrective and preventative actions were instigated to 
prevent or reduce the risk of re-occurrence.

ExtErnal oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty ManagEMEnt systEM (ohsMs) audits
Conformance of the University of Melbourne’s OHSMS to the National Self-Insurers Audit Tool (NAT) is one of the requirements of the University’s 
Workers Compensation Self-Insurance Licence, which is regulated by WorkSafe Victoria. During 2011, the University’s external auditors conducted a 
surveillance audit against the criteria of the NAT and AS4801 Occupational Health and Safety Management Systems. 

The audits included the management of the central OHSMS, two administrative divisions, three academic divisions, one semi-autonomous body and one 
wholly owned subsidiary. As a result of the audit, 253 conformance findings, three observation findings and six non-conformance findings were issued.

The audited divisons were required to develop action plans to address adverse audit findings.

Non-conformances were brought back into conformance, and certification to both NAT and AS4801 continued.

intErnal oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty ManagEMEnt systEM (ohsMs) audits
A program of internal audits of the University of Melbourne’s OHSMS against the NAT criteria continued throughout 2011. During 2011 over 2000 
samples were audited across academic and administrative divisions, semi-autonomous bodies and wholly owned subsidiaries of the University.  
Overall, the University achieved less than 0.6 per cent of audits had non-conformance findings and 5.1 per cent had correction findings. 

The audited divisions were required to develop action plans to address adverse audit findings, and progress was monitored as part of the internal audit 
program.

ConsultativE FraMEwork
Employees continue to be represented by elected and trained employee Health and Safety representatives in designated workgroups across the 
University. There were approximately 50 elected employee Health and Safety representatives holding office during 2011. Each budget division has an 
established Health and Safety Committee. Membership of these committees includes both employer and employee representatives. The employee 
representatives on Budget Division Health and Safety Committees are generally elected Health and Safety representatives.

Membership of the University-wide Occupational Health and Safety Committee (OHSC) consists of equal numbers of employer and employee 
representatives. The employee representatives are elected from the pool of University employee Health and Safety representatives. One Health and 
Safety representative was elected for the first time to the OHSC during 2011. The OHSC met four times during 2011, with minutes of the meetings 
published on the University’s safety website. 

oCCuPational hEalth survEillanCE and PrograMs
The University of Melbourne’s OHS and Injury Management Department coordinates and implements health monitoring and vaccination programs. 
These include regulatory health surveillance and vaccination programs to support the University’s compliance obligations, and voluntary vaccination 
programs to reduce the incidence of staff illness. 

During 2011, over 2100 staff and students received services – excluding influenza vaccinations – from the OHS and Injury Management Department. 

oCCuPational hEalth and sErviCE – sErviCEs ProvidEd: 2011

service provided 2011

Influenza vaccinations 2327

Spirometry 221

Other vaccinations (hepatitis A, B, tetanus, whooping cough, typhoid, rabies, measles/mumps/rubella) 153

Audiometry 109

Pathologies and biological screening 97

Q fever vaccinations 3

workErs CoMPEnsation and inJury ManagEMEnt
An early intervention approach has ensured that return-to-work plans were developed for all compensable injuries under the Workers’ Compensation 
Self-Insurance Licence during 2011. The University also continued to assist staff with non-compensable injuries and other health-related conditions, 
thereby achieving successful return-to-work outcomes.

sElF-insuranCE liCEnCE and aCCidEnt CoMPEnsation aCt 1985 (viC)
The annual claims management audit confirmed that 96.9 per cent of samples were in conformance with the requirements of the University’s self-
insurance licence and the Accident Compensation Act 1985 (Vic). 

rEgulatory aCtivity
The University continued to work cooperatively with OHS regulators, including WorkSafe Victoria, which was the most active OHS regulator at the 
University during 2011. 

worksaFE viCtoria aCtivity: 2011

action 2011

Visits to the University’s workplaces by WorkSafe 16

Prohibition notices issued by WorkSafe 1

Improvement notices issued by WorkSafe Nil

Occupational health and safety convictions Nil

WorkSafe intervention projects Nil

The prohibition notice issued by WorkSafe has since been addressed and the notice rescinded.

oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty PErForManCE
To ensure a safer work environment, OHS performance reports are provided to Deans and Executive Directors to assist managers in identifying problem 
areas, resource requirements and training needs in their workplaces.

All significant incidents are reviewed in detail and, where appropriate, action plans put in place to minimise risk of re-occurrence. 

oCCuPational hEalth and saFEty inCidEnt statistiCs: 2009–2011

Performance indicator 2009 2010 2011

Reported incidents (including injury and illness) 1034 1066 1266

Days lost due to reported injuries 567 558 806

Number of WorkCover claims 85 113 111

Number of lost time incidents 28 23 26

Work-related fatalities Nil Nil Nil
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sECtion a – univErsity-ControllEd EntitiEs

Entity Principal objectives Members of university 
staff or Council serving 
as directors or officers*

other university 
appointees 
serving as 
directors or 
officers*

level of 
financial 
risk

level of 
reputational 
risk

Australian Music 
Examinations Board 
(Vic) Ltd

To represent in Victoria the Australian 
Music Examinations Board as the State 
Committee for the purposes of the conduct 
within the State of Victoria and elsewhere 
of music examinations.

To aid, promote and assist music, music 
education and the appreciation of music.

Professor Ian Holtham

Mr James Bolton

Professor Warren 
Bebbington

Associate Professor 
Robin Stevens

N/A Medium Low

Australian National 
Academy of 
Music Ltd and its 
subsidiary, ANAM 
Foundation Ltd

To operate as a national centre of 
excellence in practical music education  
and training.

To provide practical music education and 
training for outstandingly talented music 
students.

Mr Michael Beaton-Wells 
(to October 2011)

Professor Barry 
Connyngham  
(from December 2011)

Mr Ian McRae

Professor Barry 
Sheehan

Low Low

Melbourne 
Business School Ltd 
(not a ‘Corporations 
Act’ subsidiary) 
and its subsidiaries, 
MBS Foundation 
Ltd and Mt Eliza 
Graduate School 
of Business and 
Government Ltd

To undertake the education of University 
graduates and others in management 
studies.

To conduct post-experience courses for 
practising managers.

To conduct postgraduate research 
programs into management and related 
areas, and to promote, license, develop  
and apply the results of research activities.

Professor Elizabeth 
Sonenberg

Professor Robert Wood

Mr Peter Jopling

Professor Frank 
Larkins

Low Medium

Melbourne 
University 
Publishing Ltd

To publish the best scholarly writing from 
Australia and overseas, both within and 
independent of the tertiary sector.

To develop and disseminate text and 
image-based intellectual property in a 
variety of formats and media.

To retain and develop Melbourne University 
Press and the Miegunyah Press as imprints 
of the company.

Ms Eda Ritchie Dr Bronte Adams

Ms Louise Adler

Mr Brian Johns

Mr Alan Kohler

Professor Bob 
Officer

Mr Laurence 
Muller

Emeritus 
Professor John 
McKenzie

Medium Medium

MU Student Union 
Ltd

To advance the education of students of 
the University by providing amenities, 
services and facilities for the benefit of 
students, utilising University funding and 
such other revenue or reserves of the 
company as may be appropriate in the 
circumstances.

Ms Lin Martin

Ms Lousie Doyle

Mr Anthony Peake

Mr Neil Robinson

Mr Trevor White Low Medium

Nossal Institute Ltd To undertake research, development, 
education, training, consultancy and other 
activities in regard to medicine, dentistry, 
health, health science and related areas.

To provide facilities for study, research  
and education.

Professor James 
McCluskey

Mr Allan Tait

N/A Low Low

2. Statement on 
the University’s risk 
management strategy
Identifying and managing risk is a core 
component of the University’s accountability 
structure, integrating the annual cycles of 
strategic and operational planning, reporting 
and quality assurance.

At governance level, a risk management 
framework has been approved by Council, 
and several Council committees exercise 
a governance role on behalf of Council in 
ensuring that designated risk accountabilities 
are being properly exercised. Key Council 
Committees in this regard are:

 ■ Audit and Risk Committee – provides 
advice to Council on the appropriate 
governance and risk management 
structures and processes, and the 
effectiveness of risk management controls. 
The Committee regularly monitors and 
reports to Council on the integrated 
University-wide risk assessment process. 
It also advises Council and the Finance 
Committee of Council on all matters 
pertaining to financial audits, management 
audits and reviews.

 ■ Finance Committee – has oversight of the 
University’s financial performance, position 
and risks, assuring that due financial 
processes and probity are carried out and 
that the University is fully compliant with 
legislative and government requirements. 
This committee monitors financial and 
major project risk management processes, 
as well as audit management letters 
to ensure that any control weaknesses 
identified in the financial audit process are 
appropriately managed. The Investment 
Management Committee reports to 
Council through the Finance Committee, 
and has oversight of the University’s 
investment portfolio.

 ■ Legislation and Trusts Committee – has 
oversight of trusts policies and processes.

The membership of these committees 
comprises external members of Council 
and other external appointees with relevant 
expertise in audit and compliance, risk 
management, financial management and the 
law. There is also regular reporting to Council 
on compliance issues by the University 
Compliance Officer.

At the management level, risk is monitored 
and managed through the Risk Management 
Committee, and consistency with International 
Standard ISO/FIDIS 31000:2009 (replacing  
the Australian Risk Management Standards)  
is applied.

Academic and administrative divisions 
undertake a strategic risk assessment on an 
annual basis, as an integral part of the business 
planning process, and risk management 
and mitigation is a core responsibility of all 
senior managers. Divisional assessments 
are integrated into the overall University risk 
assessment which is reported regularly to 
Council through the Audit and Risk Committee.

Operational risks are monitored by the 
Administrative and Business Advisory Group, 
which is responsible for the development 
and implementation of effective and efficient 
administrative policies and practices, with the 
accountable head of division being responsible 
for a quarterly review. Quarterly reports are 
received by the Risk Management Committee.

In addition, the University has dedicated 
risk program managers who are responsible 
for ensuring that effective University-wide 
programs are in place for controlling specialist 
risks – Environmental Health and Safety, 
Biosafety, Insurance, WorkCover, IT and 
Information Services, Business Continuity 
Planning, and Crisis Management and 
Emergency Management Planning. Quarterly 
reports are received by the Risk Management 
Committee. 

The University considers that this risk 
management framework is consistent with the 
International Standard ISO/FIDIS 31000:2009 
(replacing the Australian/New Zealand Risk 
Management Standards).

A risk information webpage is available at 
www.fpg.unimelb.edu.au/ipeq/risk.html.

rEPort on CoMMErCial and 
CorPoratE aCtivitiEs
This report is required for compliance by the 
University with its Commercial Guidelines, 
specifically paragraph 8(b) of Guideline 4, as 
approved by the Victorian Government and 
mandated under the terms of the University of 
Melbourne Act 2009.

The University Secretary is responsible for 
maintaining a register of commercial and 
corporate activities, and the Chief Financial 
Officer is responsible for submitting proposals 
to the Finance Committee of Council regarding 
University participation in a company or 
involvement in a commercial activity, in 
accordance with the terms of a compliance 
framework first approved by Council in 
December 2010.

The University’s significant business 
operations are generally managed through 
semi-autonomous bodies. The entities below 
are ongoing semi-autonomous bodies, where 
control and management are exercised by 
or under the direction of a board on behalf 
of Council. They are staffed by University 
employees, and the composition of the 

University-appointed boards is as set out on 
pages 77–78. All members of the boards are 
covered by the University’s Directors and 
Officers Liability Insurance Policy.

In relation to investments or other activities 
coming within the terms of the Commercial 
Guidelines, the Finance Committee determined 
at its meeting in June 2010 that the University 
use the following as a guideline for ‘significant’:

 ■ Activities that comprise in excess of 2.5 per 
cent of University revenue (approximately 
$37.5 million) or net assets (approximately 
$87.5 million), or

 ■ Activities involving third-party 
relationships and that have the potential 
to pose significant reputational risk to the 
University, or

 ■ Activities which the University ‘considers 
sufficiently important or of interest to list’, 
that is, as per the requirement for semi-
autonomous bodies per paragraph 8(b) of 
the Commercial Guidelines.

The term ‘significant’ is also used by each of 
the University-controlled entities, and entities 
under Section D of this statement. For ease  
of administration, however, an amount of  
$10 million in committed or likely expenditure 
is used as a mandatory threshold above 
which full details need to be brought to the 
attention of the Finance Committee, in addition 
to activities that may otherwise qualify as 
‘significant’ by reference to the criteria outlined 
by the Finance Committee.

In relation to Paragraph 8(a)(iv) of Guideline 
4, no assessments were undertaken in 
2011 to determine whether any commercial 
activity was meeting its purposes and 
objectives. With respect to Melbourne 
University Bookshops (see Section B), the 
University commissioned an independent 
review in June 2011. The Finance Committee 
received a report in August 2011 and Council 
is considering options for the future of the 
bookshops.

In relation to paragraph 8(a)(v) of Guideline 4, 
all activities are ongoing with the exception of 
the Victorian Institute for Chemical Sciences 
Ltd which was deregistered in November 2011 
(see Section A – University Controlled Entities).

The register of commercial and corporate 
activities is as follows in Section A–D.
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sECtion b – univErsity businEss oPErations (statutE 8.1)
The University’s significant business operations are generally managed through semi-autonomous bodies. The entities below are ongoing semi-
autonomous bodies, where control and management are exercised by or under the direction of a board on behalf of Council. They are staffed by 
University employees, and the composition of the University-appointed boards is as set out below. All members of the boards are covered by the 
University’s Directors and Officers Policy.

Entity Principal objectives Members of university 
staff or Council serving 
as board members

other university 
appointees 
serving as board 
members

level of 
financial 
risk 

level of 
reputational 
risk 

Asialink (Regulation 
8.1.R5)

To work with business, government, 
philanthropic and cultural partners to 
initiate and strengthen Australia–Asia 
engagement.

Professor Glyn Davis

Ms Jenny McGregor

Professor Abdullah Saeed

N/A Low Low

International House 
(Regulation 8.1.R2)

To be a place of residence, education 
and corporate life for students and for 
the purpose of encouraging international 
understanding and friendship among 
students.

Professor Susan Elliott

Associate Professor  
Jane Munro

Professor Robert Saint

Professor Frank 
Larkins

Ms Judy 
McKenzie

Mr Robin Reid

Low Low

Melbourne 
Theatre Company 
(Regulation 8.1.R1)

To develop new Australian writing by the 
presentation of first-rate productions of 
new work, as well as by a program of 
commissions, workshops and dramaturgy.

To promote the development of an 
Australian repertoire.

To present first-class and original 
productions of classic works from the past.

To operate on a commercial basis and as a 
professional theatre company.

Professor Glyn Davis

Mr Ian Marshman

Mr Martyn Myer

Mr Simon Phillips

Ms Ann Tonks 

Professor Colin Masters

Ms Lesley 
Cattermole 

Mr John Feder 

Ms Gillian Franklin

Mr Jeremy 
Kirkwood

Mr Derek Young

Low Low

Melbourne 
University 
Bookshops 
(Regulation 8.1.R6)

To work closely with departments to 
supply students with teaching and text 
materials to meet course and research 
requirements at affordable prices.

To maintain a high-quality campus 
bookstore website and provide new 
services electronically as they evolve.

To operate on a commercial basis and 
return a surplus to the University.

Mr James Bolton

Mr Graeme Connelly

Professor Stuart 
Macintyre

Professor Peter Scales

Mr Peter 
Donoughue

Mr Greg Lewis

Medium Medium

Melbourne 
University Sport 
(Regulation 8.1.R7)

To promote the benefits of healthy exercise.

To provide a wide range of sporting 
opportunities for all staff and students, 
including competition at the highest level.

To provide professional management of 
sport and recreation at the University.

To develop and maintain sporting and 
recreational facilities consistent with the 
University’s aspiration of being one of the 
finest universities in the world.

To be recognised as a leading provider of 
sport and recreation, and health and fitness 
opportunities.

To enable sporting clubs to maintain and 
develop their historical contribution to 
University life.

To provide opportunity for engagement 
with alumni and the wider community.

Professor Margaret 
Abernethy

Professor John Dewar

Professor Mark 
Hargreaves

Mr Timothy Lee

Mr Mitchell 
Anderson

Mr Geoff Rees

Mr James 
Sutherland

Dr Lynne Williams

Low Low

Entity Principal objectives Members of university 
staff or Council serving 
as directors or officers*

other university 
appointees 
serving as 
directors or 
officers*

level of 
financial 
risk

level of 
reputational 
risk

UoM Commercial 
Ltd (formerly UMEE 
Limited)

and its 
subsidiary, UM 
Commercialisation 
Pty Ltd

To commercialise educational services Professor Glyn Davis

Mr Ian Marshman

Professor James 
McCluskey

Mr Allan Tait

 
Mr Ian Marshman

Mr Allan Tait

N/A Low Low

Victorian Institute 
for Chemical 
Sciences Limited 
(deregistered in 
November 2011)

To advance chemical sciences in Victoria Mr James Bolton N/A N/A N/A

* University of Melbourne appointments to boards of controlled entities covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy
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sECtion C – signiFiCant involvEMEnts with ExtErnal CorPorations

Entity Principal objectives Members of university 
staff or Council serving 
as board members*

other university 
appointees 
serving as board 
members*

level of 
financial 
risk 

level of 
reputational 
risk 

Australian 
Synchrotron 
Company Ltd

Professor Keith Nugent N/A High High

Bio21 Australia Ltd To develop and enhance the reputation 
of Victoria as a leading academic centre 
for the advancement of knowledge in 
fundamental areas of biology, medicine, 
science and technology.

In cooperation with other universities, 
other educational and scientific institutions 
and other persons to conduct world-class 
training, financially viable biotechnology 
research and to facilitate the development 
and commercialisation of the results of  
that research.

Professor Ian Gust

Professor Douglas Hilton

Professor James 
McCluskey 

Professor Malcolm 
McConville

Professor Jeffrey Zajac

N/A Low Low

NeuroSciences 
Victoria Ltd

To organise and focus neuroscience 
research so that the social and 
economic potential offered by Australian 
neuroscience is realised.

To promote and mediate large-scale 
collaborative research programs that will 
result in discoveries and technologies 
for the management of neurological and 
psychiatric disorders.

Professor John Furness

Professor Graeme 
Jackson 

Professor Trevor Kilpatrick

Professor Colin Masters

Professor Chris Rowe

N/A Low Low

UIIT Pty Ltd To provide seed funding to further  
develop promising research outcomes

To assist with the commercialisation  
of such research outcomes.

Mr Ian Marshman

(Mr Allan Tait, alternate)

N/A Low Low

UniSeed 
Management  
Pty Ltd

To provide management services to  
UIIT Pty Ltd.

Mr Ian Marshman

(Mr Allan Tait, alternate)

N/A Low Low

Universitas 21 
Equity Ltd

To hold part of the issued share capital  
of Universitas 21 Global.

Mr Ian Marshman N/A Low Low

Universitas 21 
Global Pte Ltd (Joint 
venture between 
Universitas 
Equity and MULI 
(Mampal))

To be an online graduate school that 
provides leading-edge access to 
educational programs designed to  
meet the needs of individuals and 
corporations in the information economy  
of the 21st century.

To build academic programs that 
incorporate the traditions and strengths 
of its founders and add the value of the 
internet as a powerful educational medium.

Mr Ian Marshman N/A Low Low

Universitas 21 LBG To provide a pre-eminent brand for 
educational services supported by a  
strong quality assurance framework.

To allow member universities to pursue 
significant global initiatives that would be 
beyond their individual capabilities.

Professor Glyn Davis N/A Low Low

* Appointments made by the University to boards of other corporations covered by the University’s Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy

Entity Principal objectives Members of university 
staff or Council serving 
as board members

other university 
appointees 
serving as board 
members

level of 
financial 
risk 

level of 
reputational 
risk 

The Ian Potter 
Museum of Art 
(Regulation 8.1.R4)

To promote and display art works  
including the University’s collection.

Professor Jaynie 
Anderson

Professor Warren 
Bebbington

Dr Chris McAuliffe  
(to August 2011)

Dr Christopher Marshall

Mr Christopher Menz 
(from August 2011)

Ms Eda Ritchie

Professor Antonio Sagona

Mr Allan Tait

Ms Sandra 
Beanham 

Ms Julie-Ann Cox

Mr Nick Edwards

Mr Wayne Kent

Mr John Wardle

Low Low

The Medley Hall 
of Residence 
(Regulation 8.1.R3)

To be a place of residence, education and 
corporate life for students and for the 
purpose of encouraging understanding  
and friendship among students.

Ms Philippa Connelly

Ms Jennifer Fraser 

Professor Philip Goad

Professor Lesleyanne 
Hawthorne

Ms Lin Martin 

Professor Joan 
McMeeken 

Mr David Percival Low Low

The University 
of Melbourne 
Veterinary Hospital 
(Regulation 8.1.R8)

To enable students in the courses for the 
degrees and diplomas of the Faculty to 
receive clinical instruction and training and 
to conduct research under the supervision 
of the school, to promote and encourage 
research in a hospital environment into 
diseases and disabilities affecting animals 
and to provide the facilities for such 
research, and to provide veterinary services 
of a medical, surgical and pathological 
consultative nature to the community  
on a commercial basis. 

Professor Glenn Bowes

Ms Diana Harrison

Professor Ken Hinchcliff

Professor Eleanor Mackie

Professor Bruce Parry

Mr Allan Tait 

Professor Ted Whittem

Dr Elizabeth 
Campbell

Dr Charles Foster

Ms Alison Spencer

Low Low
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7. Whistleblowers 
Protection Act 2001
The University of Melbourne is committed to 
ensuring full compliance with the aims and 
objectives of the Whistleblowers Protection 
Act 2001. It tolerates neither improper conduct 
by University staff or Council members, nor 
the taking of reprisals against those who come 
forward to disclose such conduct.

The University recognises the value of 
transparency and accountability in its 
administrative and management practices 
and supports the making of disclosures that 
reveal corrupt conduct, conduct involving 
a substantial mismanagement of public 
resources, or conduct involving a substantial 
risk to public health and safety or the 
environment.

The University will take all reasonable steps 
to protect people who make such disclosures 
from any detrimental action in reprisal for 
making the disclosure. It will also afford natural 
justice to any person who is the subject of the 
disclosure.

The University’s procedures for reporting 
disclosures of improper conduct or detrimental 
action by the University, its staff, or members 
of Council can be viewed at www.hr.unimelb.
edu.au/advicesupport/whistleblowers.

Procedures enable disclosures to be made to 
the Protected Disclosure Coordinator or to one 
of the nominated protected disclosure officers 
listed on the website. Disclosures may be 
made by students, staff or members of the 
public.

aCtivity in 2011
 ■ The number and types of disclosures made 

to the public body during the year:

 One complaint was received by the 
University and was deemed not to be a 
protected disclosure with respect to the 
University of Melbourne. 

 ■ The number of disclosures referred 
during the year by the public body to 
the Ombudsman for determination 
as to whether they are public interest 
disclosures:

 Nil

 ■ The number and types of disclosed matters 
referred to the public body during the year 
by the Ombudsman:

 Nil

 ■ The number and types of disclosed matters 
referred during the year by the public body 
to the Ombudsman to investigate:

 Nil

 ■ The number and types of investigations 
of disclosed matters taken over by the 
Ombudsman from the public body during 
the year:

 Nil

 ■ The number of requests made under 
Section 74 during the year to the 
Ombudsman to investigate disclosed 
matters:

 Nil

 ■ The number and types of disclosed matters 
the public body has declined to investigate 
during the year:

 The University of Melbourne declined to 
investigate one disclosure which, after 
initial consideration, was found not to relate 
to the University.

 ■ The number and types of disclosed matters 
that were substantiated on investigation 
and the action taken on completion of the 
investigation:

 Nil

 ■ The number of recommendations of the 
Ombudsman under this Act that related to 
the public body:

 Nil

8. Grievance 
procedures
The University of Melbourne’s student 
complaints and grievances procedures 
have been in operation since 2003. In 2011, 
several new initiatives were implemented 
for the management of student complaints 
and grievances, including the creation of a 
policy and grievance coordinator position, 
the development of a single online system 
for the submission of student complaints 
University-wide, the nomination of over 30 
complaint coordinators across the University, 
the engagement of student advocates in the 
design and operation of the online system, the 
development of new staff training programs, 
the implementation of revised policies on 
student complaints and grievances, and the 
systematic recording, analysis and reporting 
of complaints data via the online system. The 
current student grievance procedures are on 
the Provost Division website at www.provost.
unimelb.edu.au/feedback. 

The grievance procedures in the University 
of Melbourne 2010 Enterprise Bargaining 
Agreement apply to all staff grievances, 
except for specific procedures, such as those 
for handling grievances relating to sexual 
harassment or unlawful discrimination. Staff 
members aggrieved by decisions made by 
the University with regard to promotion, 

reclassification of professional staff positions 
and disciplinary penalties for misconduct and 
unsatisfactory performance may also lodge a 
grievance. Specific review committees exist 
to handle each of these issues. Current staff 
grievance procedures are published on the 
University’s website at www.hr.unimelb.edu.
au/advicesupport/grievance.

9. Freedom of 
Information
The University is bound by the provisions of 
the Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic). For 
the purpose of this Act, the Vice-Chancellor 
of the University is the formally designated 
Principal Officer and the Senior Vice-Principal 
is the formally designated Freedom of 
Information Manager.

All formal requests for access to documents 
of the University, under the provisions of the 
Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic), are 
made in writing to:

The Senior Vice-Principal 
The University of Melbourne Vic 3010

Enquiries on any aspect of the Freedom of 
Information legislation, or for assistance that 
may be required to identify documents of 
the University available under Freedom of 
Information, should be directed to:

The University Secretary 
The University of Melbourne Vic 3010

Where access is granted to inspect, obtain or 
purchase material, arrangements will be made 
during normal office hours, Monday to Friday, 
8.45am to 5.00pm.

A request for access to a document of the 
University should include sufficient information 
about that document to enable it to be 
identified. Assistance will be provided by an 
officer of the University in cases where details 
supplied about a document are not sufficiently 
clear to identify that document.

Charges for access to documents of the 
University under the provisions of the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982 are in accordance with 
the standard provisions of the Freedom of  
Information (Access Charges) Regulations 2004.

a. aCtivity rEPort
In the period from 1 July 2010 to 30 June 
2011, 11 new requests for documents were 
received. There were two requests for 
personal documents and nine requests for 
non-personal documents. Access in full was 
given to three requests, partial access to one 
request, one request was denied, in one case 
there were no documents found, one case was 
determined to be outside the provisions of the 
Act, and four cases were still in progress as at 
30 June 2011.

sECtion d – CoMMErCial aCtivitiEs  
oF univErsity-ControllEd EntitiEs 
Commercial activities of the University’s 
controlled entities are encompassed in the 
details of the University’s controlled entities 
and subsidiaries of those controlled entities, 
outlined in Section A. Significant interests in 
external corporations are included in Section C.  
The University’s Finance Committee has 
oversight of the University’s controlled 
entities and receives regular operational and 
financial reports.

The boards of University-controlled entities 
monitor compliance with University 
Commercial Guidelines to the extent relevant 
to each entity, and report to the University for 
inclusion in this section of the Register details 
of subsidiaries (also appearing in Section A), 
commercial activities (where ‘significant’ 
or otherwise considered by the board to be 
sufficiently important or of sufficient interest 
to list on the Register) and ‘significant’ 
involvements with external corporations.

3. Conformity with the 
Building Act 1993
MaJor ProJECts (nEw and Existing 
building works)
The following mechanisms are in place 
to ensure that new buildings and works 
on existing buildings conform to building 
standards:

 ■ Property and Campus Services closely 
examines each major project prior to the 
selection of a project team.

 ■ The selected design consultants for 
each project are University-registered or 
Department of Infrastructure-registered 
consultants and are required to ensure 
compliance with University design 
requirements and statutory planning 
requirements.

 ■ All design and management of project 
works are undertaken in accordance with 
the University of Melbourne’s Project 
Management Procedures Manual and 
Design Standards. The manual has been 
developed to advise consultants of the 
management procedures and design 
standards required by the University 
and includes procedures covering 
environmental and occupational health  
and safety matters.

 ■ The University has promulgated procedures 
similar to those required by the private 
sector for the issuing of building permits.

 ■ All projects are monitored by University 
project managers and appointed 

consultants to ensure that projects comply 
with current building regulations and 
statutory requirements.

 ■ Where required by the Building Code of 
Australia, an external building surveyor is 
appointed for each project to provide advice 
regarding building permits, certification of 
final inspection, and occupancy permits.

 ■ The University ensures that an asbestos 
audit is carried out for each project prior to 
the commencement of construction work.

 ■ The Project Management Procedures 
Manual is used by University project 
managers to ensure that University policy 
and procedures are followed in relation to 
works.

 ■ In 2011, work was undertaken on 64 
projects, each with a value of more than 
$50 000, that had been issued with 
building permits. Of those, 40 projects 
were completed throughout 2011 and 
certificates of final inspection issued. 
The remaining 24 projects are still under 
construction, due for completion in 2012.

In addition, work was completed on 48 
projects that were not subject to certification 
of plans or building surveyor involvement 
during construction.

These included:

 ■ Infrastructure upgrades (4)

 ■ Equipment upgrades (3)

 ■ Minor works (41).

None of these projects comes within the 
jurisdiction of the Building Act 1993 or required 
structural change necessitating building 
surveyor inspections.

4. national competition 
policy and competitive 
neutrality requirements 
The University of Melbourne has established 
policies and procedures to ensure adherence 
to its obligations under the Competition 
and Consumer Act 2010, and to practise 
competitive neutrality in relation to relevant 
significant business activities. 

Detailed information and guidelines are 
published on the websites of the University’s 
Melbourne Research Office, Financial 
Operations department, and the Compliance 
Management Program. Advice on the law of 
trade practices and competitive neutrality is 
provided on each of these websites.

5. Compliance with the 
Education Services for 
Overseas Student Act 
2000 (ESOS Act) 
The University of Melbourne has achieved 
overall compliance with the Education Services 
for Overseas Students Act 2000 (Cth). The 
five-year independent external audit report 
– as required by the National Code 2007 
– was submitted to and acknowledged by 
the Victorian Registration and Qualification 
Authority. The previously reported exceptions 
to compliance with Section 19 of the ESOS 
Act and Standards 9, 12 and 13 of the National 
Code (resulting from the introduction of a 
new student database) have been addressed, 
and the University continues to improve its 
systems of monitoring and reporting of student 
enrolment variations.

6. Statutes and 
Regulations
The University of Melbourne administers 
Statutes and Regulations of the University 
and Standing Resolutions of the Council 
in accordance with the provisions of the 
University of Melbourne Act 2009. The 
Statutes, Regulations and Council Resolutions 
are recorded in three volumes of University 
publications, which may be inspected in the 
Baillieu Library, or may be viewed online at 
www.unimelb.edu.au/Statutes.

The following Statutes were enacted, repealed 
amended during 2011:

statute title action

Statute 1.3 Meetings Amended
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Report on financial 
performance
Global and domestic financial and operating 
environments continued to impact the 
University in 2011 and became increasingly 
challenging during the year, applying greater 
pressure on both revenues and costs. The 
potential of a second global financial crisis 
loomed large. In these circumstances, the 
University focused on prudent, responsible and 
sustainable financial management, coupled 
with long-term financing and investment 
strategies.

While the University has a reasonably robust 
financial base from which to face challenges, 
further strengthening is necessary to ensure 
that the resources required to meet core 
operational requirements and satisfy external 
obligations remain available, and to allow for 
continued investment in strategic priorities 
to capitalise on the opportunities that such 
an environment presents. Historically the 
University’s revenues have generally been 
insensitive to economic cycles and the value 
of the Australian dollar, however due to the 
unprecedented and sustained nature of 
prevailing economic conditions the impact 
cannot be predicted with any certainty. 
Further, globalisation – exacerbated by the 
rise of emerging markets internationally – has 
greatly increased the competitive nature of 
the higher education sector. These are critical 
factors, particularly for fee revenue from 
international students which totalled $311.0 
million for the consolidated entity in 2011, 
representing 17.3 per cent of revenue.

The University’s 2011 result builds on the 
approach adopted for 2009 and 2010, 
eventuating in a move to underlying operating 
profitability such that there is no reliance 
on discretionary investment income and 
infrastructure grants to support core operating 
performance. Increased efforts were made to 
optimise revenue from existing sources and to 
consider strategic management of costs.  
As a result, the University recorded an 
underlying operating surplus of $2.7 million 
in 2011. In addition, the University retained 
its AA+ credit rating and met its external 
borrowing covenants.  

Significantly, the outlook for 2012–14 is for 
continually improving underlying operating 
surpluses, the introduction of performance-
based incentive funding to support the 
achievement of the strategic goals set out 
in the University Plan 2011–14 and clear 
identification of activities at risk in order that 
remedial action plans can be implemented.  

The consolidated University of Melbourne 
group includes the University itself – 
encompassing core teaching, research, 
engagement and administrative activities – and 
seven active subsidiaries. The consolidated 
University group recorded an accounting 
operating surplus, after tax and impairment 
of available-for-sale financial assets, of $88.9 
million for the year ended 31 December 2011, 
compared to $57.6 million in 2010. The 2011 
result provides a margin of 4.9 per cent (7.6 
per cent before impairment of available-for-sale 
financial assets), compared to 3.4 per cent (and 
5.4 per cent) in 2010. The improvement in the 
2011 result compared to the prior year was 
mainly due to a combination of:

 ■ Increased teaching and learning income;

 ■ Additional infrastructure grants from 
Federal and State governments; and

 ■ Improved investment income net of 
increased impairment of available-for-
sale financial assets, offset by increased 
employee costs.

The University itself, which also includes semi-
autonomous bodies, recorded an accounting 
operating surplus of $82.1 million after 
impairment of available-for-sale financial assets 
(compared to $53.6 million in 2010).

Auditor-General’s 
qualification
The Victorian Auditor-General has again 
qualified the University’s financial report on 
the grounds that unspent grants provided by 
the Federal and State governments received in 
advance as at 31 December 2011 have been 
treated as income in advance and recognised 
as a liability in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The University’s treatment of these 
payments is in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standard AASB 118 Revenue. 
The University regards the receipt of these 
payments as a reciprocal transfer where the 
grants have outstanding performance or 
return conditions. Under these conditions the 
payment received in advance is not recognised 
until the University meets its obligations in the 
relevant year. The Auditor-General has again 
taken the view that these payments should be 
treated as income in the year of receipt and 
for that reason has qualified the University’s 
financial report. The University does not agree 
with the interpretation of the nature of the 
income. The University has external advice 
which confirms the University’s interpretation 
of the standards.

b. CatEgoriEs oF doCuMEnts

Major information series

1. University Council Minutes 1853–

2. Academic Board (formerly Professorial 
Board) Minutes 1853–

3. Central Administration Correspondence

4. Staff Correspondence Files

5. Faculty Records

6. Academic Department Records

7. Computer Records and Systems

documents containing university 
legislation, policies, procedures and 
guidelines

Documents listed within this section cover 
University publications that include details 
of legislation, policies, operating procedures 
and/or guidelines that may have an effect 
or impact on members of the public in their 
dealings with the University. All documents 
listed may be inspected on application to the 
University Secretary, where not otherwise 
available within the University or other 
public venues. University policies, and many 
related procedures, are being migrated to 
the University’s policy library at www.policy.
unimelb.edu.au.

(1) University Act, Statutes and Regulations 
The University Act, Statutes and Regulations, 
including regulations regarding courses, 
scholarships and endowments, are detailed in 
the University Calendar and online, at www.
unimelb.edu.au/unisec/calendar.

(2) Standing Resolutions of Council 
Standing Resolutions of Council cover the 
operations, standing orders and governance 
of Council, and codify the terms of reference, 
membership and functions of committees of 
Council. They are available online at www.
unimelb.edu.au/unisec/Srvol1.

(3) University Calendar 
The University Calendar, a register of academic 
staff and list of key University activities, is 
available online at www.unimelb.edu.au/
unisec/calendar.

(4) Other Manuals and Rules of Procedure 
Rules and practices affecting members of the 
public in their dealings with the University are 
found in the following locations:

 ■ Melbourne Policy Library 
www.policy.unimelb.edu.au 

 ■ Environmental Health and Safety Manual 
http://policy.unimelb.edu.au/category/
Occupational+Health+and+Safety

 ■ Freedom of Information 
www.unimelb.edu.au/unisec/foi.html

 ■ Whistleblowers Protection Policy 
www.hr.unimelb.edu.au/advicesupport/
whistleblowers

Publicity services and report literature
The University produces a large number of 
publications, a list of which is available online at 
www.unimelb.edu.au/publications.

10. Statement 
concerning compulsory 
non-academic fees, 
subscriptions and 
charges
In accordance with the Higher Education 
Support Amendment Act 2005, the University 
did not charge a compulsory amenities and 
services fee to students in 2011. Following 
the Federal Government’s amendment of the 
Act through the Higher Education Legislation 
Amendment (Student Services and Amenities) 
Act 2010, the University will introduce an 
amenities and services fee in 2012.

11. Further information
The University has the following information 
available on request:

 ■ Declarations of pecuniary interests

 ■ Details of shares held beneficially by 
senior officers as nominees of a statutory 
authority or subsidiary

 ■ Details of publications produced

 ■ Details of major promotional, public 
relations and marketing activities

 ■ Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, 
rates and levies charged

 ■ Details of major external reviews

 ■ Occupational health and safety 
assessments and measures

 ■ List of major committees.

Enquiries should be addressed to:

University Secretary 
The University of Melbourne Vic 3010
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Five year financial summary
The University of Melbourne and its subsidiaries

2011 2010 2009 ** 2008 2007

sources of income ($'000)
Australian Government Recurrent Financial Assistance* 403,608 377,552 362,013 343,266 318,019
Other Australian Government Financial Assistance 361,316 319,521 261,913 333,299 231,420
HECS-HELP:

– HECS-HELP Australian Government Payments 100,659 94,673 90,911 85,808 79,626
– HECS-HELP Student Payments 34,498 35,628 32,487 30,750 27,519

FEE-HELP 46,148 40,080 46,028 33,857 30,107
State Government Financial Assistance 44,429 57,505 42,114 50,185 30,425
Fees and Charges and Other Income 598,338 556,726 504,456 477,112 429,159
Investment Income 131,088 108,939 151,128 252,776 114,025
Grants, Donations and Bequests 80,269 109,854 79,162 67,677 64,959
Total Income 1,800,353 1,700,478 1,570,212 1,530,601 1,511,963

Expenditures ($'000)
Employee Related Expenses 887,438 818,151 795,951 765,662 712,625
Depreciation and Amortisation 104,841 135,687 99,709 87,067 82,135
Repairs and Maintenance 62,983 66,700 57,019 51,190 61,240
Scholarships and Prizes 65,313 63,314 60,099 59,643 52,922
Other Expenses 542,882 525,041 486,124 561,767 444,931
Total Expenditure (Excl Income Tax & Impairment  
of Available-for-Sale Financial Assets)

1,663,457 1,608,893 1,498,902 1,525,329 1,353,853

key ratios ($'000)
Australian Government Recurrent Grants including  payments  
from HECS-HELP and HECS-HELP Student Payments

538,765 507,853 485,411 459,824 425,164

Other University Income 1,261,588 1,192,625 1,084,801 1,070,777 1,086,799
Total University Income 1,800,353 1,700,478 1,570,212 1,530,601 1,511,963

Australian Government Recurrent Grants as a % of  
Total University Income

22 22 23 21 23

Australian Government Recurrent Grants and HECS-HELP  
as a % of Total University Income

30 30 31 30 28

Number of Students (EFTSL) 36,856 36,619 35,886 34,667 34,667
Average Australian Government Recurrent Grants  
(Including HECS-HELP) per Student $

14,618 13,869 13,526 12,264 12,264

DEEWR Funded Student Load 23,104 22,887 22,336 21,735 21,369
Average Australian Government Recurrent Grants*  
per DEEWR funded position   $

17,469 16,496 16,208 15,793 14,882

* Includes funding for the Commonwealth Grants Scheme, Joint Research Engagement Program, Research Training Scheme, Research Infrastructure Block Grants and 
Sustainable Research Excellence in Universities.

** In the 2010 accounts, the University made the following adjustments to balances previously reported in the 2009 financial report:

– A revaluation of the University’s general library collection showed a significant decline in value, and also resulted in an adjustment to the depreciation rates applied 
to the collection. This resulted in a $138.336 million reduction in Non-Current Assets and Retained Surplus at 31 December 2008. Additional depreciation and 
amortisation of $2.677 million and disposals of $1.689 million were also recognised in 2009.

– A change in the treatment of third party contributions towards construction of a University building which will create an obligation for the University to provide rent 
relief upon completion. Contributions previously reported as income in 2009 of $17.956 million were transferred to Construction in Progress.

– A change in the buildings depreciation policy was retrospectively applied which resulted in a $3.464 million increase to depreciation

In the 2011 financial year:

– The depreciation rate for buildings (structure/shell/fabric) was revised effective 1 January 2011. This resulted in a $9.301 million decrease in depreciation expense 
for the Group in 2011. No adjustments were made to prior years.

– Net cash inflows from operating activities increased by $96.4 million over 2010 predominantly as a result of rental income in advance relating to the Melbourne 
Brain Centre.
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Five year financial summary
The University of Melbourne and its subsidiaries

2011

$’000

2010

$’000

2009*

$’000

2008*

$’000

2007

$’000

income and Expense
Income 1,800,353 1,700,478 1,570,212 1,530,601 1,511,963
Expenses (excluding Impairment of Available-for-Sale Financial Assets) 1,663,457 1,608,893 1,498,902 1,525,329 1,353,853
Surplus/(Deficit) Before Income Tax 136,896 91,585 71,310 5,272 158,110
Income Tax (Expense) / Benefit - (89) (27) (25) (430)
Surplus/(Deficit) after Income Tax but before  
Impairment of Available-For-Sale Financial Assets

136,896 91,496 71,283 5,247 157,680

Impairment Expense on Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 48,044 33,892 53,981 250,924  -   
Operating Result for the Year 88,852 57,604 17,302 (245,677) 157,680

statement of Financial Position
Reserves 2,535,764 2,513,993 2,472,337 2,106,952 2,226,328
Retained Surplus/(Deficit) 1,126,194 1,062,431 1,040,652 1,035,833 1,434,146
Total Equity 3,661,958 3,576,424 3,512,989 3,142,785 3,660,474

Current Liabilities 577,852 529,527 458,481 427,453 324,549
Non-Current Liabilities 430,980 334,619 333,062 357,380 283,105
Equity and Liabilities 4,670,790 4,440,570 4,304,532 3,927,618 4,268,128

Current Assets 336,241 255,385 229,130 286,786 288,830
Non-Current Assets 4,334,549 4,185,185 4,075,402 3,640,832 3,979,298
Total Assets 4,670,790 4,440,570 4,304,532 3,927,618 4,268,128

Cash Flows
Cash Flows from Operating Activities including Government Funding:

– Inflows 1,759,332 1,654,868 1,556,408 1,570,667 1,370,148
– Outflows 1,533,573 1,436,033 1,438,297 1,331,211 1,214,100

Net Cash Inflow from Operating Activities 225,759 218,835 118,111 239,456 156,048

* In the 2010 financial statements, the University made the following adjustments to balances previously reported in the 2009 financial report:

– A revaluation of the University’s general library collection showed a significant decline in value, and also resulted in an adjustment to the depreciation rates applied 
to the collection. This resulted in a $138.336 million reduction in Non-Current Assets and Retained Surplus at 31 December 2008. Additional depreciation and 
amortisation of $2.677 million and disposals of $1.689 million were also recognised in 2009.

– A change in the treatment of third party contributions towards construction of a University building which will create an obligation for the University to provide rent 
relief upon completion. Contributions previously reported as income in 2009 of $17.956 million were transferred to Construction in Progress.

– A change in the buildings depreciation policy was retrospectively applied which resulted in a $3.464 million increase to depreciation.

In the 2011 financial year:

– The depreciation rate for buildings (structure/shell/fabric) was revised effective 1 January 2011. This resulted in a $9.301 million decrease in depreciation expense 
for the Group in 2011. No adjustments were made to prior years.

– Net cash inflows from operating activities increased by $96.4 million over 2010 predominantly as a result of rental income in advance relating to the Melbourne 
Brain Centre.
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Expenditure from continuing operations

Consolidated operating expenditure (excluding 
income tax and impairment of available-for-
sale financial assets) for 2011 amounted to 
$1663.5 million, which was $54.6 million or 3.4 
per cent higher than in 2010, compared to an 
increase in 2010 of 7.3 per cent. This reflects 
the University’s commitment to living within its 
means in a sustainable manner. 

sourCE oF ExPEnditurE 2011

= Employee Related Expenses 
= Depreciation and Amortisation 
= Repairs and Maintenance  
= Scholarships and Prizes 
= Other Expenses

2011
53.3%32.7%

6.3%
3.8%

3.9%

A detailed breakdown of expenditure 
is available in the notes to the financial 
statements.

Property, plant and equipment

The consolidated University group holds 
property, plant and equipment valued at 
$3094.0 million as at 31 December 2011 
(2010, $2865.8 million). Of this, 88.6 per 
cent is represented by land and buildings and 
6.2 per cent by library, artworks and other 
collections.

The University revalued its land during 2011 
as a result of an independent valuation carried 
out as at 31 December 2011 by Cunningham 
Property Consultants Pty Ltd. The revaluation 
increased land by $88.6 million. 

The University funds capital expenditure 
through a combination of its annual and 
retained surpluses, Commonwealth and 
State government grants for capital purposes 
(infrastructure grants), external third party 
contributions and borrowings. During the 
year the consolidated University spent 
$214.1 million on land and buildings (including 
construction in progress), $24.7 million on 
plant and equipment (including leased plant 
and equipment) and $16.9 million on the library 
collection (including electronic items). 

investment portfolio

The University’s investment portfolio 
comprises a combination of long term and 
short term managed funds. The balance as 
at 31 December 2011 was $1077.2 million, a 
decrease of $121.6 million over 31 December 
2010. Included within these managed funds 
are trust funds related to endowments and 
bequests, which are held, for example, to 
provide scholarships and to support other 
specific teaching, learning, research and 
engagement related purposes. These 
funds generally are not available to fund the 
University’s operations. Total funds related to 
such trusts amounted to $399.1 million of the 
total portfolio as at 31 December 2011.

subsidiaries

As noted, the University has seven active 
subsidiaries, the activities of which are 
included in the consolidated University 
group. These are statutory entities which 
are incorporated under the Corporations 
Act. Additional financial information for each 
subsidiary is contained in Note 37 of the 
financial statements. The operating results 
after tax of the University’s subsidiaries for the 
year are as follows:

subsidary surplus/
(deficit) 

$'000

Australian Music Examinations 
Board (Vic) Limited

106

Australian National Academy  
of Music Ltd Group

(2)

Melbourne Business School 
Limited Group

5,452

Melbourne University Publishing 
Limited

(2,136)

MU Student Union Limited 294

Nossal Institute Limited 
(formerly Australian International 
Health Institute (The University 
of Melbourne) Ltd)

5

UOM Commercial Ltd Group 
(formerly UMEE Limited Group)

(1,031)

Victorian Institute for Chemical 
Sciences Limited (deregistered 
on 9 November 2011)

(75)

total – university subsidiaries 2,613

 

semi-autonomous bodies

As noted, the University’s operations 
encompass the activities of its semi-
autonomous bodies. These are activities 
managed as semi-autonomous business 
operations. The aggregate deficit for semi-
autonomous bodies for the year of $0.4 million 
is represented by:

semi-autonomous body surplus/
(deficit) 

$’000 

Children's Services 94

Halls of Residence: 

– International House 173

– Kendall Hall 109

– Medley Hall (1,035)

Melbourne Theatre Company 267

Melbourne University Bookshop 225

Melbourne University Sport (208)

The Ian Potter Museum of Art 51

Veterinary Hospital (101)

subtotal university (425)

Significant changes  
in state of affairs
The following significant changes to the state 
of affairs of the consolidated University group 
occurred in the year ended 31 December 2011 
and the prior year.

uoM Commercial ltd group (formerly 
uMEE ltd group)

During the 2010 year the operations of 
UoM Commercial Ltd’s then wholly owned 
subsidiary, Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd, were 
transferred to UoM Commercial Ltd, pursuant 
to an internal restructure. As a consequence, 
Melbourne Ventures Pty Ltd was wound up in 
2011.

MUP Services Pty Ltd was liquidated on 5 
August 2010.

victorian institute for Chemical sciences 
ltd (viCs)

VICS was deregistered on 9 November 2011.

There were no other significant changes in 
the state of affairs of the University and its 
subsidiaries.

Events occurring after 
reporting date
There are no matters or circumstances that 
have arisen since the end of the financial year 
that have affected or may subsequently affect 
the financial position of the University or its 
subsidiaries.
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income from continuing operations

Consolidated income from continuing 
operations at $1800.3 million has increased 
by $99.8 million or 5.9 per cent on 2010 with 
the most significant improvement being in 
Australian Government grants ($67.9 million). 
This was due to increases across a majority of 
programs. Course fees and charges increased 
by $17.5 million (4.6 per cent), investment 
income by $22.1 million (20.3 per cent), and 
contract research by $29.1 million. These 
improvements were partly offset by a $15.8 
million reduction in donations and bequests, 
and a $13.8 million decline in non-government 
grants.  

= Australian Government Recurrent Financial Assistance*
= Other Australian Government Financial Assistance  
= HECS-HELP (Govt and Student Payments)  
= FEE-HELP 
= State Government Financial Assistance  
= Fees and Charges and Other  Income
= Investment Income 
= Grants, Donations and Bequests  

2011
32.6%

4.5%

22.4%

20.1%

7.5%

2.
5%

2.
6%

7.3%

Commonwealth Government recurrent 
financial assistance has over time decreased 
as a proportion of the University’s total 
income, falling from 37.6 per cent in 1997 to 
22.4 per cent in 2011. As the rate at which 
the Commonwealth indexes its grants to 
universities does not reflect the full cost of 
CPI increases affecting the university sector, 
there is annually a gradual decline in the 
relative value of the level of Commonwealth 
contribution to the University. Government 
contribution excluding competitive research 
and research higher degree funding 
represented 29.3 per cent of the Consolidated 
Group’s total income in 2011.

In 2011 total consolidated student fee revenue 
(including FEE-HELP) was $444.7 million, an 
increase of $23.6 million or 5.6 per cent from 
2010. International student fee revenue increased 
to $311.0 million, a rise of 5.1 per cent.

At the University level, the relationship of 
Australian Government assistance to fee 
revenue, and government subsidised students 
to fee based students since 1996, is as follows:

australian govErnMEnt FinanCial assistanCE and FEE inCoME

govErnMEnt subsidisEd and FEE-basEd studEnts

sourCE oF inCoME 2011

Financials_8786_Financials

Source: Course Experience Survey , % of student satisfied with course quality. Including CGS & HECS-HELP only.
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no. Clause disclosure volume Page(s)

24 110 Cash Flow Statements 2 6

25 112A    Defined benefit superannuation obligations 2 13, 52

26 113 Investments in Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Associates and Entities 2 7–8, 25, 43–46

27 114 Financial Investments 2 9–10, 24–25

dEPartMEnt oF EduCation, EMPloyMEnt and workPlaCE rElations (dEEwr)

28 FRD 22B Analysis of the achievement of the entity’s operational and budget objectives for the financial 
year; should include comparative analysis of indicators such as enrolments, graduations, student 
performance and satisfaction, staff profile, research performance and performance position.

1 1–82

Particularly 8, 
23, 33, 35-36, 
59, 68

29 DEEWR Information with respect to the governance and administrative structure of the university, specifically 
council members and occupants of senior officers..  

1 10–15, 63–68

30 DEEWR Outline of student and staff grievance procedures and number of complaints made to and 
investigated by the Ombudsman.

1 81

31 DEEWR Details of information available on institution’s website, including locations of current and previous 
Annual Reports.

1 82

32 DEEWR Compliance of financial statements with the Financial Statement Guidelines for Australian Higher 
Education Providers for 2007 Reporting Period issued by DEST.

2 7

FinanCial ManagEMEnt aCt 1994 (FMa)

33

34

35

36

37

FMA 1994 49(a)

49 (b)

49 (c)

49 (d)

49 (e)

Financial Statements:

•	 Contain such information as required by the Minister;

•	 Are prepared in a manner and form approved by the Minister;

•	 Present fairly the financial transactions of the department or public body during the relevant 
financial year to which they relate;

•	 Present fairly the financial position of the department or public body as at the end of that year; and

•	 Are certified by the accountable officer in the manner approved by the Minister.

2 7, 161

govErnMEnt rEsPonsE to thE rEviEw oF univErsity govErnanCE (rug)

38 RUG Statement outlining that public funds allocated to the University have been allocated to the purposes 
specified by the Government or other public funding body. Statement is audited by the Auditor-
General.

2 61

39 RUG University Council’s risk management strategy. 1 74–80

40 RUG Summary of financial performance of Associates and Commercial Ventures. 2 43–46

EduCation sErviCEs For ovErsEas studEnts aCt 2000 (Esos)

41 ESOS (National 
Code 2007 – 
Sections C & D)

Statement indicating compliance with ESOS Act 2000 and the National Code of Practice for 
Registration Authorities and Providers of Education and Training to Overseas Students (National Code 
2007).

1 80

EduCation and training rEForM aCt 2006 (Etra)

42 ETRA 2006, s. 
3.2.8

Statement on compulsory non-academic fees, subscriptions and charges payable in the preceding 
financial year. 

1 82

dECision oF PubliC aCCounts and EstiMatEs CoMMittEE oF ParliaMEnt

43 PAEC (December 
1997)

Financial and other information relating to institution’s international operations. 1 31, 44, 47–48, 50

list oF lEgislation in ModEl CoMPlianCE indEx

1. Financial Management Act 1994  
 www.dms.dpc.vic.gov.au/

2. Australian equivalent to the International Financial Reporting Directions  
 www.dtf.vic.gov.au/CA25713E0002EF43/pages/BFM-financial-reporting-policy-financial-reporting-directions

3. Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance issued under the Financial Management Act 1994  
 www.dtf.vic.gov.au/CA25713E0002EF43/pages/bfm-financial-reporting-policy-financial-reporting-directions1

4. Australian Accounting Standards  
 www.aasb.com.au/

5. Australian Accounting Standards Board  
 www.aasb.com.au/

6. Education and Training Reform Act 2006  
 www.dms.dpc.vic.gov.au/

7. Government response to the Review of University Governance  
 www.eduweb.vic.gov.au/edulibrary/public/highered/RUG_GOVT_RESPONSE.pdf

8. Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000  
 www.comlaw.gov.au/

9. Higher Education Support Act 2003  
 www.comlaw.gov.au/

10. Higher Education Funding Act 1988  
 www.comlaw.gov.au/

11. Australian Research Council Act 2001  
 www.comlaw.gov.au/

COMPLiANCE iNdEX

CoMPlianCE indEx to thE disClosurE rEQuirEMEnts 2011
The annual report of The University of Melbourne is prepared in accordance with:

FMa Financial Management Act 1994 
Frd A-IFRS Financial Reporting Directions 
sd Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance issued under the Financial Management Act 1994  
aas Australian Accounting Standards 
aasb Australian Accounting Standards Board 
Etra 2006 Education and Training Reform Act 2006 
PaEC Decision of Public Accounts and Estimates Committee of Parliament 
rug Victorian Government response to the Review of University Governance 
Esos Education Services for Overseas Students Act 2000 
dEEwr Commonwealth Government Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations

no. Clause disclosure volume Page(s)

standing dirECtions For thE MinistEr For FinanCE (sd)

1 SD 4.2(g) Report of Operations contains general information about the entity and its activities, highlights for 
reporting period and future initiatives and is prepared on a basis consistent with financial statements 
pursuant to the Financial Management Act, 1994.

1 1-90

2 SD 4.2(h) Report of Operations is prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Directions. 1 1–90

3 SD 4.2(j) Report of Operations is signed and dated by Chancellor or equivalent and includes date of Council 
Meeting at which Annual Report was approved.

1 1

4 SD 4.2(a) Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with:

•	 Australian Accounting Standards (AAS and AASB standards) and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements;

•	 Financial Reporting Directions; and

•	 Business Rules.

2 7

5 SD 4.2(b) Financial Statements available, including:

•	 Balance Sheet;

•	 Statement of Recognised Income and Expense;

•	 Cash Flows Statement; and

•	 Notes to the financial statements.

2 1–60

6 SD 4.2(c) Signed and dated statement by Accountable Officer stating that financial statements:

•	 Present fairly the financial transactions during reporting period and the financial position at end of 
the period;

•	 Were prepared in accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 (c) and applicable Financial Reporting 
Directions; and

•	 Comply with applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AAS and AASB standards) and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements.

2 61

7 SD 4.2(d) Financial Statements are expressed in the nearest dollar except where the total assets, or revenue, or 
expenses of the institution are greater than:

•	 $10,000,000, the amounts shown in the financial statements may be expressed by reference to 
the nearest $1,000; and

•	 $1,000,000,000, the amounts shown in the financial statements may be expressed by reference 
to the nearest $100,000.

2 18–60

8 SD 4.2(e) The financial statements were reviewed and recommended by the Audit Committee or Responsible 
Body prior to finalisation and submission.

2 61

9 SD 4.5.5 (NEW) Attestation on compliance with the Australian/New Zealand Risk Management Standard. 1 74

a-iFrs FinanCial rEPorting dirECtions (Frd)

10 10 Disclosure Index 1, 2 88–89, 64-65

11 11 Disclosure of Ex-gratia Payments n/a n/a

12 07A Early Adoption of Authoritative Accounting Pronouncements 2 7

13 17A Long Service Leave Wage Inflation and Discount Rates 2 13

14 19 Private Provision of Public Infrastructure n/a n/a

15 21A Responsible Person and Executive Officer Disclosure in the Financial Report 2 37–40

16 22B Standard Disclosures in the Report of Operations 1 1–90

17 25 Victorian Industry Participation Policy in the Report of Operations n/a n/a

18 26A Accounting for VicFleet Motor Vehicle Lease Arrangements on or after 1 February 2004 n/a n/a

19 102 Inventories 2 9, 24

20 104 Foreign currency 2 8

21 106 Impairment of assets 2 10, 12

22 107 Investment properties n/a n/a

23 109 Intangible assets 2 11–12

Compliance index_8988_Compliance index



USEfUL wEBSiTES

the university of Melbourne www.unimelb.edu.au

growing Esteem www.growingesteem.unimelb.edu.au

Faculties and graduate schools www.unimelb.edu.au/az/faculties.html

Future students www.futurestudents.unimelb.edu.au

research at Melbourne www.unimelb.edu.au/research

learning and teaching www.learningandteaching.unimelb.edu.au

global Engagement www.globalengagement.unimelb.edu.au

Melbourne Engagements and Partnerships office www.mepo.unimelb.edu.au

Commercial Engagement services www.commercial.unimelb.edu.au

in touch Portal for alumni and Friends www.alumni.unimelb.edu.au

university Events www.events.unimelb.edu.au

the Melbourne newsroom www.newsroom.melbourne.edu

voice www.voice.unimelb.edu.au

safety and Environmental Policy www.pb.unimelb.edu.au/ehs

university secretary’s department www.unimelb.edu.au/unisec

Melbourne Policy Framework www.policy.unimelb.edu.au

university Publications  
(annual reports and strategic Plans)

www.unimelb.edu.au/publications/index.html

NOTES

90_Useful websites
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See volume two for audited 
financial statements and notes  
to financial statements. 

Cover image:  
The Melbourne Brain Centre, 
officially opened on 17 October 
2011, is the largest neuroscience 
research centre in the southern 
hemisphere. 

Across three sites, it hosts  
700 staff investigating a broad 
range of conditions affecting the 
brain, including multiple sclerosis, 
stroke, Alzheimer’s disease, 
Parkinson’s disease, trauma, 
depression and anxiety, epilepsy 
and motor neuron disease. 

Home to University of Melbourne 
neuroscientists, the Florey 
Neuroscience Institutes, the 
Mental Health Research Institute, 
and partnering with Royal 
Melbourne Hospital and Austin 
Health, the $225 million complex 
is playing a key role in attracting 
leading scientists to Australia 
and retaining talented Australian 
researchers on home turf.

Sculptor Christine O’Loughlin’s Cultural  
Rubble (1993) graces the façade of The Ian 
Potter Museum of Art at the University of 
Melbourne, creating a dynamic juxtaposition 
with other Swanston Street architectural styles.
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